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Chairman’s Statement = EHRE=E

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overall review

In 2008, the Group recorded turnover of HK$260,292,000
(2007: HK$195,088,000) and profit attributable to equity
holders of HK$1,852,000 (2007: profit attributable to equity
holders of HK$77,996,000). The Global Financial Tsunami has
not constituted significant impact on the Group. Instead, the
huge retreat in profit was mainly attributable to the following
one-off events:

- The facade contracting works business had contributed
profit of HK$30,342,000 to the Group in 2007. The
business had been disposed of at the end of 2007.

- A gain on deemed disposal of an associate of
HK$32,920,000 had been recorded in 2007.

- A loss on partial disposal of equity interest in Zhejiang
Sealand Thermoelectric Share-Holding Co. (“Zhejiang
Sealand”) (formerly known as Hangzhou Sealand Electric
Power Company Limited) of HK$7,604,000 was recorded
in 2008.

Electric and steam power supply business

Zhejiang Sealand is a subsidiary of the Group and is principally
engaged in the supply of electric and steam power. In 2008,
Zhejiang Sealand contributed turnover of HK$256,070,000
(2007: HK$192,663,000) and profit of HK$31,974,000 (2007:
HK$27,713,000) to the Group. Sales of steam power increased
by 29% over last year, representing 85% of the turnover,
while that of electric power decreased by 1%. Both the sales
volume of electric and steam power dropped slightly due to
the weakened demand by some customers resulting from
their reduced production as affected by the Global Financial
Tsunami. The average selling price of steam power in 2008 was
raised by 33% so as to cope with the significant upsurge in
coal price. The gross profit decreased from HK$28,985,000 in
2007 to HK$17,596,000 in 2008. During the year, income from
installation of infrastructure for steam supply of HK$9,701,000
(2007: HK$5,177,000) and income from sale of coal residues of
HK$3,635,000 (2007: HK$3,012,000) were also recorded.
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Chairman’s Statement EEHEE

Zhejiang Sealand continued to enhance production efficiency
through implementing technology innovation, strengthening
internal management and reinforcing production safety. It also
endeavored to benefit from the government grant program
in terms of energy saving and environmental protection.
Government grants of HK$10,218,000 (2007: HK$702,000)
was earned in 2008.

During the year, the Group disposed of 14% out of its 70%
shareholding in Zhejiang Sealand to an independent third
party at a consideration of RMB12,270,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$13,137,000) as the Group considered that
facing various uncertainties encountered by the electric power
industry in the Mainland such as the tremendous rise in the
coal price, the partial disposal of equity interest in Zhejiang
Sealand enabled the Group to focus its resources on the
aero-technology related business and to increase the reserve
fund for future expansion of the aviation business while still
holding controlling equity interest in Zhejiang Sealand. A loss
on disposal of HK$7,604,000 was recorded. After the disposal,
Zhejiang Sealand is still a subsidiary of the Group as it still holds
56% equity interest in it.

Aero-technology related business

Totally 64 EC120 Helicopters were sold in 2008. Turnover
from the aero-technology related business amounted
to HK$4,222,000 (2007: HK$2,425,000). The Group also
recorded gain on disposal of an available-for-sale investment
of HK$13,449,000 (2007: HK$26,597,000). Having considered
the profit and cashflow forecast of Project EC120, the Group
made a provision for impairment of HK$2,500,000 (2007:
HK$14,000,000) against the financial assets thereunder. As a
result, the aero-technology related business recorded a profit
of HK$13,020,000 (2007: HK$14,209,000) in 2008.
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Chairman’s Statement = EHRE=E

Others

In 2008, the Group recorded deficit on revaluation of an
investment property of HK$5,900,000 (2007: surplus on
revaluation of an investment property of HK$9,300,000),
share of profits of jointly-controlled entity and associates of
HK$8,603,000 (2007: HK$13,149,000), and fair value loss
on equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
and derivative financial instruments of HK$12,169,000 (2007
HK$33,446,000).

PROSPECTS

In order to overcome such hard times amid economic downturn
and maintain its comparative advantages to grow in the future,
Zhejiang Sealand will continue to implement strict cost control
measures, increase sales through exploring new customers and
strengthen its governance on monitoring receivables.

Looking forward to 2009, the global economy will still be
clouded with uncertainties. However, in spite of the weak
global economic conditions, economic growth in Mainland
China is expected to remain solid over the next decades. With
our strong balance sheet and low gearing ratio, the Group is
expected to maintain a strong cash position in 2009 and will
be able to provide steady funding source for existing projects
and new investment opportunities. The Group also believes the
current market conditions are in favour of the Group in terms of
identifying new projects. The Group will closely monitor projects
in aviation industry and aviation-related industry in China with
good prospects.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation
to my fellow directors and all our staff for their support, hard
work and dedication.

By Order of the Board
Fu Shula
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 April 2009
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Management Discussion and Analysis S & i & 04

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity, capital structure and financial resources

The Group has consistently maintained sufficient working
capital. As at 31 December 2008, the Group had current
assets of HK$545,937,000 (2007: HK$701,929,000), including
cash and bank balances and time deposits in an aggregate of
HK$404,406,000 (2007: HK$544,402,000). The Group's current
liabilities as at 31 December 2008 were HK$157,445,000 (2007:
HK$204,520,000).

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 30,906,000
shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited at prices ranged from HK$0.101 to HK$0.120 per
share for an aggregate consideration of HK$3,565,000. All the
relevant share certificates in respect of the repurchased shares
have been duly cancelled.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent amounted to HK$919,058,000
(2007: HK$922,917,000), comprising issued capital of
HK$475,440,000 (2007: HK$478,530,000) and reserves of
HK$443,618,000 (2007: HK$444,387,000). The Group's
outstanding bank borrowing as at 31 December 2008 amounted
to HK$29,412,000 (2007: HK$96,017,000). The Group's
gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of total bank borrowings
as a percentage of equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent, was 3% (2007: 10%).

The Group’s banking facilities are mainly utilised for capital
expenditure and general working capital requirements.

Charges on the Group’s assets

Details of the charges on the Group’s assets are set out in note
34(a) to the financial statements.
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Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group's foreign currency exposures primarily arises from
certain sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the unit’s functional currency. In view of the fact
that the Group tries to match its assets and liabilities with the
same currency, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk
is minimal.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

On 4 January 2006, Sino-Aviation Investments Limited (”Sino-
Aviation Investments”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a joint venture agreement (the “JV
Agreement”) with AVIC International Holding Corporation (“AVIC
Int'l”) (formerly known as China National Aero-Technology
Import & Export Corporation), a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and Chengdu Aircraft Industry (Group) Corporation
Ltd. (“Chengdu Aircraft”), for the establishment of a joint
venture to engage in the research and development, design
and manufacture of parts and components for commercial
aircraft, and provision of related technical services. According
to the JV Agreement, the total registered capital of the joint
venture will be RMB100 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$113 million), of which 40%, 15% and 45% respectively,
will be contributed by Sino-Aviation Investments, AVIC Int’l
and Chengdu Aircraft. The JV Agreement is conditional upon
(i) the internal approval obtained by each of the three parties;
and (i) the approvals from the relevant PRC authorities. As at
31 December 2008, the JV agreement has not become effective
as the conditions stated above have not been fulfilled.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material
acquisitions or disposals during the year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the significant contingent liabilities of the Group are
set out in note 43 to the financial statements.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2008, there were 282 (2007: 281) employees
in the Group. Staff remuneration packages are determined in
consideration of market conditions and the performance of
the individuals concerned, and are subject to review from time
to time. The Group also provides other staff benefits including
medical and life insurance, and grants discretionary incentive
bonuses and share options to eligible staff based on their
performance and contributions to the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fu Shula, aged 53, has been an Executive Director and
the Chairman of the Company since May 2004. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Mr. Fu is also the President of AVIC International Holding
Corporation (“AVIC Int'l”) (formerly known as China National
Aero-Technology Import & Export Corporation) and a Director
of Tacko International Limited (“Tacko”). Both AVIC Int’l and
Tacko are substantial shareholders of the Company as listed
under the section of “Substantial Shareholders’ and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares” in the
Report of the Directors. Mr. Fu holds a Master’s Degree in
Engineering with specialization in aero-engine design and is a
Professional Senior Engineer. He was the Head of Marketing
and International Co-operation Division of China Aviation
Industry Corporation | and held senior positions in AVIC Int'l.
Mr. Fu has served AVIC Int'l since 1990 and has over 25 years
of experience in technology, marketing, economic business,
operation and management.

Mr. Ji Guirong, aged 47, has been an Executive Director,
a Deputy Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company since September 2001. He is responsible for the
Group’s overall management and development of corporate
strategies in relation to corporate finance, mergers and
acquisitions, project investments and diversification activities.
Mr. Ji holds a Master’s Degree in Engineering Management and
a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering and is a Senior Engineer.
He had served as the Deputy Chief Economist of AVIC Int’l
and has over 24 years of experience in engineering, corporate
finance, mergers and acquisitions, and project investments. Mr.
Ji is a Director of CATIC Helicopter Development (Shenzhen)
Limited (“CATIC Helicopter (Shenzhen)”) and, a Director and
the Chairman of Zhejiang Sealand Thermoelectric Share-Holding
Co. (“Zhejiang Sealand”) (formerly known as Hangzhou Sealand
Electric Power Company Limited), both of which are the principal
subsidiaries of the Company. He is a Non-executive Director and
the Chairman of Sino Gas Group Limited, an associate of the
Company, which is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Ji is also a Director of
Tacko and a Director of Speed Profit Enterprises Limited (”Speed
Profit”), a substantial shareholder of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEESECREE

Mr. Ma Zhiping, aged 52, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since January 2006. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Material Science and Engineering and is a Professional
Senior Engineer. Mr. Ma is also a Vice President of AVIC Int’l.
In 1988, he was transferred to AVIC Int'l and had served as
Associate Director of the Science and Technology Division,
Chief Representative of AVIC Int'l in France and Manager of
the International Cooperation Division. He has worked in the
aviation industry for many years and has substantial experience
in the area of foreign trade and corporate management.

Mr. Pan Linwu, aged 44, has been an Executive Director of the
Company since 5 February 2008. He holds a Master’s Degree in
Aeronautical Engineering, a Bachelor’'s Degree in Engineering
and a Postgraduate Diploma in Financial Accounting, and is
a Professional Senior Accountant. Mr. Pan had served at the
Ministry of Aviation Industry and the audit department of the
Ministry of Aero-Space Industry. In 1993, he was transferred
to AVIC Int'l and had served as Deputy Director and Director
of the Audit Division. Mr. Pan has been appointed as a Vice
President and the Chief Financial Officer of AVIC Int’'l since
2001. He is also a Director of Tacko and an Independent
Director of Shenzhen Century Plaza Hotel Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Pan has many years
experience in financial management, supervision and audit, and
has substantial experience in the area of finance, fund operation
and risk management.

Mr. Liu Rongchun, aged 55, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since April 2005. He holds a Master’s
Degree in Aeronautical Engineering and, a Bachelor’s Degree
in Aeronautical Engineering and Foreign Trading, and is a
Professional Senior Engineer. Mr. Liu is also a Vice President of
AVIC Int’l and a Director of Tacko. He has served AVIC Int’l since
1986 and has over 30 years of experience in technology, policy
research, sales and marketing and business management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Zhang Chuanjun, aged 38, joined the Group in October
2003 and has been an Executive Director of the Company
since 5 February 2008. He is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company and is responsible for the Group’s corporate
finance, accounting and treasury functions. Mr. Zhang holds
a Master’s Degree and a Bachelor’s Degree in Management
Accounting and is a Senior Accountant. He is also the Deputy
General Manager of the Management Finance Division of AVIC
Int’l. Mr. Zhang has served AVIC Int’l since 1993 and has over
16 years of experience in accounting and finance. He is also a
Director of CATIC Helicopter (Shenzhen), Zhejiang Sealand and
Speed Profit.

Mr. Wang Xinkuo, aged 60, had been an Executive Director
and a Deputy Chairman of the Company since May 2004
until his resignation with effect from 27 March 2009. He is
the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of AVIC Int'l and a
Director of Tacko. Mr. Wang holds a Postgraduate Diploma in
Economic Management and a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering
and is a Senior Economist. He held senior positions in Xian
Aircraft Industry Company, CATIC Shenzhen Company and
CATIC Guangzhou Company. Mr. Wang has served AVIC Int’l
since 2004 and has over 35 years of experience in technology,
operation and management.

Mr. Diao Weicheng, aged 45, had been an Executive Director
of the Company since April 2005 until his resignation with
effect from 11 August 2008. He holds a PhD in Economics and
is a Senior Engineer. Mr. Diao is also a Vice President of AVIC
Int'l and a Director of Tacko. He held senior positions in major
corporations in Shenzhen as Vice President and Director and has
over 19 years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. Ren Haifeng, aged 62, had been an Executive Director of
the Company since May 1999 until his resignation with effect
from 5 February 2008. He is a Senior Engineer in Professor
Rank, was a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Steel Construction and a past President of the Hong Kong
Facade Association. Mr. Ren has over 40 years of experience in
engineering technology and corporate management.

EENEESEBZBE

REE %L 4 - 385% 0 2003F10H M A K
£ 2008F2ASHHEAARRTWMITE
o BARAAATVKEE  BERNER 2D
X¥mE - 2 hMBRERK  c REERFEE
BextB2ELRELTEN TASRE
B o 18 I8 A AR B P AR B B B 75 B Al 4B AT
o 3R YA H1993F F 1A 1E R M i IR IR A
B Tt BT mESEI6FLR -
BIAFMBEAE ORI - BHAER
SEMcESE -

EAOFESE © 605%  2004F5 A I AEAR
RIITE S LEIEFE - EXE20094F3H27H
BT o AT MRIERESE S EF RTacko
BEF  TAERBBREEESEMREER
TRELTEN - WARREERM - KFENA
LTREEIENT] - PMERIIA B KA
BN AR EER - £ 554 B2004F F A
MR MR - AR - B ERERAE
A B35 A8 Ey o

IERBEE  455% © 2005F4 AT AEERR
FIITES - HE2008FE8 A1 HEBHE - %
BEARKBSE BN WASRIIZA -
SETMABTMEIEREIRE MTackoESE °
WERRINAKACEETER - 2EIRH
REZS NOXEBRFABRABRI9FL
%}AX °

EBEEE - 625% 0 1999F5 AT AEAR
RINITE S HE2008F2ASHE T - 1%
BAETPEHEASHRIIZMER  LAES
MEBE2EE RS ERBBELBRBEMN
eREeR - EEAEIREMRAEEIESN
E B BA0F A -

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 =ZZN\FFH

1



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEESECREE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond, aged 56, has been a Non-
executive Director of the Company since May 1999. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics and a Master of Science
Degree in Business Administration. Mr. Ip is also Deputy
Managing Director of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited, an
Executive Director and Deputy Chairman of Cheung Kong
Infrastructure Holdings Limited, the Senior Vice President and
Chief Investment Officer of CK Life Sciences Int’l., (Holdings)
Inc., a Non-executive Director of ARA Asset Management
Limited (an Asian real estate fund management company
listed in Singapore), TOM Group Limited, Excel Technology
International Holdings Limited, Shougang Concord International
Enterprises Company Limited and The Ming An (Holdings)
Company Limited (all being listed companies), and a Director
of ARA Asset Management (Singapore) Limited as the manager
of Fortune REIT and ARA Trust Management (Suntec) Limited
as the manager of Suntec REIT. Both Fortune REIT and Suntec
REIT are listed in Singapore.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David, Jr, s8s, aged 65, has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
May 1999. He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Mr. Chu received his Master of Business Administration Degree
from Harvard University after Degrees in Electrical Engineering
and Management at Northeastern University and was awarded
an honorary Doctor of Public Service Degree from Northeastern
University. He is an Independent Non-executive Director of
Chuang’s China Investments Limited and Jiuzhou Development
Company Limited, both of which are companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Chu worked for a number of sizeable
international corporations such as Bank of America, General
Electric Co. and Jardine Matheson & Company Limited.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, aged 54, has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since December 2007. He
is @ member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of
Science Honours Degree in Chemistry and Administration.
He is the Deputy Managing Partner of Li, Tang, Chen & Co.
CPA (Practising). Mr. Li is also a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK as well as The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries & Administrators, UK and an Associate
Member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
& Wales. He is an Independent Non-executive Director of China
Merchants Holdings (International) Company Limited, China-
Hongkong Photo Products Holdings Limited and Cosmopolitan
International Holdings Limited, all of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Liis also an Independent Director of China
Vanke Company Limited, a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Li Zhaoxi, aged 61, has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since September 2004. He
is a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Li
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration and is a
Deputy Director and a Senior Research Fellow of the Enterprise
Research Institute of the Development Research Center under
the State Council of the People’s Republic of China. He is an
Independent Director of Liaoning Hongyang Energy Investment
Share Limited Company, a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. Mr. Li has carried out research on corporate
reforms and management for over 24 years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Hua, aged 39, Chief Operating Officer, joined the
Group in October 2003. He is responsible for the Group’s
corporate planning, mergers and acquisitions, and project
investments. He holds a Master’s Degree in Engineering and
a Bachelor’'s Degree in Industrial Engineering and is a Senior
Economist. He has served AVIC Int'l since 1994 and has over 18
years of experience in engineering, corporate finance, mergers
and acquisitions and project investments. He is also a Director
of Zhejiang Sealand and Speed Profit.

Mr. Liu Binliao, aged 46, Chief Operating Officer, joined
the Group in April 2007. He is responsible for the Group's
corporate planning, project development and, import and
export trading business. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Mechanical Engineering and Automation at Tsinghua University
and had served at the Ministry of Aviation Industry. He has
served AVIC Int'l since 1992 and had served as Project Manager,
Chief Officer of the Imports Bureau and Chief Officer of the
Trading Section in Catic (H.K.) Limited, a substantial shareholder
of the Company. He has over 24 years of experience in technical
research, project management and international trade.

Mr. Zhu Dong, aged 35, Deputy Chief Financial Officer, joined
the Group in September 2008. He is responsible for the Group’s
corporate finance, accounting and treasury functions. He holds
a Master’s Degree and a Bachelor’s Degree in Management
Accounting and is a Senior Accountant. He has served AVIC Int'l
since 1994 and has over 15 years of experience in accounting
and finance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain good standards of the

corporate governance practices by emphasizing transparency,
accountability and responsibility to its shareholders.

Throughout the year of 2008, the Company applied the
principles of, and complied with all the code provisions and,
where applicable, the recommended best practices of the
(the "CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing

“Code on Corporate Governance Practices”

of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”), except for all Non-executive Directors are
appointed without specific terms, which is mentioned under
section Non-executive Directors in this report.

The Company will periodically review and improve its corporate
governance practices with reference to the latest development
of corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by its Directors.
A reminder is served by the Company to each Director twice
annually of the black out period that the Director cannot deal
in the securities and derivatives of the Company.

Directors are required to notify the Chief Executive Officer and
receive a dated written acknowledgement before dealing in
the securities and derivative of the Company. In the case of the
Chief Executive Officer himself, he must notify the Chairman
and receive a dated written acknowledgement before any
dealing.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards
as set out in the Model Code throughout the year.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Company has also established a written guidelines for
securities transaction by relevant employees (include any
employee of the Company or a director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the Company, who, because
of such office or employment, are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the
Company or its securities) on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the
Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is governed by a Board of Directors which has the
responsibility for leadership and control of the Company. The
Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs.

Currently, the Board comprises six Executive Directors, including
the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman, and four Non-
executive Directors, including three Independent Non-executive
Directors. With the exceptions of both of Mr. Pan Linwu and
Mr. Zhang Chuanjun joining the Board as Executvie Directors on
5 February 2008, all other Directors (including Mr. Wang Xinkuo
who resigned as Executive Director and Deputy Chairman on
27 March 2009) served for the whole year of 2008. In addition,
Mr. Ren Haifeng resigned as Executive Director and Deputy
Chief Executive Officer on 5 February 2008, and Mr. Diao
Weicheng resigned as Executive Director on 11 August 2008.
The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
9 to 14 of this annual report.
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At each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at least once every three years. The Directors to
retire in every year shall be those who have been longest in
office since their last election but as between persons who
became Directors on the same day who to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree between themselves) be determined by
lot. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. A
new Director appointed by the Board (in the case of filling a
casual vacancy or an addition to the existing Board) after the
preceding annual general meeting is subject to retirement and
is then eligible for re-election at the first general meeting after
his appointment.

The Company currently does not have a nomination committee.
The Board is directly in charge of nomination of directors. In
accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company, the Board shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board but so that the number of directors as
appointed shall not exceed the maximum number determined
from time to time by the members in general meeting. For
nomination, consideration will be made to the qualifications
and capabilities of the nominee.

The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors
its financial performance and maintains effective oversight over
the management. The Board members are fully committed
to their roles and have acted in good faith to maximize the
shareholders’ value in the long run, and have aligned the
Group’s goals and directions with the prevailing economic and
market conditions. Daily operations and administration are
delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and officers. The
Company reviews the extent of this insurance each year.

All Directors have access to the services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance
and regulatory matters. Any Director, in the furtherance of
his or her duties, may take independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstance through the Chairman at the expense
of the Company. The availability of professional advice extends
to the Audit and Remuneration Committees.
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Minutes of Board meetings are taken by the Company Secretary
and, together with any supporting Board papers, are available
to all Board members. During the year under review, six full
Board meetings were held by the Company.

The attendance of individual directors at the Board meetings

and other Committee meetings during the year under review

are set out in the table below:

SRCEHATNERT - EREMMA
AHEEE2KESH REOBEFER -

RABBRITNAEBESTEEH -

EEFNOBEFENLFESTS R EMD
ZEESFIMREHN TR

Number of meetings attended/held

Director BE HEBITEBERE
Remuneration Audit
Full Board Committee = Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting
FREZTE FHEEE BEREES

Executive Directors HiTEFE

Fu Shula BEig 5/6 11 -

Wang Xinkuo o 5/6 - -
(resigned on 27 March 2009) (7200943 A27 HEHT)

Ji Guirong F=HLE 6/6 - -

Ma Zhiping BT 4/6 - -

Pan Linwu EME 5/5 - -
(appointed on 5 February 2008) (7200842 ASAKEZT)

Diao Weicheng AERE 3/5 - -
(resigned on 11 August 2008) (72008F8 A 11 HEHT)

Liu Rongchun EESE=3 4/6 - -

Ren Haifeng £ 1/1 - -
(resigned on 5 February 2008) (7200842 A5 HEHT)

Zhang Chuanjun REE 5/5 - -
(appointed on 5 February 2008) (7200852 ASHEZET)

Non-executive Director FHITEF

Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond B 6/6 - -

Independent Non-executive BUINTESF

Directors

Chu Yu Lin, David KRB 6/6 11 212

Li Ka Fai, David ERE 6/6 11 22

Li Zhaoxi KR 6/6 - 2/2
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the role of the

Chairman is separated from that of the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
are Mr. Fu Shula and Mr. Ji Guirong respectively.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board,
ensuring the effectiveness of the Board in all aspects of its
role and for setting its agenda and taking into account any
matters proposed by other Directors for inclusion in the agenda.
Agendas and accompanying Board papers are circulated where
possible at least 3 days before the time of a Board or committee
meeting. The Chairman is also responsible for making sure
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings. The Chief Executive Officer is delegated with the
authorities to manage the business of the Group in all aspects
effectively.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer has been clearly established and set
out in writing.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Non-executive Directors bring a wide range of skill and
experience to the Group. They serve the important function of
providing adequate checks and balances for safeguarding the
interests of shareholders and the Company as a whole. The
Board considers that three of the four Non-executive Directors
are independent in character and judgment and fulfill the
independence guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. All Non-executive Directors including Independent Non-
executive Directors are appointed without specific terms, but
are subject to retirement by rotation as explained above under

section Board of Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one Executive
Director, Mr. Fu Shula (as Chairman), and two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David
and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David. The Remuneration Committee is
responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy
on such remuneration. The role, authority and duties of the
Remuneration Committee are clearly set out in its terms of
reference.

The Remuneration Committee met one time during the
year under review to review, recommend and approve the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management.
The attendance of each member is set out in the table above
under section Board of Directors.

The primary goal of the remuneration policy on executive
remuneration packages is to enable the Company to retain
and motivate Executive Directors by linking their compensation
with performance as measured against corporate objectives.
Under the policy, a director is not allowed to approve his own
remuneration.

Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to
the financial statements.

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young are the auditors of the Company. The services
provided by them include audit and non-audit. Fees for auditing
(including interim review) and non-auditing services amounting
to HK$1,330,000 and HK$12,000 respectively.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established

in compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the
purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls. It
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company, namely Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David (as Chairman),
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David and Mr. Li Zhaoxi. The Audit Committee
met two times during the year under review. The attendance of
each member is set out in the table above under section Board
of Directors. The duties of the Audit Committee are clearly set
out in its terms of reference.

Full minutes of meetings are kept and sent to all members of
the Board. Matters raised at the meetings were reported back
to the Board so that due consideration was given as to the
action to be taken.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors are responsible for monitoring the preparation
of financial statements of each financial period and ensuring
those financial statements provide a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow
for the relevant financial period. In preparing the financial
statements, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and have applied them consistently, adopted Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and made a prudent
and reasonable judgment and estimation and prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Company has timely announced and published its financial
results in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The auditors are responsible for forming an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those financial statements
and to report their opinion solely to the shareholders of the
Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose.

A statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities
set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of this annual
report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness through
the Audit Committee. The Group's system of internal control
plays a key role in the management of risks that is significant
to the fulfillment of its business objectives. Procedures have
been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, for maintaining proper accounting records;
and for the reliability of financial information used within the
business or for publication. The procedures provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses or
fraud. Procedures have also been designed for compliance of
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

A review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control system covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions, was conducted at the end of 2008 by
senior management of the Company. The result was reported to
the Audit Committee and thereafter to the Board. No material
deficiencies was identified. During the year under review, the
Board considered that the Company’s internal control system
was adequate and effective and the Company has complied
with the provisions on internal control of the CG Code. The
Board confirms that systems and procedures are in place to
identify, control and report on significant risks involved in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives. Exposures to
these risks are monitored by the Board with the support of
various committees and senior management.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to fair disclosure, comprehensive and

transparent reporting. Effective communication with shareholders
has always been one of the Company’s priorities. Information in
relation to the Group is disseminated to shareholders in a timely
manner through various formal channels, which include interim
and annual reports, announcements and circulars.

General meetings of the Company provide good opportunities
for direct communications between the Board and its
shareholders. The Chairman of the Board, all other Directors and
senior management endeavor to attend any general meeting of
the Company and answer queries from shareholders. Separate
resolution is proposed for each issue by the Chairman of the
meeting at each general meeting. Notice of general meeting is
served together with the circular to the shareholders at least
20 clear business days before an annual general meeting and
at least 21 days before a meeting called for passing of a special
resolution, and, at least 10 clear business days before a meeting
other than an annual general meeting or a meeting for the
passing of a special resolution.

Detail procedures for conducting a poll are to be explained
by the Chairman of the meeting at the commencement of
the general meeting. Any questions raised from shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll are also be answered by the

Chairman of the meeting.
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
31 December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries during the year
comprise:

(i) the supply of electric and steam power; and

(ii) the aero-technology related business, including the
share of profit from the development, manufacture and
distribution of helicopters.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2008 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 40 to 196 of
this annual report.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2008.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 197 of this
annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the investment property and property,

plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements,

respectively. Further details of the Group’s investment property
are set out on page 198 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 36 and 37 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws/Articles of Association or the laws of
Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 38(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2008, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted
to HK$81,026,269. In addition, the Company’s share premium
account, in the amount of HK$193,970,166 may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, the Company purchased certain of its shares
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and these shares were subsequently cancelled by
the Company. The summary details of those transactions are

BA - BERHEARQT
L&

ER ARANEEBBARSFERAA
(MBS A7) ARBH AR R Z I - ik
SRODBEAR AL © fE2 52 HIBH
EFUNNE

as follows:
Price per share
No. of shares BRE®R Total price
repurchased Highest Lowest paid
Month J=hv) BEROEHE BS RIE &8
HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT
September 2008 —ZZEZENFENA 16,722,000 0.120 0.111 2,000,452
October 2008 —ZZEZENEFETHA 14,184,000 0.115 0.101 1,564,461

30,906,000

The purchased shares were cancelled during the year and the
issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the par
value thereof. The excess paid on the purchase of the shares
of HK$474,313 has been charged to the share premium
account.

The purchase of the Company’s shares during the year was
effected by the directors, pursuant to the mandate from
shareholders received at the last annual general meeting, with
the view to benefiting shareholders as a whole by enhancing
the net asset value per share and earnings per share of the
Group.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of the Group's purchases attributable to the

Group's major suppliers are as follows:
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AEBEXZRERMEAEE 2RBER D
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2008 20007
=L LI S
% %

Percentage of purchases: EREEES L
From the largest supplier REFRAHER 35 8
From the five largest suppliers RERAREER 82 31

The percentages of the Group’s sales attributable to the Group's
major customers are as follows:

AEEFERFAEAEEZHER D LI
T

2008 20007
—BENF L
% %

Percentage of sales: HEERL
From the largest customer REZABF 15 17
From the five largest customers RKERARER 32 57

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest

customers.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Fu Shula

Ji Guirong

Ma Zhiping

Pan Linwu (appointed on 5 February 2008)

Liu Rongchun

Zhang Chuanjun (appointed on 5 February 2008)
Wang Xinkuo (resigned on 27 March 2009)

Diao Weicheng (resigned on 11 August 2008)
Ren Haifeng (resigned on 5 February 2008)

Non-executive Director:

Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Chu Yu Lin, David
Li Ka Fai, David
Li Zhaoxi

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, Messrs. Ip Tak
Chuen, Edmond, Fu Shula, Ji Guirong and Li Zhaoxi will retire
by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from Messrs. Chu Yu Lin, David, Li Ka Fai, David,
and Li Zhaoxi, and as at the date of this report still considers
them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the

senior management of the Group are set out on pages 9 to 14
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director during the year had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its
holding companies and subsidiaries was a party during the

year.

ELIENS S e
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2008, the interests and short positions of
the directors in the share capital and underlying shares of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) were as follows:

EEvROKEBRS 2R
1589

%

RZBENF+_A=+—H SEEHHF
RARBI S EARR ZE (R(EHERBER
By EXVE 2 EZZE) 2BRMHD KAEBERG
ME R (EHREEGA) B352147E T K
REBEENELMATREEEE - KWAEER
(EMRRIESETELFIZHNEESAD
([TBESFAD) MEARNF KRB #Em
5879 - B N

Long positions in share options of associated corporation of the Company:

RAQXTRB L BREZHR

Relationship Number of Capacity and
Name of with the share options nature of
Name of associated Company held interest
director Notes corporation BEAAT FEERE SORER
EEEE B MHEEEER pd [ A MH
Ji Guirong (@) Sino Gas Group Limited  Associate 14,900,000  Directly beneficially
s PR EBARRAR] /N owned
BEERERER

Zhang Chuanjun (b)  sino Gas Group Limited  Associate
REE HmZEEEBAR DA NG
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Notes:

(a) On 23 August 2007, Mr. Ji Guirong was granted options to
subscribe for an aggregate of 14,900,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.20 each, at an exercise price of HK$0.35 per share, in Sino
Gas Group Limited (“Sino Gas”). The Stock Exchange closing
price of Sino Gas’ shares on the trading day immediately prior
to 23 August 2007 was HK$0.33 per share. The options were
granted by having received a total non-refundable payment of
HK$1.00 from Mr. Ji. The exercise periods are as follows:

Hyat
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RIBE+ENAZ+=0 " T84 %
A& A FA] 52 #814,900,0000% & %
E{60.20/% 7L 2 Rl 2 S BB R A A
([Hm2ee]) L@k BIRE  1TEE
ABERR0.35H8 I ° FIRZERMO R EE
—EEHFNAtZHAZRHAHZ
BT B AER033BIT - ThE
RERBERERCIMNT TARERE
1.0087T - BEAZITHEEHNT -

Number of
share options Exercise period
BRERE T
4,966,667 1/10/2007 to 31/1/2015
—EEtF+A—HE_ZE—RF—A=1+—H
4,966,667 1/1/2008 to 31/1/2015
—EEN\F-A—HEZEZ—RF—A=1+—H
4,966,666 1/7/2008 to 31/1/2015
—EEN\FtLA-HEZETE—RHF—A=+—H
14,900,000

No options have been exercised or cancelled during the year.

FA - WEBAEETTE SN -
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(b) On 3 January 2006, Mr. Zhang Chuanjun was granted options (b) ﬁ’\\:;fg/‘*\fF—ﬁ =H REFEEE

to subscribe for an aggregate of 10,000,000 ordinary shares # & 0] 2 #810,000,0000% & i M A
of HK$0.20 each, at an exercise price of HK$0.20 per share, 0.20/%75243/93/;?\15%% szﬁﬁﬂx%
in Sino Gas. The Stock Exchange closing price of Sino Gas'’ TEEAER0.208 T - Fh Rk
shares on the trading day immediately prior to 3 January 2006 REE_ZZTF—HA=H H|125<% H
was HK$0.20 per share. The options were granted by having 2RI E R EIR0.208 T - KL
received a total non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from Mr. ARESBRESE SN TR REER
Zhang. The exercise periods are as follows: 181.0087L - BEAZITEAWNT ¢
Number of
share options Exercise period
BREHE TS
5,000,000 1/7/2006 to 31/1/2015
—EERFEA—HEZT—RAF—A=1+—H
5,000,000 1/1/2007 to 31/1/2015

TR F-A-RAE_E-AF-A=1+—H

10,000,000

No options have been exercised or cancelled during the year. FA - IR TE ST o

Certain directors have non-beneficial personal equity interests ETEERARARETHEARREIHIE

in certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company. i & A B -
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, none of the B EXFTH BN  RZEENF+ A=
directors of the Company had registered an interest or short —B ARRSEEHMERERB(ERK

position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company HEEP)) $£3526BEFERN ARG HE
or any of its associated corporations that was required to be Eﬂ*ﬁﬂ?ﬁ)ﬁ@ZHX@%*EE@H&@Z%EQ%

recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise R RBRETAMAMG AR A
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to &Hﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁzux—r BRI ORE

the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares” above and in the
section “Share option scheme” below, at no time during the
year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in the Company granted to any director or their
respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its holding
companies and subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates an employees’ share option scheme
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Further details of the share option scheme are
disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements.
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The following table discloses movements in the Company’s

TEREBEFNRRANERES SR ARITEZ

share options outstanding under the share option scheme RARIBRRERE S
during the year:
Number of share options
BREKE
Exercise
price of
Expired/ Date of Exercise share
Name or At forfeited At grant of period of options***
category 1 January Granted Exercised during 31 December  share share BRER
of participant 2008 during during the year 2008  options* options** g+
SHELH RZEENE the year theyear  EREE/ R-ZENE BRE BRE HK$ per share
ER -B-8  FRERY  FREAE BE tZA=t-R RHAH e SRET
Director
Bz
Ji Guirong 20,000,000 - - (20,000,000) - 25/212003 25/8/2003 to 0.13
FER I 2 24/8/2008
“AZtRR  ZEE=
NAZTHRZE
—EBN\F
NAZ1lA
Other employees
RS
In aggregate 22,000,000 - - (22,000,000) - 25/212003 25/8/2003 to 0.13
CEl I 2 24/8/2008
“AZtRR  ZEE=
NAZThAZE
“TT)\F
NAZ+EA
42,000,000 - - (42,000,000) -
* The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant * BREs,GBHRB D EREAREETT

until the commencement of the exercise period.

** The exercise period shall not exceed a period of five years
commencing on the expiry of a period of not less than six
months after the date the option is accepted.

**%  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment

in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes
in the Company’s share capital.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2008, the following interests of 5% or more

of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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FERREEMALIRRG R
MR G 2 K

RZZZENF+-_A=1t—8  AQAER
(BHK %51%1»%3361'*7(_%2%5{14;.6

Maisk 2 RAFS% A E B EITRAER
e

Long positions:

"R

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Capacity Number of capital
and nature of ordinary RN
Name of shareholders interest shares held ERITRE
BRRERB B RERME g REREE ZED
Speed Profit Enterprises Limited (“Speed Profit”) Beneficial owner 508,616,000 10.70
BRBRARRR (THEH]) E=mlAA
Tacko International Limited (“Tacko”) Beneficial owner 1,386,943,000 29.17
Tacko International Limited ([ Tacko]) EnlEAA
Through a controlled 508,616,000 10.70
corporation
BRR LR
CATIC (H.K.) Limited (“CATIC (H.K.)") Through a controlled 1,895,559,000 39.87
HEMERMTEL R (B58) BRAF corporation
(T (F#) D BRXEEE
AVIC International Holding Corporation Through a controlled 1,895,559,000 39.87
("AVIC Int'l") (formerly known as China National corporation
Aero-Technology Import & Export Corporation) BBR LR
B ZE R BRI RAR A E ([ MR ])
(AIREF B ERATE H N2 E])
Aviation Industry Corporation of China (“AVIC") Through a controlled 1,895,559,000 39.87
FEMETEEEAR ([FMIED corporation
BRRIEEE
Atlantis Investment Management Ltd. Investment manager 434,000,000 9.13
REEEA
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Note: Speed Profit is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tacko, which is in
turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of CATIC (H.K.). CATIC (H.K.)
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of AVIC Int’l, which is in turn a
wholly-owned subsidiary of AVIC. Pursuant to the SFO, Tacko
is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Speed Profit;
and each of CATIC (H.K.), AVIC Int'l and AVIC is deemed to be
interested in the aggregate shares directly held by Speed Profit
and Tacko.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, no person,
other than the directors of the Company whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ interests and short positions
in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had certain
connected and continuing connected transactions, details of
which are set out in note 44 to the financial statements and
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out in
note 44 to the financial statements and have confirmed that
these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i)
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii)
on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to independent third parties;
and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT ANBREBEREZREE

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company REBEARNBBARECESHENREES
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the il HEAREH  RRALTELEHER
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by the public as NEIBBEITIRAMBLE 225% ©

at the date of this report.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT HEH®BEE

Details of the significant post balance sheet event of the Group FAREEEALEERREBEZFBEHNY
are set out in note 47 to the financial statements. TEMRMIFELT -

AUDITORS B Em

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as LOKEETRNE AT ERMER - MEERITZ
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming BHEBEFAG FBIRERABREEZIM

annual general meeting. EEFT AR EAZELAED
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD RREFS

Fu Shula E

Chairman &R

Hong Kong B

23 April 2009 —ETNFMA=+=H
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Independent Auditors’ Report B #Z HETREE

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= ik

Ernst & Young

18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

Rk B A BT
B PIBE AR
B4 a2 1818

EEE: +852 2846 9888
{HE: +852 2868 4432

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432

www.ey.com

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CATIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of CATIC International
Holdings Limited set out on pages 40 to 196, which comprise
the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December
2008, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditors’ Report B #Z TR EE

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= 5k

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group’s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
23 April 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement &2 & FlE &

Year ended 31 December 2008 BE=-ZEENE+=-A=+—HILEE

2008 2007
—BENF e S
Notes HK$ HK$
Mzt BT BT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS REEERK
REVENUE Wz 5 260,292,268 195,087,660
Cost of sales HERAR (238,474,441) (163,678,387)
Gross profit e 21,817,827 31,409,273
Other income and gains Hep A R FIE 5 37,029,762 19,046,666
Administrative expenses THERER (31,719,044) (26,393,313)
Other operating income/(expenses), net HiS e/ (FX) 38 6 157,088 (1,813,124)
Finance costs BBEFX 7 (6,192,992) (6,384,095)
Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of REMEEHER/(FE)
an investment property 14 (5,900,000) 9,300,000
Surplus on revaluation of items of 0¥ BEMRERE M
property, plant and equipment B% 15 3,700,667 2,972,406
Loss on partial disposal of equity interest HEMRBRRBHRIER
in a subsidiary 2B 18 (7,604,122) -
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate HAR AL EHE AR ZFE - 32,919,641
Gain on disposal of an associate HEBE AR 2 FHE - 4,395,983
Share of profits and losses of: AMEREMNKEE
Jointly-controlled entity e NG| 2,165,374 =
Associates NG| 6,438,367 13,149,401
Impairment of a financial asset under EC12018 R < M EER A
Project EC120 21 (2,500,000) (14,000,000)
Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale HEMHELENZE 2 FH
investment 13,449,333 26,597,032
Fair value loss on equity investments ERBRRATEIIER
at fair value through profit or loss BRARERITESRIA
and derivative financial instruments ZAHEBE (12,169,214) (33,445,660
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBL AR 6 18,673,046 57,754,210
Tax PR 10 (8,415,390) (4,594,170)
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Consolidated Income Statement Z= & F;B &
Year ended 31 December 2008 2 —_EZENF+-_A=+—HLFE

2008 2007
—ZENE “TTLF
Notes HK$ HK$
J/0f=3 B BT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM BEREER A ERR
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 10,257,656 53,160,040
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BARILEEEYR
Profit for the year from BRI L X 2 AF R T
a discontinued operation 12 - 30,342,199
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEF 10,257,656 83,502,239
Attributable to: FE(E R :
Equity holders of the parent NAERFAA 11 1,852,044 77,996,196
Minority interests DERE 8,405,612 5,506,043
10,257,656 83,502,239
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AREBREHEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BlEERER
THE PARENT 13
Basic -9\
— For profit for the year — RERF HK0.04 cent®fll  HK1.73 centsill
- For profit from continuing operations —RERERB 8 HK0.04 centi#{ll  HK1.05 centsi#l
Diluted BE
~ For profit for the year — RERF N/ATER  HK1.72 centsisil
~ For profit from continuing operations — BRI T N/ATER  HK1.04 centsisil
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 8 EEABEXR

31 December 2008 —ZZENF+=-A=+—H

2008 2007
—EBEN\F —ZETLF
Notes HK$ HK$
i3 BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment property KEYE 14 18,300,000 24,200,000
Property, plant and equipment M - HE MR 15 223,474,051 202,735,517
Prepaid land lease payments TEf T AR E 16 29,098,652 28,215,916
Goodwill [EES 17 30,493,201 38,116,502
Interest in jointly-controlled entity HEEE R A= 19 42,832,777 =
Interests in associates NP e 20 123,680,439 21,205,240
Financial asset under Project EC120 EC120B R IS5 & E 21 9,459,462 11,959,462
Available-for-sale investments Al ENRE 22 47,398,926 115,720,980
Deposit for acquisition of an investment W% &M LS 24 61,165,927 20,029,325
Deposits and other receivables e Rk H A EIER K 25 20,466,063 92,536
Total non-current assets FEMBEELRE 606,369,498 462,275,478
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 26 31,359,134 17,399,830
Trade and bills receivables JEUE 5 R K R 27 46,772,014 22,837,580
Loan to an associate M SR FRENER 20 9,048,000 =
Prepayments, deposits and AR ~ e REAM
other receivables JRE i B X 28 38,986,915 62,461,447
Equity investment at fair value FRBEREATESE
through profit or loss R AR E 29 - 54,189,450
Derivative financial instrument TTEESRT A 30 - 638,365
Available-for-sale investments Al ERNRE 22 15,364,807 =
Pledged time deposits B E it 3K 37 53,671,663 36,327,623
Cash and cash equivalents B4 EBESEE 37 350,734,518 508,074,602
Total current assets MBEERE 545,937,051 701,928,897
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAEE
Due to a minority shareholder FES D EIAR R BR 5K 44(c)(iii) - 5,740,106
Trade and bills payables BB SRR RER 32 117,624,859 80,758,195
Tax payable JEAS B3R 2,622,306 2,312,557
Other payables and accruals HEibhpeNRIENETER 33 7,785,804 17,424,539
Derivative financial instrument PTEeBT A 30 - 2,209,425
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STRRITER 34 29,411,765 96,017,131
Finance lease payables B & 70 & R RRIB 35 - 57,841
Total current liabilities nBBERE 157,444,734 204,519,794
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 388,492,317 497,409,103
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Consolidated Balance Sheet & EEABER

31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

2008 2007
—EEN\E —ERF
Notes HK$ HK$
it BT BT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABRABERE
LIABILITIES 994,861,815 959,684,581
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Deferred tax liabilities FEETIBEE 23 6,798,056 3,721,118
Net assets BERE 988,063,759 955,963,463
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to equity holders 2 T#EHFHE AL
of the parent s
Issued capital B AT A 36 475,439,700 478,530,300
Reserves i 38(a) 443,618,577 444,387,297
919,058,277 922,917,597
Minority interests DERRER 69,005,482 33,045,866
Total equity RS RE 988,063,759 955,963,463
Ji Guirong Zhang Chuanjun
ES L RESE
Director Director
EE 2
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Year ended 31 December 2008 BE=-ZEENE+=-A=+—HILEE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity &r S EZE B X

Share

Issued premium

capital account

ERTRA R 17 5 B AR

Notes HK$ HK$

=3 BT BT

At 1 January 2007 RZTE+E—-H—H 398,530,300 4,916,879
Exchange realignment B 5 30 B - -
Change in fair value of available-for-sale investments ~ At HHERIRE 7 AT ES 22 - -
Surplus on revaluation SfhAH 15 - -

Total income and expense for the year BEENERER L

recognised directly in equity RERARAX BE = -
Profit for the year RE ) Al - -
Total income and expense for the year AEWARES B = =
Transfer to reserve fund BREFES - -
Issue of shares and share options TiR D R 72,000,000 155,060,084
Share issue expenses BRER = (2,472,400)
Issue of shares upon exercise of share options RATEBRER TR D 8,000,000 19,200,000
Transfer of reserve upon exercise of share options ROFRRESREE - 17,739,916
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR = =
Dividend payable to a minority shareholder LY VEEREBRS = =
At 31 December 2007 RIZZLFE+-A=+—H 478,530,300  194,444,479*
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #z & = E Bk

Year ended 31 December 2008 BE=-ZEENFE+=-A=+—HILEE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

AREEEEARGER
Property,  Available-
plant and for-sale
Share  equipment investment Exchange

option revaluation revaluation Reserve  fluctuation Retained Minority Total
reserve reserve reserve fund reserve profits Total interests equity

L/EB At

BRE BEARE HERE B PEBRR
wE Bt Btk mES RBRE B CH B EmidE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
(note 38(a))
(H1:£38(a)

- 1,772,789 37,184,956 5,852,596 10,238,660 133,227,891 591,724,071 33,072,598 624,796,669
= = - - 13,015,951 - 13,015,951 - 13,015,951
- - (32,480,741) - - - (32,480,741) - (32,480,741)
- 3,134,520 - - - - 3,134,520 - 3,134,520
- 3,134,520 (32,480,741) - 13,015,951 - (16,330,270) - (16,330,270)
- - - - - 77,996,196 77,996,196 5,506,043 83,502,239
= 3,134,520 (32,480,741) - 13,015,951 77,996,196 61,665,926 5,506,043 67,171,969
- - - 1,086,742 - (1,086,742) - - -
17,739,916 - - - - - 244,800,000 - 244,800,000
— — - — — - (2,472,400 - (2,472,400
- - - - - - 27,200,000 - 27,200,000
(17,739,916) - - - - - - - -
- = (473,000) (12,134)  (3,098,000)0 3,583,134 = = =
_ _ _ - = - - (5,532,775)  (5,532,775)
-* 4,907,309* 4,231,215*  6,927,204* 20,156,611* 213,720,479* 922,917,597 33,045,866 955,963,463
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity &r S EZE B X

Year ended 31 December 2008 BE=-ZEENE+=-A=+—HILEE

Share
Issued premium
capital account
ERTRA R 17 5B
Notes HK$ HK$
izt BT BT
At 1 January 2008 “ZT\#—H—H 478,530,300 194,444,479
Exchange realignment B 51 S % - -
Change in fair value of available-for-sale investments ~ At ERIRE 7 AT ES 22 - -
Surplus on revaluation ELRpdis 15 - -
Total income and expense for the year BEENERER L
recognised directly in equity RERARAZ BE = -

Profit for the year RE )5 Al - -
Total income and expense for the year AEWARES 8% = =
Transfer to reserve fund BREEFES = -
Share of reserves by minority interest 9‘%{%%&@315{&%@ = -
Investment reclassified to interest in an associate REEFNDBEEREARER = -
Repurchase of shares Rl 36 (3,090,600) (474,313)
Partial disposal of equity interest in a subsidiary LEMRBRRBHRAER - -
Capital contribution from minority shareholders DERFEE = =
At 31 December 2008 —EE\E+=-A=1+—H 475,439,700  193,970,166*
@ These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of @ hERERBEGNGEEERERA

HK$443,618,577 (2007: HK$444,387,297) in the consolidated

balance sheet.

£ 1 444,387,297/ 7T) °
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Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #z & = E Bk

Year ended 31 December 2008 BE=-ZEENFE+=-A=+—HILEE

AEEREE ARG ER
Property, Available-
plant and for-sale
equipment investment Exchange
revaluation  revaluation Reserve  fluctuation Retained Minority Total
reserve reserve fund reserve profits Total interests equity
EN it
BEMRME HERE EX PBRR
EftRe Bt mES RBRAE BEmR &t B ERAE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
(note 38(a))
(Hiit38(a)
4,907,309 4,231,215 6,927,204 20,156,611 213,720,479 922,917,597 33,045,866 955,963,463
- = = 12,969,354 - 12,969,354 = 12,969,354
- (9,947,598) - - - (9,947,598) - (9,947,598)
3,111,208 - - - - 3,111,208 - 3,111,208
3,111,208 (9,947,598) - 12,969,354 - 6,132,964 - 6,132,964
- - - - 1,852,044 1,852,044 8,405,612 10,257,656
3,111,208 (9,947,598) = 12,969,354 1,852,044 7,985,008 8,405,612 16,390,620
- - 885,970 - (885,970) - - -
(2,841,125) - - (9,212,895) - (12,054,020) 12,054,020 -
- 6,794,795 = = (638,697) 6,156,098 = 6,156,098
- - - - - (3,564,913) - (3,564,913)
(687,023) - (1,385,441) (2,381,493) 2,072,464 (2,381,493) 15,499,360 13,117,867
= = = = = = 624 624
4,490,369* 1,078,412* 6,427,733*  21,531,577* 216,120,320* 919,058,277 69,005,482 988,063,759
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ZZ8 R &

Year ended 31 December 2008 BE=-ZEENE+=-A=+—HILEE

VI

48 CATIC International Holdings Limited A EIMZ & MEEZERGRA R

2008 2007
—EENF —ETELF
Notes HK$ HK$
Kzt BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHEERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax: BRELRTR A -
From continuing operations BB RS ER 18,673,046 57,754,210
From a discontinued operation HE RIS ER 12 - 31,796,055
Adjustments for: EEEESE
Finance costs B iR 2 7 6,192,992 6,390,582
Share of profits and losses of jointly- Db FL R R A B K B
controlled entity and associates ERR A MR (8,603,741) (13,149,401)
Bank interest income HRITHEWA 5 (11,915,653) (11,709,055)
Interest income on a convertible bond ~ A[#ERESFZFEUWKA 5 (312,000) (244,899)
Gain on disposal of an associate BB A R 2 FE - (4,395,983)
Gain on deemed disposal of an AR A HERE A A
associate 2 K - (32,919,641)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & BT B A R 2 F) 39 - (5,579,462)
Loss on partial disposal of equity & BT B A R BB
interest in a subsidiary [N g o =] 7,604,122 -
Loss on disposal of items of property,  HEWZE - FE
plant and equipment HIBIEE 2 EE 6 1,399,488 916,523
Depreciation, net of amounts E - BIBREE
capitalised to long term construction REEEENER
contracts Z A 6 16,437,890 15,740,282
Deficit/(surplus) on revaluation of BEMEEGEBE
an investment property (&8R) 14 5,900,000 (9,300,000)
Surplus on revaluation of RABARGAZIE -
items of property, plant and B E MR IR B
equipment credited to BhAH
the income statement 15 (3,700,667) (2,972,406)
Gain on disposal of an PERAMHEERIRE
available-for-sale investment ZFHE (13,449,333) (26,597,032)
Fair value loss on an equity BRBEHIEATE
investment at fair value through FIERIR AR E &
profit or loss and derivative MEESRMIAZ
financial instruments N EEE 12,169,214 33,445,660
Recognition of prepaid land RIEN T HAER
lease payments 6 777,903 959,990
Provision/(write-back of provision) EUE 5 BRFK
for impairment of trade and MEEZBE
bills receivables, net B (BERE)
FRR 6 922,680 (426,965)
Write-off of an other receivable S 5 A PR U AR K 6 75,348 327,000
Impairment of a financial asset EC120IHEB 2 8115
under Project EC120 BERE 21 2,500,000 14,000,000



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ZE8HRERE R
Year ended 31 December 2008 2 —_EZENF+-_A=+—HLFE

2008 2007
—EENF —EETLF
Notes HK$ HK$
i3 BT BT
Provision/(write-back of provision) for — BIFIER A #EE
financial guarantee contracts (B8 o8¢ ) 6 (1,155,116) 1,498,929
33,516,173 55,534,387
Increase in inventories ZEEN (13,959,304) (2,278,642)
Movement in amounts due from/to BRHUBERZR REH
contract customers BEPHRIBEZE) - 26,644,080
Decrease/(increase) in trade and FEWE SRR R EIR
bills receivables wA(45hn) (24,857,114) 1,629,240
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TESIRF - e R EM
deposits and other receivables RN R FOR L
(&) 285,527 (18,989,738)
Increase in trade and bills payables FENE 5 IR R E BN 36,866,664 52,954,248
Increase in warranty provision IREE B A5 0 - 1,171,843
Decrease in other payables H fth fE < BR R R B RT
and accruals & RRS (8,483,619) (894,464)
Cash generated from operations EEEX RS 23,368,327 115,770,954
Interest paid EHE 7 (6,192,381) (8,043,200)
Interest element on a finance lease BERE 2 FEHBH 7 (611) (11,352)
Overseas tax paid B8 INRIE (5,028,703) (8,373,362)
Net cash inflow from operating R BSTE) 2 I8 S ASHEE
activities 12,146,632 99,343,040
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, A - BREMZE
plant and equipment 5H 15 (21,989,690) (66,604,142)
Increase in prepaid land lease payments &1 + #th 8 & FIE hin 16 - (955,613)
Deposit for acquisition of an investment UgEE1% & MRS 24 (61,165,927) (20,029,325)
Purchase of additional equity interest B A ZLR4E#E QA
in a jointly-controlled entity RN AR 2T (1,171,282) =
Purchase of additional equity interests B A4 A T ZESN
in associates [N (16,300,901) (4,253,955)
Purchases of available-for-sale BARHEENIRE
investments - (18,688,513)
Purchase of an equity investment BABBERRATET]
at fair value through profit or loss EBERRARERE (11,663,224) (16,847,936)
Purchase of a derivative financial BATESRTA
instrument 22(c) - (1,313,605)
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Year ended 31 December 2008 BE=-ZEENE+=-A=+—HILEE

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ZZE8RERER

2008 2007
—EBEN\F —ETLF
Notes HKS$ HK$
i3 BT BT
Advance of loan to an associate mEE AN RIREER (9,048,000) -
Proceeds from partial disposal of B A R E D AR AR
equity interest in a subsidiary RS IE 13,137,046 =
Proceeds from disposal of an associate — Hi & Bk & A & FT15 5018 - 8,565,310
Proceeds from disposal of HEHEENRE
available-for-sale investments Fr 183008 18,954,000 44,114,514
Proceeds from disposal of equity HEFBERIZATE
investments at fair value through FER I AIEE BT5
profit or loss, net of issue expenses FIE - BHRERER - 6,632,117
Proceeds from issue of a derivative BEITEEm T EMS
financial instrument HIB - 5,352,874
Proceeds from disposal of items of LEWE - BREMNRE
property, plant and equipment T8 E TS RIE 540,315 1,272,032
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMEB AR 39 - 112,785,775
Dividend from an associate =L A=W ¥ ) - 5,629,526
Interest received 2 ALE 11,915,653 11,709,055
Interest received on a convertible bond 2 U A3 & &5 51 2 312,000 244,899
Increase in pledged time deposits B IR E HifF 5138 00 (17,344,040) (11,251,049)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from RERHBERA S
investing activities () #58 (93,824,050) 56,361,964
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares, net BT D BT 55108
of share issue expenses BNRERER - 242,327,600
Proceeds from issue of shares RITREREEITIRG
upon exercise of share options FTiS 708 - 27,200,000
Repurchase of shares EAElEh) 36 (3,564,913) -
New bank loans FIRITER 29,411,765 106,723,769
Repayment of bank loans BEERITER (96,017,131)  (135,230,920)
Capital element of finance lease MEHREHS 2ER
rental payments 17 (57,841) (222,456)
Dividend to a minority shareholder BT OHARERE (5,740,106) -
Capital contribution from DEREIEE
minority shareholders 624 -
Advance from a minority shareholder KELEATREK - 207,331
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ZE8HREHRER
Year ended 31 December 2008 2 —_EZENF+-_A=+—HLFE

2008 2007
—EENF —ETELF
Notes HKS$ HKS$
it BT BT
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing gt & /&8 2 I &R A
activities SR F58 (75,967,602) 241,005,324
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReERESEEEM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS S ORY) F5E (157,645,020) 396,710,328
Cash and cash equivalents F2Re kB eEE
at beginning of year 508,074,602 112,092,141
Effect of foreign exchange rate MER A
changes, net 304,936 (727,867)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZESRESESE
AT END OF YEAR 350,734,518 508,074,602
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERFASEEKRE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2D
Cash and bank balances HWERIBITER 31 44,222,389 52,119,022
Non-pledged time deposits with SR R ARSI ER B
original maturity of less than TR=@AZ
three months when acquired AR F HIFE R 37 306,512,129 455,955,580
350,734,518 508,074,602
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

f8ER

2008 2007
—EENF —ETELF
Notes HKS$ HKS$
it BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Investment property KEYE 14 18,300,000 24,200,000
Property, plant and equipment VI - B FRAE 15 11,902,805 12,451,580
Interests in subsidiaries B B8 A Rl 2 18 536,782,561 299,402,045
Deposit for acquisition of an investment Ui & HIRS 24 16,281,979 -
Total non-current assets FRBEELRE 583,267,345 336,053,625
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Loan to an associate A=A R R R E R 20 9,048,000 -
Prepayments, deposits and BFIE - BE Rk
other receivables H (b e Uk BR X 28 2,410,765 1,335,925
Cash and cash equivalents HERRSEAE 31 157,648,952 455,907,458
Total current assets MENEERE 169,107,717 457,243,383
CURRENT LIABILITIES REIBE
Accruals FEETE R 33 1,938,927 4,052,540
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HRIBITER 34 - 20,000,000
Total current liabilities mENBEEE 1,938,927 24,052,540
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 167,168,790 433,190,843
Net assets BEFE 750,436,135 769,244,468
EQUITY s
Issued capital BEITRA 36 475,439,700 478,530,300
Reserves e 38(b) 274,996,435 290,714,168
Total equity R AE 750,436,135 769,244,468
Ji Guirong Zhang Chuanjun
B g REE
Director Director
EF EFE
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Notes to Financial Statements B %% 35 3 M 5

31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

CATIC International Holdings Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office
of the Company is located at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following
activities:

(i) the supply of electric and steam power; and

(ii) the aero-technology related business, including
the share of profit from the development,
manufacture and distribution of helicopters.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Aviation Industry Corporation
of China, which is incorporated in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC").

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“"HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for an investment property, certain plant and equipment,
equity investments and derivative financial instruments,
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars except

when otherwise indicated.

2.1

RAEER

BB ZE R AT B R AR R R A
—HARBEREIMKLZBRA
A e AR A2 M EE ACanon’s
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton,
HM 12, Bermuda °
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() MEREEEES 25D
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2008. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases. All income,
expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intercompany transactions and intercompany balances
within the Group are eliminated on consolidation in
full.

The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
This method involves allocating the cost of the business
combinations to the fair value of the identifiable assets
acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
at the date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly
attributable to the acquisition.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside
shareholders not held by the Group in the results and
net assets of the Company’s subsidiaries.
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N R

Notes to Financial Statements B %% 35 3 M 5

IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has adopted the following new interpretations

and amendments to HKFRSs for the first time for the

current year’s financial statements. Except for in certain

cases, giving rise to new and revised accounting policies

and additional disclosures, the adoption of these new

interpretations and amendments has had no significant

effect on these financial statements.

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial

Amendments Instruments: Recognition and

Measurement and HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosure - Reclassification
of Financial Assets

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share
Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit

Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements
and their Interaction

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised

HKFRSs are as follows:

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
and HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures - Reclassification of Financial
Assets

The amendments to HKAS 39 permit an entity to
reclassify a non-derivative financial asset classified
as held for trading, other than a financial asset
designated by an entity as at fair value through
profit or loss upon initial recognition, out of the
fair value through profit or loss category if the
financial asset is no longer held for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term, if
specified criteria are met.
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Notes to Financial Statements B ¥ ;R [ 5%
31 December 2008 ZEENF+ZHB=+—H

2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(a) Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
and HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Reclassification of Financial
Assets (continued)

A debt instrument that would have met the
definition of loans and receivables (if it had not
been required to be classified as held for trading
at initial recognition) may be classified out of the
fair value through profit or loss category or (if it
had not been designated as available for sale)
may be classified out of the available-for-sale
category to the loans and receivables category if
the entity has the intention and ability to hold it
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

In rare circumstances, financial assets that are not
eligible for classification as loans and receivables
may be transferred from the held-for-trading
category to the available-for-sale category or
to the held-to-maturity category (in the case
of a debt instrument), if the financial asset is
no longer held for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term.

The financial asset shall be reclassified at its fair
value on the date of reclassification and the
fair value of the financial asset on the date of
reclassification becomes its new cost or amortised
cost, as applicable. The amendments to HKFRS 7
require extensive disclosures of any financial asset
reclassified in the situations described above. The
amendments are effective from 1 July 2008.

As the Group has not reclassified any of its
financial instruments, the amendments have had
no impact on the financial position or results of
operations of the Group.
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

(c)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and
Treasury Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 requires arrangements whereby
an employee is granted rights to the Group's
equity instruments to be accounted for as an
equity-settled scheme, even if the Group buys
the instruments from another party, or the
shareholders provide the equity instruments
needed. HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 also addresses the
accounting for share-based payment transactions
involving two or more entities within the Group.
As the Group currently has no such transactions,
the interpretation has had no impact on the
financial position or results of operations of the
Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession
Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 applies to service concession
operators and explains how to account for
obligation undertaken and the rights received
in service concession arrangements. No member
of the Group is an operator and, therefore, this
interpretation has had no impact on the financial
position or results of operations of the Group.
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(d)  HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 - The Limit on a
Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 addresses how to assess the limit
under HKAS 19 Employee Benefits, on the amount
of a refund or a reduction in future contributions
in relation to a defined benefit scheme that can
be recognised as an asset, including situations
when a minimum funding requirement exists. As
the Group has no defined benefit scheme, the
interpretation has had no effect on these financial
statements.

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27 Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption
Amendments of HKFRSs and HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements - Cost of an
Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly
Controlled Entity or Associate !

HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of HKFRSs 2

HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment - Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations '

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations 2

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures - Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments '

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments '

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements '
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

23 EEMEEHARERZE

BMBEHRELEN ZZE
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(continued)

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs !

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements ?

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial

Amendments Instruments: Presentation and HKAS 1

Presentation of Financial Statements
- Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation '

HKAS 39 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial

HKAS 39 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13
HK(FRIC)-Int 15
HK(FRIC)-Int 16
HK(FRIC)-Int 17

HK(FRIC)-Int 18

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has also issued
Improvements to HKFRSs* which sets out amendments
to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a view to

Instruments: Recognition and

Measurement - Eligible Hedged Items 2
Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement and

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded

Derivatives - Embedded Derivatives ®
Customer Loyalty Programmes ®

Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate !

Hedges of a Net Investment
in a Foreign Operation *

Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners 2

Transfers of Assets from Customers 2
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removing inconsistencies and clarify wording. Except
for the amendment to HKFRS 5 which is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009, other
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2009 although there are separate
transitional provisions for each standard.

‘ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2008
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2.3

IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
October 2008

2 Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June
2009

* Improvements to HKFRSs contains amendments to

HKFRS 5, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1, HKAS 8, HKAS 10, HKAS
16, HKAS 18, HKAS 19, HKAS 20, HKAS 23, HKAS 27,
HKAS 28, HKAS 29, HKAS 31, HKAS 34, HKAS 36,
HKAS 38, HKAS 39, HKAS 40 and HKAS 41.

The HKAS 27 Amendment requires all dividends from
subsidiaries, associates or jointly-controlled entities to
be recognised in the income statement in the separate
financial statements. The amendment is applied
prospectively only. The HKFRS 1 Amendment allows a
first-time adopter of HKFRSs to measure its investment
in subsidiaries, associates or jointly-controlled entities
using a deemed cost of either fair value or the carrying
amount under the previous accounting practice in the
separate financial statements. The Group expects to
adopt the HKAS 27 Amendment from 1 January 2009.
The amendments have no impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised) aims to improve the readability of the
standard and does not contain any technical changes.
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IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The HKFRS 2 Amendments clarify that vesting conditions
are service conditions and performance conditions only.
Any other conditions are non-vesting conditions. Where
an award does not vest as a result of a failure to meet a
non-vesting condition that is within the control of either
the entity or the counterparty, this is accounted for as
a cancellation. The Group has not entered into share-
based payment schemes with non-vesting conditions
attached and, therefore, the amendments are unlikely
to have any significant implications on its accounting for
share-based payments.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in the
accounting for business combinations that will impact
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results
in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future
reported results.

HKFRS 7 Amendments intended to enhance disclosures
about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. The
Group expects to adopt HKFRS 7 Amendments from 1
January 2009.

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of control
is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such
a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give
rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised standard
changes the accounting for losses incurred by the
subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary.
Other consequential amendments were made to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes,
HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates, HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and HKAS 31
Interests in Joint Ventures.
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2.3

IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 3 (Revised) and
HKAS 27 (Revised) from 1 January 2010. The changes
introduced by these revised standards must be applied
prospectively and will affect future acquisitions, loss of
control and transactions with minority interests.

HKFRS 8, which will replace HKAS 14 Segment Reporting,
specifies how an entity should report information about
its operating segments, based on information about
the components of the entity that is available to the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
allocating resources to the segments and assessing their
performance. The standard also requires the disclosure
of information about the products and services provided
by the segments, the geographical areas in which the
Group operates, and revenue from the Group’s major
customers. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 8 from
1 January 2009.

HKAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes in the presentation
and disclosures of financial statements. The revised
standard separates owner and non-owner changes in
equity. The statement of changes in equity will include
only details of transactions with owners, with all non-
owner changes in equity presented as a single line.
In addition, this standard introduces the statement of
comprehensive income, with all items of income and
expense recognised in profit or loss, together with all
other items of recognised income and expense recognised
directly in equity, either in one single statement, or in
two linked statements. The Group expects to adopt
HKAS 1 (Revised) from 1 January 2009.
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Notes to Financial Statements B %% 35 3 M 5

IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HKAS 23 has been revised to require capitalisation of
borrowing costs when such costs are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset. As the Group’s current policy for
borrowing costs aligns with the requirements of the
revised standard, the revised standard is unlikely to have
any financial impact on the Group.

The HKAS 32 Amendments provide a limited scope
exception for puttable financial instruments and
instruments that impose specified obligations arising
on liquidation to be classified as equity if they fulfil
a number of specified features. HKAS 1 Amendments
require disclosure of certain information relating to these
puttable financial instruments and obligations classified
as equity. As the Group currently has no such financial
instruments or obligations, the amendments are unlikely
to have any financial impact on the Group.

The amendment to HKAS 39 addresses the designation
of a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation
of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular
situations. It clarifies that an entity is permitted to
designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash
flow variability of a financial instrument as hedged item.
As the Group has not entered into any such hedges, the
amendment is unlikely to have any financial impact on

the Group.
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2.3

IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HKAS 39 is amended to state that if the fair value of an
embedded derivative that would have to be separated
on reclassification cannot be reliably measured, the
entire hybrid financial instrument must remain classified
as at fair value through profit or loss. The amendment
to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 requires an entity to assess whether
an embedded derivative must be separated from a
host contract when the entity reclassifies a hybrid
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category. As the Group does not have such contracts,
these amendments are unlikely to have any financial
impact on the Group

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 requires customer loyalty award credits
to be accounted for as a separate component of the sales
transaction in which they are granted. The consideration
received in the sales transaction is allocated between the
loyalty award credits and the other components of the
sale. The amount allocated to the loyalty award credits
is determined by reference to their fair value and is
deferred until the awards are redeemed or the liability
is otherwise extinguished. As the Group currently has
no customer loyalty award scheme, the interpretation is
not applicable to the Group and therefore is unlikely to
have any financial impact on the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 will replace HK Interpretation 3 Revenue
— Pre-completion Contracts for the Sale of Development
Properties. It clarifies when and how an agreement for
the construction of real estate should be accounted for
as a construction contract in accordance with HKAS
11 Construction Contracts or an agreement for the
sale of goods or services in accordance with HKAS 18
Revenue. As the Group currently is not involved in any
construction of real estate, the interpretation is unlikely
to have any financial impact on the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements 81 %3 3R M 5%

IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 provides guidance on the accounting
for a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation.
This includes clarification that (i) hedge accounting may
be applied only to the foreign exchange differences
arising between the functional currencies of the foreign
operation and the parent entity; (ii) a hedging instrument
may be held by any entities within a group; and (iii) on
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative gain or
loss relating to both the net investment and the hedging
instrument that was determined to be an effective hedge
should be reclassified to the income statement as a
reclassification adjustment. As the Group currently has
no hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, the
interpretation is unlikely to have any financial impact on
the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 standardises practice in the accounting
for non-reciprocal distributions of non-cash assets to
owners. The Group expects to apply the interpretation
from 1 January 2010 prospectively. The interpretation
clarifies that (i) a dividend payable should be recognised
when the dividend is appropriately authorised and is no
longer at the discretion of the entity; (ii) an entity should
measure the dividend payable at the fair value of the
net assets to be distributed; and (iii) an entity should
recognise the difference between the dividend paid and
the carrying amount of the net assets distributed in profit
or loss. Other consequential amendments were made to
HKAS 10 Events after the Balance Sheet Date and HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. While the adoption of the interpretation
may result in changes in certain accounting policies, the
interpretation is unlikely to have any material financial

impact on the Group.
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2.3

2.4

IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 clarifies the requirements of HKFRSs
for agreements in which an entity receives from a
customer an item of property, plant and equipment
that the entity must then use either to connect the
customer to a network or to provide the customer with
ongoing access to a supply of goods or services. The
interpretation is issued to provide additional guidance
on the accounting for those transfers of assets from
customers. The interpretation is unlikely to have any
material financial impact on the Group.

In October 2008, the HKICPA issued its first Improvements
to HKFRSs which sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 January 2009. There are separate transitional
provisions for each standard. While the adoption of some
of the amendments may result in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments are expected to
have a significant financial impact on the Group.

CHANGE IN AN ACCOUNTING
POLICY

Inventories

Prior to 30 June 2008, the cost of inventories was
determined on the first-in, first-out basis. With effect
from 1 July 2008, the Group elected to adopt the
weighted average basis to determine the cost of
inventories. The directors believe that the weighted
average basis can provide more reliable and relevant
information on the Group’s financial position. This
change in accounting policy had no material effect
on how the results for the current or prior accounting
periods have been prepared and presented.
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Notes to Financial Statements B 75 3R 3R Kf 5

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture
operates as a separate entity in which the Group and
the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers
stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture
parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on
which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.
The profits and losses from the joint venture’s operations
and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the

joint venture agreement.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group, directly or indirectly,
controls more than half of its voting power or
issued share capital or controls the composition
of its board of directors; or over which the Group
has a contractual right to exercise a dominant
influence with respect to the joint venture’s
financial and operating policies if the Group has
unilateral control, directly or indirectly, over the

joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not
have unilateral control, but has joint control,
directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

() an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral
or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly,
generally not less than 20% of the joint venture's
registered capital and is in a position to exercise
significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or
indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and has neither joint control
of, nor is in a position to exercise significant

influence over, the joint venture.
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Notes to Financial Statements B %% R 3 M 5

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Jointly-controlled entity

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject
to joint control, resulting in none of the participating
parties having unilateral control over the economic
activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s interest in jointly-controlled entity is stated
in the consolidated balance sheet at the Group's share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and reserves of jointly-controlled
entity is included in the consolidated income statement
and consolidated reserves, respectively. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of jointly-controlled entity, which
was not previously eliminated or recognised in the
consolidated reserves, is included as part of the Group's
interest in jointly-controlled entity. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

The results of jointly-controlled entity are included in the
Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s interest in
jointly-controlled entity is treated as non-current asset
and is stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates

An associate is an entity, including an unincorporated
entity such as a partnership, not being a subsidiary or
a jointly-controlled entity, over which the Group has
significant influence.

The Group's interests in associates are stated in the
consolidated balance sheet at the Group’s share of
net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and reserves of associates is
included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates, which was not previously
eliminated or recognised in the consolidated reserves, is
included as part of the Group’s interests in associates.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries,
associates and jointly-controlled entity represents the
excess of the cost of the business combination over the
Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’
identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date
is on or after 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the
consolidated balance sheet as an asset, initially measured
at cost and subsequently at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. In the case of associates and jointly-
controlled entity, goodwill is included in the carrying
amount thereof, rather than as a separately identified
asset on the consolidated balance sheet.
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HF=+—H

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date
is on or after 1 January 2005 (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 25 FTESHBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Gooawill previously eliminated against consolidated
retained profits

Prior to the adoption of the HKICPA's Statement of
Standard Accounting Practice 30 Business Combinations
(“SSAP 30") in 2001, goodwill arising on acquisition
was eliminated against consolidated retained profits in
the year of acquisition. On the adoption of HKFRS 3,
such goodwill remains eliminated against consolidated
retained profits and is not recognised in the income
statement when all or part of the business to which
the goodwill relates is disposed of or when a cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill relates becomes
impaired.

Excess over the cost of business combinations

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition
of subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entity
(previously referred to as negative goodwill), after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in the income
statement.

The excess for associates and jointly-controlled entity
is included in the Group’s share of the associates’ and
jointly-controlled entity’s profits or losses in the period
in which the investments are acquired.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, construction contract assets, deferred
tax assets, financial assets, investment property and
goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for

that revalued asset.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill (continued)

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to
whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only
if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the income statement in
the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the Group;
(ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has
joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

(9) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than an investment
property and construction in progress, are stated at
cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
income statement in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the
future economic benefits expected to be obtained from
the use of an item of property, plant and equipment
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the
expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that
asset or as a replacement.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure
that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the
values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with
as movements in the property, plant and equipment
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset
basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the income
statement. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is
credited to the income statement to the extent of the
deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the
asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made
for the difference between the depreciation based
on the revalued carrying amount of an asset and the
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. On
disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of
the property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred
to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost or valuation of each item of
property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives used
for this purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms

Leasehold improvements 4 years

Plant and machinery 5 years

Generation plant and related 15 years
structure

Furniture, fixtures and 5 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 4 years

Tools and moulds 4 years
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HA=+—H

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each balance sheet date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the income
statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant
and equipment which are in their acquisition phase
and is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. The acquisition phase of an asset
includes the period when the asset is under construction,
installation and testing. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction together with borrowing costs incurred
during the asset acquisition period that theoretically
could have been avoided if expenditure for the asset had
not been made. The capitalisation of borrowing costs
ceases when substantially all of the activities necessary
to prepare the asset for its intended use are completed.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when it is
completed and ready for use, notwithstanding any delays
in the issue of the relevant commissioning certificates by

the relevant authorities.

2.5

ETRETHEMRE (F)
nEk - BEARERTE (42)

EWE  BEMREZEBNEKX
BOETENAERFS - AIZA
BORARGEEZGEZEENR
EEAKE D - SEAKBND B
AETE -

BE AERAFHRFETEED
REEEBETRS RAR (W@
R -

EWME BEMKRHEIRE —KLH
& XBEFAEEAKEETBES
RFLEN R - BIRIEFER - b
& SRR T AT E A M (E ] A B BB 1
REERILEREFHENBERPE
RoHBBERLERRBEEMBNK
HFRERMEZER -

ERTREENKRBREZYE
JBRBS AN AR 8 + LA AR AR A £] JRL 18 /&5
BAKR YT THE - EEZWE
REREEREERNERZE  RERA
AERZEY RABREERZE
A ARREERBRZEENX
K MREBERANMERZAE
EFEAXANER LEATES - E
BERZEENMEMRERGHRTE 2P
BRABABEAE  BIEEKRAT
BERTER ERIRTKILAA
B BEFLOBEREERNNY
X BEMKE mMAwBEBER
ERERRBAEMAES -

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZN\FFHK 77



/ |

Notes to Financial Statements B ¥ R K 5%
31 December 2008 ZZEENF+ZHB=+—H

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment property

Investment property is an interest in land and building
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
rather than for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such property is
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the investment property
is stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the balance sheet date.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the investment property are included in the income
statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase
and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs
of such leases are charged to the income statement so
as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the
operating leases are charged to the income statement on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments
are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a
finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets,
as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case
of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group assesses whether a contract contains an
embedded derivative when the Group first becomes a
party to it and assesses whether an embedded derivative
is required to be separated from the host contract when
the analysis shows that the economic characteristics
and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely
related to those of the host contract. Reassessment only
occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required under the contract.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance
sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include the financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on these investments are
recognised in the income statement. The net fair gain
or loss recognised in the income statement does not
include any dividends on these financial assets, which
are recognised in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue Recognition” below.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss, except where the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that
separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

80 CATIC International Holdings Limited B Z & MEEZER R AR

2.5 FEGTBRME (&)

RERHMMBEE (&)
AEBIRERERREETHE
ENNR YEAGEIREABR
T EREEEENNEARESIE -

MBEENME -—REBEHRRXS
B (AAKEAFEREEEER) i
R —REBHVARTEMEM
AP — MR I8 TE < B B AR A
BEMMBEERS -

BRI FIESEREEE

BERBRERAFEINENTKEE
BRERFEEBEBEZCHMBEERRNIIA
BRREE/SEBBDEQFET
BENMBEE - HEBHMBEEEN
BMRAERHALE  AZEE
EDBRFHEEE -8HITETA
(BREEIRZBARXITETR) 7R
DERFIFEE  EREREES
BYEFPTARI - ZFREZF
HHEBRENBERARER - ENE
RAERZ X FEMNBREEFERR
TRBREUEEHBEEZRE © %
ERETIRIE AT P& [ U as 2
R ZBRHER -

HEHNBRE-—HASZHERANITE
TE: HIBBEEAABGHONANR
FRBRZBRATVTEINRZUBE
EHEERAXTETAHR SR
EVESBAZELRBEIULETRA
APTET AN FARRIBRIN



Notes to Financial Statements B %% 5 3 M 5

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial assets may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the
following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates
or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that
would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or
recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis;
(ii) the assets are part of a group of financial assets
which are managed and their performance evaluated
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial asset
contains an embedded derivative that would need to be
separately recorded.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains
and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired,
as well as through the amortisation process.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted securities,
contractual rights and financial assets under Project
EC120 as set out in notes 22 and 21, respectively,
to the financial statements, that are designated as
available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the other
two categories. After initial recognition, available-for-
sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with
gains or losses recognised as a separate component
of equity until the investment is derecognised or until
the investment is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in
equity is included in the income statement. Interest and
dividends earned are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the
income statement as “Other income” in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below. Losses arising from the impairment of such
investments are recognised in the income statement
as “Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial
assets” and are transferred from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve.

When the fair value of unlisted securities cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant
for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed
and used in estimating fair value, such securities are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in
organised financial markets is determined by reference
to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on
the balance sheet date. For investments where there is
no active market, fair value is determined using valuation
techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s
length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially
the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option
pricing models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on loans and receivables carried at
amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of
an allowance account. The amount of the impairment
loss is recognised in the income statement. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT FESHBEME (2)

2.5

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. Any
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying
value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at
the reversal date.

In relation to trade and bills receivables, a provision for
impairment is made when there is objective evidence
(such as the probability of insolvency or significant
financial difficulties of the debtor and significant
changes in the technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor)
that the Group will not be able to collect all of the
amounts due under the original terms of an invoice. The
carrying amount of the receivables is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are
derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
the income statement, is transferred from equity to the
income statement. A provision for impairment is made
for available-for-sale equity investments when there
has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value below its cost or where other objective evidence
of impairment exists. The determination of what is
“significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. In
addition, the Group evaluates other factors, such as
the share price volatility. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available-for-sale are not
reversed through the income statement.

Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed
through the income statement if the increase in fair
value of the instrument can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised
in the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised where:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired;
o the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows

from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to
pay them in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 25 FESHBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset
is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that
takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset
is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a
written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled
option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the
amount of the transferred asset that the Group may
repurchase, except in the case of a written put option
(including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on
an asset measured at fair value, where the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower
of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option
exercise price.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including
interest-bearing loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payable, other
payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings, finance
lease payables and amount due to a minority shareholder
are initially stated at fair value less directly attributable
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. The related interest
expense is recognised within “finance costs” in the
income statement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the amortisation process.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in
the income statement. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the income statement does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated
as a financial liability at fair value through profit or
loss, except where the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that
separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the
following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates
or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that
would otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or
recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis;
(i) the liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities
which are managed and their performance evaluated
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial liability
contains an embedded derivative that would need to be

separately recorded.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS
39 are accounted for as financial liabilities. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of the financial guarantee
contract, except when such contract is recognised at
fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the balance sheet date; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18
Revenue.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income
statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value, after making due allowance for any
obsolete or slow-moving items. Cost is determined on
the weighted average basis. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HA=+—H

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase
in the discounted present value amount arising from
the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax is recognised in the income statement, or in equity
if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or
a different period directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from
goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet
date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same

taxation authority.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 25 FTESHBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income over the periods necessary to
match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that
it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the income statement over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(a) from the rendering of contracting works
services, based on the stage of completion of
the construction contracts; as further explained in
the accounting policy for “Recognition of income
from construction contracts”;

(b) from the sale of electric and steam power, based
on actual consumption derived from the reading
of meters during the year;

(c) from the development, manufacture and
distribution of helicopters, when the Group’s
right to receive its share of profit from Project
EC120 has been established (note 21);

(d) from the rendering of services, when the services
are rendered;

92 CATIC International Holdings Limited FREIfiZHATEIRRZERERAE

B S

BB & %A S IE A TE A A UER
&Ttéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ AR AT
EEAAR - WEBREXHIERAH
Z%ﬁﬁbﬁ : E”J?Z%*ﬂ_?ﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁjlﬁﬁﬁz
HIFHERERRRA - M2 HE
BENME FRAATEESFTAR
AR WIBFEFELH - R
BRAEE A A BFHBE A E
%o

L ONPA

EARASEREGLCEN=EY B

Tﬁ@;E%%%-QMTWEM
RUTA -

(a) BEIBRBVRARERE
BHZERERFEANRK
HEHN TR [B2ESD
WAZHER]

(b) HEBEHIRERZBARSF

NAFFEREBEH M H 2 EE
HIESE

(0 RA%Z RERSHEEAKZ
WATTRAEBKRERE S G
EC12038 B & F 2 #E s ERE L
BFHER (K77E21)

(d)  REBIWARIE IR #ER



Notes to Fin

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the
rate that discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the

financial asset;

rental income, on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms;

government grants, on a systematic basis over the
periods necessary to match the grant to the costs
that it is intended to compensate; and

income from the sale of coal residues, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold.

Recognition of income from construction contracts

Profit on long term construction contracts is recognised
in the income statement on the percentage of
completion basis when the outcome of each contract
can be ascertained with reasonable certainty and when
a contract is at least 20% complete, by reference to the
total estimated cost of such contract, after making due
allowances for contingencies. When the outcome of a
construction contract cannot be estimated reliably and
when a contract is less than 20% complete, revenue
is recognised only to the extent that contract costs
incurred are recoverable. Provision is made for any
foreseeable losses as soon as such losses are anticipated

by management.
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Recognition of income from construction contracts
(continued)

The Group makes claims for additional work done, which
may arise either under specific circumstances provided
for under the contracts, or due to variations made to
the contract specifications by its customers. Where
the amounts of such claims have not been formally
agreed at the balance sheet date, the likely amount
receivable as estimated by management, based on all
of the information available at the time, is included in
the contract value in determining the estimated profit
or foreseeable loss on the contract.

Employee benefits
Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of
HKFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and has
applied HKFRS 2 only to equity-settled awards granted
after 7 November 2002 that had not vested by 1 January
2005 and to those granted on or after 1 January 2005.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF scheme.

Prior to the MPF Scheme being effective, the Group
operated a defined contribution provident fund for
those employees who were eligible and had elected
to participate in the fund. This fund operated in a
way similar to the MPF Scheme, except that when an
employee left the fund prior to his/her interest in the
Group's employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing
contributions payable by the Group were reduced by
the relevant amount of forfeited contributions. Upon
the implementation of the MPF Scheme with effect
from 1 December 2000, the provident fund was frozen
and no further contributions by the Group or the
eligible employees were made after that date. When
eligible employees leave the Group, they receive their
entitlements pursuant to the existing rules of this fund.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in
the income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions are initially recorded using the
functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date. All differences are taken to the income statement.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transaction.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
jointly-controlled entity and associates are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the balance
sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
date and their income statements are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
included in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal
of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequent recurring cash flows of
the overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
the arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of this property which is
leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment property and
owner-occupied property

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If
these portions could be sold separately (or leased out
separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts for
the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property only if
an insignificant portion is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property
basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)
Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the
event previously causing the impairment no longer
exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the
area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred that may affect the
asset value or such event affecting the asset value has
not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by the management
to determine the level of impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test.

Classification of equity investments among investment
in subsidiary, interest in associate and interest in
jointly-controlled entity

In determining whether an equity investment is classified
as investment in subsidiary, interest in associate and
interest in jointly-controlled entity, the Group considers
a number of factors including (1) whether the Group
has the power to exercise control; (2) whether the
Group can exercise significant influence; and (3) whether
the participating parties have unilateral control over
the financial and operating policies of the investee

company.

31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HA=+—H

EEGEHE R MGG
(&)

F R (&)

BEZBIE

BHREEERTFERENKSIBR
BENEHRETBEE  AKHEZA
HEEERETEELHE LEI
FEC(WEERERLTRFERE
BEZEHAZEEEEBEZIFN
EETHEE: QBEFEEREE
KRR MGET AR RS RE
RIFBRZFRERETIHLAE
EZREE: URQAREFRES
MEZBEENIERR  BHEE
ERTHEEFREIRNZEFRERE
TR o Wk B E IR E A LA TR (E
BEZRE BREEASREFAAT
RAZHBAERFZEERRER - BN
HEEANATERNFREELE

=245
REE -

HIBRRIRE B &N e RHA
B R AR ZRAREZ 7

REEBRARERNNBAR - B2
REAIRKAFAZEREARRREZ DR
AEEREZBERELHE - L
HEFGHEESREREQRANYH
REEBRRNWEEREHEN Q)
EREEATEN  RQREEZ
A BT EMEHIRES

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ/N\FFHK 99



/ |

Notes to Financial Statements B ¥ R[5
31 December 2008 ZEZENF+ZHB=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those cash flows. As
at 31 December 2008, the carrying amount of goodwill
on the acquisition of a subsidiary was HK$30,493,201
(2007: HK$38,116,502). Further details are included in
note 17 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. As at 31 December 2008, the
amount of unrecognised tax losses was approximately
HK$15,456,000 (2007: HK$15,456,000). Further details
are included in note 23 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodadwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting
date. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of a financial asset under Project EC120

The Group determines whether the financial asset under
Project EC120 is impaired on an annual basis. The financial
asset has been valued based on discounted future cash
flows generated from the sale of helicopters covering a
7-year (2007: 8-year) period by applying a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of the financial asset under
Project EC120 at 31 December 2008 was HK$9,459,462
(2007: HK$11,959,462). Further details are included in
note 21 to the financial statements.

Useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment, the Group has
to consider various factors, such as expected usage of
the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and
maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on
the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of
the asset is based on the experience of the Group with
similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional
depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or the
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment
are different from previous estimation. Useful lives and
residual values are reviewed at each financial year end date
based on changes in circumstances. The carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2008 was
HK$223,474,051 (2007: HK$202,735,517). Further details
are included in note 15 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of trade and bills receivables

The Group maintains an allowance for estimated losses
arising from the inability of its customers to make the
required payments. The Group makes its estimates based
on the ageing of its trade and bills receivable balances,
customers’ creditworthiness, and historical write-off
experience. If the financial condition of its customers
was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss
might be higher than expected, the Group would be
required to revise the basis of making the allowance and
its future results would be affected. The carrying amount
of trade and bills receivables at 31 December 2008 was
HK$46,772,014 (2007: HK$22,837,580). Further details
are included in note 27 to the financial statements.

Fair value of unlisted investments

The unlisted investments included in available-for-sale
investments have been valued based on the expected
cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for
items with similar terms and risk characteristics. This
valuation requires the Group to make estimates about
expected future cash flows and discount rates, volatility
of underlying securities, risk-free interest rate and
other factors relevant to the underlying securities, and
hence they are subject to uncertainty. The fair value of
the unlisted investments included in available-for-sale
investments at 31 December 2008 was HK$17,527,703
(2007: HK$16,901,514). Further details are included in
note 22 to the financial statements.

Management has estimated the potential effect of using
reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation
model, and considered that the fair values using less
or more favourable assumptions are not significantly
different from the carrying value.

Fair value of acquirees' identifiable assets and liabilities
on business combinations

The acquirees’ identifiable assets and liabilities on
business combinations have been valued at their fair
values. The best evidence of fair value is current prices in
an active market of similar transactions. In the absence
of such information, the Group determines the fair value
based on the expected future cash flows and also choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two
segment formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting
basis, by business segment; and (i) on a secondary
segment reporting basis, by geographical segment.

The Group's operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group’s business segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers products and services
which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of the other business segments. Summary
details of the business segments are as follows:

(@) the electric and steam power supply segment
engages in the generation and sale of electric and
steam power;

(b) the aero-technology related business segment
engages in the share of profit from the
development, manufacture and distribution of
helicopters; and

(c) the facade contracting works segment engages
in the design, manufacture and installation of
fabricated aluminium and stainless steel products
for buildings, such as curtain wall and cladding
systems, windows, doors, skylights and other
related products.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments,
revenues are attributed to the segments based on the
location of the customers, and assets are attributed to
the segments based on the location of the assets.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(continued)
(a) Business segments (a)

The following tables present revenue, profit/
(loss) and certain asset, liability and expenditure
information for the Group’s business segments
for the years ended 31 December 2008 and
2007.

TEER (&)

E3 Tkl

TREIAEEBE_FT
NEER-_FBLtF+_-_H=
T BLEFREZOBEHZ
Wz owmA S (BER) RET
BE  AERFAXEH -

Electric and steam power
supply business

BORFAMEEL
2008 2007
—EBN\FE _—ZTTLF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHEIT
Segment revenue: SR
Sales to external customers HNERE P EHE 256,070 192,663
Other income E A 24,000 9,015
Total P 280,070 201,678
Segment results DEEE 31,974 27,713
Interest income, rental income and FEWA « HEWA KR
unallocated gains Fivar: ZalbE
Unallocated expenses ROBFHS
Finance costs B IR
Loss on partial disposal of equity o E KB A B30 AR AR
interest in a subsidiary W 18
Gain on deemed disposal of AR A SR R R
an associate Z A

Gain on disposal of an associate

Share of profits and losses of:
Jointly-controlled entity
Associates

Fair value loss on equity
investments at fair value through
profit or loss and derivative
financial instruments

Gain on disposal of the disposal group

Profit before tax
Tax

Profit for the year

HER SR EZAE
’VE?ﬁTiT'J&)Eﬂ% :

HEEEA
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2 ANFEEE
HEWRHESRE 2 B
B AT A
Fi1g
AR F

104 CATIC International Holdings Limited FEIMZHEMEERIZERGRA R



Continuing operations

FHEEEER
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Discontinued operation

RISt FS S

Aero-technology

Facade contracting

related business Total works business Consolidated
M2 B T AE B R &st KEMETRRER =Ee

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\GF —ZTT+F ZBENF TT+F ZEBENF —TTt+F ZZBENF ZTTLF
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FETT FET FET FET
4,222 2,425 260,292 195,088 - 658,641 260,292 853,729
- = 24,000 9,015 - 10 24,000 9,025
4,222 2,425 284,292 204,103 - 658,651 284,292 862,754
13,020 14,209 44,994 41,922 - 23,710 44,994 65,632
13,030 19,332 - 2,512 13,030 21,844
(21,988) (14,135) - - (21,988) (14,135)
(6,193) (6,384) - (6) (6,193) (6,390)
(7,604) - - - (7,604) -
- 32,920 - - - 32,920
- 4,396 - - - 4,396
2,165 - - - 2,165 -
6,438 13,149 - - 6,438 13,149
(12,169) (33,446) - - (12,169) (33,446)
- - - 5,580 - 5,580
18,673 57,754 - 31,796 18,673 89,550
(8,415) (4,594) - (1,454) (8,415) (6,048)
10,258 53,160 - 30,342 10,258 83,502
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(a) Business segments (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements 81 7% R & it 5%

4.

DEER (&)

() E¥BoE (&)

Electric and steam power

supply business

BEORBEAMEEK
2008 2007
—EENE —TTLHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Segment assets DIEEE 381,242 326,216
Interest in jointly-controlled entity HEEE N A S
Interests in associates RN
Unallocated assets ROBLEE
Total assets BEME
Segment liabilities HREAE 121,969 99,763
Unallocated liabilities ROBEEE
Total liabilities BfE8E
Other segment information: Hith D BER
Depreciation e 15,838 12,793
Unallocated amounts RO EHE
Capital expenditure N 21,920 27,612
Unallocated amounts ROBLEHE
Surplus on revaluation of items of VI -~ REFIRR
property, plant and equipment HE & & (3,701) (2,972)
Impairment of a financial asset EC120IHB 2
under Project EC120 M EERE - -
Provision/(write-back of provision) EWE SRR EE
for impairment of trade and ZRERE S (BE
bills receivables, net [B1#%) F58 923 (13)
Provision/(write-back of provision) for — BIISIERAHNEE
financial guarantee contracts (B fEEE) (1,155) 1,499
Provision for warranty REREE - -
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Continuing operations Discontinued operation
BEREEYR ERIEREER
Aero-technology Facade contracting
related business Total works business Consolidated
finZ= BT N B 7 &5t REIME T REK RE
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

—BRN\F —TTLF ZBENFE —TTLHF ZBRN\F —TTLF ZBENF —TTLH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET TIETT FET TAET FET TAET FET THET

93,905 160,462 475,147 486,678 - = 475,147 486,678
103,999 =
123,680 21,205

449,480 656,321

1,152,306 1,164,204

1,471 81 123,440 99,844 - = 123,440 99,844
40,803 108,397

164,243 208,241

3 1 15,841 12,794 - 5,993 15,841 18,787
597 667 597 667

16,438 13,461 16,438 19,454

22 = 21,942 27,612 - 38,961 21,942 66,573
48 31 48 31

21,990 27,643 21,990 66,604

- = (3,701) (2,972) - = (3,701) (2,972)
2,500 14,000 2,500 14,000 - = 2,500 14,000
- = 923 (13) - (414) 923 (427)
- = (1,155) 1,499 - = (1,155) 1,499
- = - = - 2,900 - 2,900
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Notes to Financial Statements Bf ¥ R R MisE

4. DEER (&)

(b)  Geographical segments (b) HESE
The following table presents revenue and certain TREJIAEEHE_ZZ
asset and expenditure information for the Group'’s NERZFFTLE+ZA=
geographical segments for the years ended 31 T-HALEFEZARMEZ
December 2008 and 2007. WakETEERFAXER -
Hong Kong
B
2008 2007
—EENE —TETLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Segment revenue: ialgEs
Sales to external customers INBEPHE - 122,058
Attributable to a discontinued operation DIEEEREREER - (122,058)
Revenue from continuing operations RBELEER 7 W - =
Other segment information: HibpiEEH -
Segment assets DEEE 692,231 646,386
Capital expenditure BARFER 48 348
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United States of

Mainland China Macau America Others Consolidated
FE R 45| ESE HAt Fe)
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

“ERN\F ZTTLF ZBRN\F CTTLF SBRN\F _TTLF ZRRNE TTLF -BEN\F —TTLH
HKS$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
FEx  THAT  TEx  THET  TEx  THET  FEx  THET  FExr  TET

260,292 259,521 - 150,370 - 146,686 - 175,094 260,292 853,729
- (64,433) - (150,370) - (146,686) - (175,094) - (658,641)
260,292 195,088 - = - = - - 260,292 195,088
460,075 517,318 - = - = - - 1,152,306 1,164,204
21,942 38,186 - = - 27,393 - 677 21,990 66,604
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents
an appropriate proportion of contract revenue of the
construction contracts; the net invoiced value of electric
and steam power sold; and income from Project EC120
for the development, manufacture and distribution of
helicopters.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as

s ~ HWARRE

Wik (MENASKE Z EHERE) JHiEM
HMITEHNIRZEE FAHES
NREARZEHEZFE URKERA
B BUE RIS E A 2 EC120T8 B
ZWA o

Wt - EARMBOHT

follows:
Group
REH
2008 2007
—EENE —EELHF
Note HK$ HK$
Hiaz BT BT
Revenue W=

Generation and sale of electric and EERHEERNREA
steam power

Share of profit from Project EC120 DMERERE « BER
for the development, manufacture Ny W

256,070,516 192,663,175

and distribution of helicopters EC12078 8 2 )& F 4,221,752 2,424,485
Attributable to continuing DEERETIERMZ®

operations reported in the CIBIRE X

consolidated income statement 260,292,268 195,087,660
Value of contracting works DEEERIEEEER 2

performed attributable BHITANIRZERA

to a discontinued operation

12

- 658,641,389

260,292,268 853,729,049

Other income Hp A
Bank interest income RITHEWA 11,915,653 11,709,055
Interest income on a convertible AR ES 2 B WA
bond 312,000 244,899
Income from installation of LR TERE 2 WA
infrastructure for steam supply 9,701,412 5,177,136
Government grants* BUS B * 10,217,822 701,754
Income from sale of coal residues HERE 7 WA 3,635,468 3,011,930
Gross rental income e WAL 802,680 587,760
Others =i 444,727 134,335
37,029,762 21,566,869
Gains I8 - 2,000
37,029,762 21,568,869
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. Wz~ Hfo it A K&K E
GAINS (continued) (#&
Group
rEH
2008 2007
—EENE ZETLHF
Note HK$ HK$
Mzt BT BT
Attributable to a discontinued DEEE KR IE
operation REET 12 - 2,522,203
Attributable to continuing DMETEERE FER
operations reported in the PR FELE
consolidated income #5
statement 37,029,762 19,046,666
37,029,762 21,568,869
@ Various coal prices subsidies and government grants e TN T BT BB P B 4R 45 25 TH ik
relating to anti-pollution research activities in Hangzhou, B REP RN ET 2R
the PRC, have been received from the government IR 7008 B 12 £t % 18 BUAT 46 B
authorities in Hangzhou. Government grants received for ¢ MEBALARS HEEKE
which related expenditure has not yet been undertaken NEFHEERNEERBRPIEL
are included in deferred income in the balance sheet. WA—IHRR - BELLERHEE
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies HARBIREMEEEIT 2 BRI
relating to these grants. BEAESE
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. PBRBIADERI
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBZBRF A E MG
(crediting):* A) e
2008 2007
—ZENF —TTLF
Notes HKS$ HK$
Hiat B BT
Cost of contracting works: ERITEKA
Cost of contracting works BERTAHIRE
performed Z KR - 572,857,173
Warranty provision REBERE - 2,900,000
12 - 575,757,173
Cost of electric and steam HEE S RFER
power supply AN 238,474,441 163,678,387
238,474,441 739,435,560
Depreciation e 15 16,437,890 19,454,624
Less: Amounts capitalised to long W BEREIEEA Y
term construction contracts B 40(a)(iv) - (3,714,342)
16,437,890 15,740,282
Minimum lease payments under T REFLLERLD
operating leases on land and ZE&ERE
buildings 613,600 8,848,171
Less: Amounts capitalised to long W BEREIEEAY
term construction contracts BR 75 - (5,155,697)
613,600 3,692,474
Recognition of prepaid land lease ERBENA LT AER
payments 16 777,903 959,990
Employee benefit expense EERANER (TEE
(excluding directors’ remuneration EEMe (H/78))
(note 8)):
Wages and salaries ITERE® 13,896,916 59,173,435
Pension scheme contributions BIRE 2R 456,898 2,817,629
Less: Forfeited contributions R B R UK - (144,363)
Net pension scheme contributions* RIS FTEIHER
VEER* 456,898 2,673,266
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 6. BRBAER (&)
2008 2007
—ZEZENF —TTLF
Note HK$ HK$
HiF BT BT
Other operating expenses/(income), Hing ey /
net; (F8) 58
Provision/(write-back of provision) M E SRR K
for impairment of trade and ZRZRERE
bills receivables, net (BEmE) #58 27 922,680 (426,965)
Write-off of an other receivable o fth e U BR 28 27 B 75,348 327,000
Provision/(write-back of provision) B ERANEE,/
for financial guarantee contracts (B o) (1,155,116) 1,498,929
(157,088) 1,398,964
Loss on disposal of items of HEME  BE
property, plant and equipment HEBEE BB 1,399,488 916,523
Auditors’ remuneration ZENAD B & 1,330,000 2,150,000
Foreign exchange differences, net HNE iR Z SRR (761,809) (1,783,433)
Net rental income He W A F58 (802,680) (587,760)
d At 31 December 2008, the Group had no forfeited - R=FFN\FT=A=T—H"

contributions available to reduce its contributions to

the pension scheme in future years (2007: nil).

i The disclosures presented in this note include those

amounts charged/credited in respect of the discontinued

operation.

7N £ [0 £ A ] 2R U ¢ 3R AT
TER A R 2 R RET B fK
(ZTTLF &) -

AHFEMZ2IIEEAHAE R LR
BEBZILFEMHR FAZK
E)
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7. BEEAX

Group
rEH
2008 2007
—EENE —TTLF
Notes HKS$ HK$
HiE BT BT
Interest on bank overdrafts and BARAFANEEMER
bank loans wholly repayable ZHBITES RRIT
within five years BERZAE 6,192,381 8,043,200
Less: Amounts capitalised to long W BIERHIEE
term construction contracts BRERZFIA 40(a)(iv) - (1,663,970)
6,192,381 6,379,230
Interest on a finance lease ARG ZH 2 611 11,352
6,192,992 6,390,582
Attributable to a discontinued DIGFEB R LR E TS
operation 12 - 6,487
Attributable to continuing operations S {E7E4&RS FEE
reported in the consolidated P2 FELE
income statement #5 6,192,992 6,384,095
6,192,992 6,390,582
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8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. EEMe
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant RIE EMRAURESRFUEFIE 161
to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong BEBE2ESHSOT
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
KEE
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Fees: we
Executive Directors WTES 270,554 252,000
Non-executive Directors FENTES 420,000 420,000
690,554 672,000
Other emoluments (Executive HEMEe (BiTES) :
Directors):
Salaries, allowances and benefits e RRRBEYH G
in kind 4,108,050 5,825,520
Pension scheme contributions BRS 2T 250,717 359,160
4,358,767 6,184,680
5,049,321 6,856,680

(a) Independent Non-executive Directors

The fees paid to Independent Non-executive

(a) BUKPITES

REAXNTEIFERTE

Directors during the year were as follows: EZHMEWT :
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Chu Yu Lin, David ) 120,000 120,000
Li Ka Cheung, Eric TR - 117,419
Li Zhaoxi ZJKER 60,000 60,000
Li Ka Fai, David BRIE 120,000 2,581
300,000 300,000

There were no other emoluments payable to the

Independent Non-executive Directors during the

year (2007: nil).

REARLEE BN T B
FRTEFIME (ZFFTL

FE) o
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EHEMSE (&
(continued)
(b) Executive Directors and a Non-executive (b) BTEER—BHFEITES
Director
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
in kind contributions Total
Fees 2 B{kE remuneration
e RENFS TR Mews
2008 HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
“2ENE BT BT BT BT
Executive Directors: WTEE:
Fu Shula (R 36,000 - - 36,000
Wang Xinkuo FOFE 36,000 - - 36,000
Ji Guirong FER 36,000 3,463,600 219,000 3,718,600
Ma Zhiping EEY 36,000 - - 36,000
Pan Linwu VY 32,586 - - 32,586
Liu Rongchun B85 36,000 - - 36,000
Zhang Chuanjun RES 32,586 644,450 31,717 708,753
Diao Weicheng AER 21,968 - - 21,968
Ren Haifeng Al 3,414 - - 3,414
270,554 4,108,050 250,717 4,629,321
Non-executive Director:  JEH1TEE :
Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond &= 120,000 - - 120,000
390,554 4,108,050 250,717 4,749,321
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM=E (&
(continued)
(b) Executive Directors and a Non-executive (b) BTEER—BFUTES
Director (continued) (&)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
inkind  contributions Total
Fees e o 2R RIRE  remuneration
fiikn REYF = SRR ems
2007 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
i BT BT BT BT
Executive Directors: WTEE
Fu Shula (R 36,000 - - 36,000
Wang Xinkuo IO 36,000 - - 36,000
Ji Guirong FEE 36,000 3,386,520 219,000 3,641,520
Ma Zhiping EEY 36,000 - = 36,000
Diao Weicheng AER 36,000 - - 36,000
Liu Rongchun EE=S 36,000 = = 36,000
Ren Haifeng fAilcd 36,000 2,439,000 140,160 2,615,160
252,000 5,825,520 359,160 6,436,680
Non-executive Director:  FF#I{TES
Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond ~ E#=# 120,000 - - 120,000
372,000 5,825,520 359,160 6,556,680

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year.

FRALETMNLZHBEES
BEXREREEMHE -
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. hEBREHEE
The five highest paid employees included two (2007: hemaHEEREME (ZEE
two) directors, details of whose remuneration are set FRB)EET BEMEe2FEH
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the REXHFS  Ep=% (ZZEZF £
remaining three (2007: three) non-director, highest paid FZR)RaHFEEEREREZNE
employees for the year are as follows: 2B
Group
KEE
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Basic salaries, allowances and AR R REYH =
benefits in kind 2,362,000 4,304,144
Pension scheme contributions BRINEFT IR 113,880 267,728
Performance related bonuses TERIBBRATEAL 220,000 1,020,000
2,695,880 5,591,872
The number of non-director, highest paid employees e TSR &= HIFEESE
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is B¥A :
as follows:

Number of employees

EE#E
2008 2007
—BEN\F  —TTLF
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,001/ 7T — 1,000,000 7T 3 =
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 — 2,000,000 7T - 2
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7C — 2,500,000/ 7T - 1
3 3
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10. TAX 10. B8
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made BHRAEBRFERNLEFRRERE
as the Group did not generate any assessable profits B2 ERBREN - B EELES
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Hong Kong MEDEE AEBERBEE_ZT
profits tax had been provided at the rate of 17.5% on ZHEF+ZA=T—HLEFERR
the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong BB Z T EART R MIA17.5%2
during the year ended 31 December 2007. Taxes on MEEEBBNGRERE - Aty
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the EERT &N 2 HIBERZZAEER
rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in REFMEBR EEEBHER 2/
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, = BREBEBHERTEN  ZER
interpretations and practices in respect thereof. BRHFTE -
Group
AEE
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current BIVEA
- Hong Kong — B - 3,015,856
— Elsewhere — HApthith [ 5,338,452 6,284,961
Deferred (note 23) BT (H17E23) 3,076,938 (3,252,791)
Total tax charge for the year REFIEF X 425 8,415,390 6,048,026
Represented by: ATRFEIERE -
Tax charge attributable to a DMEEE RIS
discontinued operation (note 12) ZHERS (MF12) - 1,453,856
Tax charge attributable to DIGELERE FEER
continuing operations reported Fr 2.2 #5148
in the consolidated income e
statement T IAR X 8,415,390 4,594,170
8,415,390 6,048,026
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10. TAX (continued) 10. HE (&
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable ERRRAREFEWBARME
to profit/(loss) before tax using the statutory rates for R/ BEEREEATMERAEFTRAR
the countries/jurisdictions in which the Company and BREAEF(EB) mREXE
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax (R BAFEHIB 2 @R N
charge for the year is as follows: T ¢
Group - 2008
AEE-—FEN\E
Mainland
Hong Kong China Elsewhere Total
B8 i Hitri @ &t
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
Profit/(loss) before tax BEAERN /(BE) (38,831,614) 57,504,660 - 18,673,046
Tax at the statutory tax rates IREFEMKEE 2 HIE (6,407,216) 10,350,839 - 3,943,623
Profits and losses attributable 75 Ft RN 7 K B A A
to jointly-controlled entity 2 H R EE
and associates 1,188,000 (190,408) - 997,592
Income not subject to tax BESFHKA (2,389,898) (3,832,906) - (6,222,804)
Expenses not deductible TMEIBZFAX
for tax 7,609,114 2,087,865 - 9,696,979
Tax charge for the year AERIBERS - 8,415,390 - 8,415,390
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10. TAX (continued)

Group - 2007
AEE-—ZTLF

10. B\ (&

Mainland
Hong Kong China Elsewhere Total
0 G Hit it &3
HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Profit before tax BR 7% Al A
(including profit from a (AEREABRIEES
discontinued operation) 252855 5,420,941 69,799,487 14,329,837 89,550,265
Tax at the statutory tax rates ¥ EEM Rt E 2 FiE 948,665 23,033,831 3,348,456 27,330,952
Lower tax rates for specific ~ BEZMHZEEHRX
provinces - (7,525,454) - (7,525,454)
Deemed income of the PRC ~ HEIREEE 7 RZMA
construction business - 1,460,574 - 1,460,574
Profits and losses attributable 45822 &) 2 % FIl 2 518
to associates - (986,205) - (986,205)
Income not subject to tax  BAGFIA (5,191,890)  (12,897,024)  (4,038,718)  (22,127,632)
Expenses not deductible TEIRZAX
for tax 5,616,427 2,599,578 - 8,216,005
Tax losses utilised from HABTHETIEER
previous periods (161) (1,091,130) (1,560,000) (2,651,291)
Increase in unprovided tax ~ REEEEHESRE
losses carried forward byl 2,142,815 - 188,262 2,331,077
Tax charge/(credit) for RERBRY /(ER)
the year 3,515,856 4,594,170 (2,062,000) 6,048,026

During the 5th Session of the 10th National People’s
Congress, which was concluded on 16 March 2007, the
PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New Corporate
Income Tax Law”) was approved and became effective
on 1 January 2008. The New Corporate Income Tax Law
introduces a wide range of changes which include, but
are not limited to, the unification of the income tax rate
for domestic-invested and foreign-invested enterprises at
25%. In addition, for those enterprises benefiting from
lower preferential tax rates, such preferential rates will
be gradually phased out by increasing them to 25% over
five years from its effective date.

RZZEZLF=ZA T+ BHENE
TEZ2BEBARRRAEEAANE S
£ PECEMSTE ([FEEAR
BHE]) BEME  TR=ZFZN
F—A—BRER - FTLEMEH
ESIA—RIES - BFE (BETR
) #AINECERFTSHEE—&
25% ° WEAN R EX B EEN
TrEmME  EEBEEEEKRAH
BEAFRNEZLTH=ZE25% °
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10.

11.

12.

TAX (continued)

The share of tax attributable to associates and jointly-
controlled entity amounting to HK$2,810,058 (2007:
HK$1,314,066) and nil (2007: nil), respectively, is
included in “Share of profits and losses of jointly-
controlled entity and associates” on the face of the
consolidated income statement.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders
of the parent for the year ended 31 December 2008
includes a loss of HK$15,243,420 (2007: profit of
HK$92,771,529) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company (note 38(b)).

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 30 August 2007, the Company announced the
decision of its board of directors to dispose of FEA
Holdings Limited (“FEA"”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the "FEA Group”). FEA Group engages in the facade
contracting works including the design, manufacture
and installation of curtain walls, aluminium windows
and other related products, and is a separate business
segment that is part of the Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau and the United States of America operations.
The Group had decided to cease its facade contracting
works business although it was profit-making because
it planned to focus its resources on its aero-technology
related business. The disposal of FEA Group was
completed on 28 December 2007. Details of the net
assets of FEA Group disposed of are disclosed in note
39 to the financial statements.
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12.
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DEEEE AR REAREEAR 2
B 5 B 52,810,058 T (Z T T+
F:1,314,0668 L) RE(ZZEZ
t&F: B BERREFRESNERZ
[ (5 HEEE QR KB QR
MREE] A -

REEBFE ARGEEN

HE_ZZNF+-_A=+—H1E
FEZARAERTEAE AEBLGES R
g BETRARRMBEREAT
B 2 E51815,243,4208 L (Z 2
+4F % F92,771,529% TT) (K it
38(b)) °

CRIERERETR

R=ZFZLFNA=+H  A2F
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MIFEASE]) - FEAR B EAE
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REERERIEEREING TR
% AAAEEFGEEFEERT
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DISCONTINUED OPERATION

(continued)

12. CRIEBEER (2)

The results of FEA Group for the year ended 31 December

2007 are presented below:

FEAREBREZ —_ZZ+HF+ A=
T—BUEFEZEEZHAT

2007
—TTLF
Notes HK$
i3 BT
Revenue Wz 5 658,641,389
Cost of sales HE A 6 (575,757,173)
Gross profit EF 82,884,216
Other income H A A 5 2,522,203
Administrative expenses THREREER (59,597,499)
Other operating income, net HiS &M 558 414,160
Finance costs WA 7 (6,487)
Profit of the discontinued operation BRI FETS 2 R A 26,216,593
Gain on disposal of FEA Group HEFEALE 2 F)E 39 5,579,462
Profit before tax from the discontinued BEARIEEEER 2
operation R A5 A& A 31,796,055
Tax iR 10 (1,453,856)
Profit for the year from the discontinued B IFELETE 2 FER
operation i A 30,342,199
Attributable to: THEIBREL
Equity holders of the parent RNElESFEA 30,622,579
Minority interests LERE (280,380)
30,342,199
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 12. BRIEREEK ()
(continued)
The net cash flows incurred by FEA Group are as FEAREEA RS MENFEMA T
follows:
2007
—ETELF
HK$
BT
Operating activities L TEE) 83,421,428
Investing activities KEEE (36,345,208)
Financing activities BLEEED (4,386,533)
Net cash inflow HE RN FRE 42,689,687
Earnings per share: BROEAR
Basic, from the discontinued operation HAN - REBRIEEEERS HKO0.68 cent &l
Diluted, from the discontinued operation — #58# R E B 42 L& 7% HKO0.68 cent &l

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
from the discontinued operation are based on:

KEERUEREXRBZEBRELR
RN TR TS HHE

Profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent from the
discontinued operation

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used in
the basic earnings per share calculation

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the diluted earnings per
share calculation (note 13)

AR EERFEA
FEML R A DA LGS
1525 T

AR E SR EAEF
ZERBBEITERAR
niEFHE

AR 8 S EEE F
2 EIRAR e
Y (KriE13)

HK$30,622,579/ 7T

4,512,755,055

4,543,534,340

124 CATIC International Holdings Limited FEIfZHEMEERIZERGRA T



13.

Notes to Financial Statements B %% R 3 M 5

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

A diluted earnings per share amount for the year ended
31 December 2008 has not been disclosed as no diluting
events existed during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount
for the year ended 31 December 2007 was based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent. The weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the calculation was the number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the
basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise
or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

31 December 2008 =&

13.

ENF+=A=+—H

AFEEERSAAE®A
BRER

BRETGNDIREAR EBER
H*ﬁ_/\ﬁ’éfﬁ$¢mﬂ&¢ﬁﬂ5§§?
BBz e RETE

B R S SR AT AT EE =
B ERERE TR N\F+
A=1T A LFEZERET TN

BE_TTLF+-_A=t—HL
FESKEEENZAREEE
ﬁnhﬁ}\ﬁﬁfﬁiﬁﬂmﬂ#é A tE

AEZE HQ?JME?i’J%KTJquMh
BRERNGHNAAZEFANSETE
BB UERBREERTZRESE

7 LRFEITRXBRAMEES
EEEBIR A BB 2 BB E
FH -

FAREAR LTS MO B RE -

2008 2007
—sE/N\F —TTt
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Earnings Y Al
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AT EEREAA
holders of the parent: FEMRBF :
From continuing operations REFELEER 1,852,044 47,373,617
From a discontinued operation REDRIEEE LR - 30,622,579
1,852,044 77,996,196

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 =ZZN\FFH



Notes to Financial Statements 81 7% R & it 5%

31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

13. RRAEBERREEAEML
BRBER (&)

(continued)
2008 2007
—EENE ZETLF
Number of shares R EE
Weighted average number of ARG ESRERZF
ordinary shares in issue ZEABETTRRKR
during the year used in the basic 2 DN#E 15 X
earnings per share calculation 4,777,761,578 4,512,755,055
Effect on dilution — weighted average #&&x7k e — i@ A% hE
number of ordinary shares: g
Share options B RS A - 30,779,285
4,777,761,578 4,543,534,340
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 14. REW=

Group and Company

AEERARAT

2008 2007

—EENF —EELF

HKS HK$

BT BT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZERAEE 24,200,000 14,900,000
Net profit/(loss) from a fair value NEEFEZFRE

adjustment (E8) (5,900,000) 9,300,000

Carrying amount at 31 December RT+ZA=+—HZKEE 18,300,000 24,200,000
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HA=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

The Group’s and the Company’s investment property
was revalued on 31 December 2008 by BMI Appraisals
Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers,
at HK$18,300,000 (2007: HK$24,200,000) on an open
market, existing use basis. The investment property
is leased to a shareholder of the Company under an
operating lease, further details of which are included in
notes 41(a) and 44(a)(i) to the financial statements.

The Group's and the Company’s investment property is

situated in Hong Kong and is held under a medium term
lease. At 31 December 2007, this investment property
was pledged to secure a bank loan of the Group and the
Company (note 34(a)).

14.

REWE (&)

REBRADBZEEMER_TT
NF+-—A=+—HHABIEXS
BREEMPBESRTEBRAA
BRARME - BRERRELESHMH
{6/418,300,000/8 7L (ZEZLF ¢
24,200,000/ 7T) © HEMEREL
ERAOLBTFARRZIRE  E—F
ST IB B P B 75 R R T 7541 (a) )R 44(a)
(i) °

AEBERARRZLEMETILR
FERLETPHHEOFE R-_FF
tF+-_A=1+—8 kREYX
BRI\ ERAKERARBRT
BRZ R (H5t34(a)
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

15. Y% - BENRE

EQUIPMENT
Group
rE
Generation
plant and Furniture,
Construction Land and related fixtures and Motor
in progress buildings structure  equipment vehicles Total
BRERER  HW - XEB
HRIR  1HEET BERE R&fE bt At
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT
31 December 2008 “EEN\F+ZA=1—-H
At 31 December 2007 and RZZEZ+E+=A
at 1 January 2008: =+-BR=FTN\E
—A—8:
Cost or valuation A A 20,086,600 91,716,499 113,554,603 1,520,103 8,477,838 235,355,643
Accumulated 2REME
depreciation - (25,616,473) - (1,082,673)  (5,920,980) (32,620,126)
Net carrying amount ERFE 20,086,600 66,100,026 113,554,603 437,430 2,556,858 202,735,517
At 1 January 2008, netof RZEE\F-F—H-
accumulated depreciation MR 27 EHE 20,086,600 66,100,026 113,554,603 437,430 2,556,858 202,735,517
Additions NE 18,077,743 635,136 2,372,886 83,140 820,785 21,989,690
Disposals HE - (145,604)  (1,684,685) - (109,514)  (1,939,803)
Transfers 3 (15,017,362) - 15,017,362 - - -
Surplus on revaluation Eh A% - - 6811875 - - 6811875
Depreciation provided FRMERE
during the year - (3,282,367) (12,834,085) (218,508) (102,930)  (16,437,890)
Exchange realignment B i A% 1,136,120 2,984,097 6,059,818 (49) 134,676 10,314,662
At 31 December 2008, RZZENE
net of accumulated +-A=+—-8"
depreciation HR2BNE 24,283,101 66,291,288 129,297,774 302,013 3,299,875 223,474,051
At 31 December 2008: RZZTNF
+=RA=1+-8:
Cost or valuation KA EE 24,283,101 96,671,331 129,297,774 1,603,491 8,602,975 260,458,672
Accumulated depreciation ~ 2FEME - (30,380,043) - (1,301,478)  (5,303,100) (36,984,621)
Net carrying amount ERFE 24,283,101 66,291,288 129,297,774 302,013 3,299,875 223,474,051
Analysis of cost or valuation: A HEAH :
At cost PR 24,283,101 96,671,331 - 1,603,491 8,602,975 131,160,898
At 31 December 2008 BZEE\F
valuation +ZA=+—-HZE - - 129,297,774 - - 129,297,774
24,283,101 96,671,331 129,297,774 1,603,491 8,602,975 260,458,672
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15. Y% - MEMRE (&
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group (continued)

AER (&)
Generation
plant and Furniture,
Construction Land and Leasehold Plant and related ~ fixtures and Motor Tools and
in progress buildings improvements  machinery structure — equipment vehicles moulds Total
B4 FEEER AL %2
ERIE ThHREF  NERE iz ki HER e g IEREA At
HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HKS
A BT AT BT BT AT AT BT BT
31 December 2007 —ER{E+-A=+-H
At 1 January 2007: RZZEt5-F-R:
Cost or valuation KA fEE 35,808,517 89,479,368 14,594,103 14324451 81863545 24643612 13,234,611 2,368,328 276,316,535
Accumulated depreciation 24 E - (26,507,181) (14,191,777) (11,462,636 - (17,037,447) (10,609,503)  (2,025,002) (81,833,546)
Net carrying amount FERE 35,808,517 62,972,187 402,326 2,861,815 81,863,545 7,606,165 2,625,108 343326 194,482,989
At 1 January 2007, netof R=EE+E-F-H
accumulated depreciation  JIB2ERE 35,808,517 62,972,187 402,326 2,861,815 81,863,545 7,606,165 2,625,108 343326 194,482,989
Additions AE 24,262,472 21,641,662 1,284,523 8,170,024 5,123,879 2,371,399 3,275,699 474,484 66,604,142
Disposals ik - - - - (2,188,555) - - - (2,188,555)
Transfers Bt (37,897,977) 11,062,198 = - 26,835,779 - - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEHBAR
(note 39) (H39) (4,770,134)  (29,611,413) (1,146,110 (8,663,436) - (7,647,951)  (2,154,154) (522,751)  (54,515,949)
Surplus on revaluation BBtk - - = - 6,106,926 = = - 6,106,926
Depreciation provided ERHERE
during the year - (3,105,518) (540,739)  (2,368,403)  (9,949,515)  (1,892,322)  (1,303,068) (295,059)  (19,454,624)
Exchange realignment ERBE 2,683,722 3,140,910 = = 5,762,544 139 113,273 - 11,700,588
At31December 2007,  AZERLE
net of accumulated +=A=t+-8"
depreciation Nh2ERE 20,086,600 66,100,026 - - 113,554,603 437430 2,556,858 - 202,735,517
At31 December 2007:  RZZELE
TZA=1+-8:
Cost or valuation RS f4E 20,086,600 91,716,499 - - 113,554,603 1,520,103 8,477,838 - 235,355,643
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZFEHE - (25616,473) - - - (1,082,673)  (5,920,980) - (32,620,126)
Net carrying amount FEFE 20,086,600 66,100,026 = - 113,554,603 437,430 2,556,858 - 202,735,517
Analysis of cost or valuation: XA ZfEAH :
At cost B 20,086,600 91,716,499 - - - 1,520,103 8,477,838 - 121,801,040
At 31 December 2007 BZET+ETZR
valuation =+-RZftE = = = - 113,554,603 = = - 113,554,603

20,086,600 91,716,499 = - 113554603 1520103 8477838 - 235,355,643
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements 81 7% R 3% it 5%

15. ¥% - BENRE (&

Company
VNN
Furniture,
Land and fixtures and Motor
building equipment vehicles Total
B #8
T REF K& AE &t
HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
31 December 2008 —ZEENE
+t=ZA=+-H
At 31 December 2007 and R-ZZE+F
1 January 2008: +ZA=+—8kF
—EENF—A—
Cost X AR 12,750,000 1,515,715 331,547 14,597,262
Accumulated depreciation ZFEHE (900,000) (1,079,908) (165,774)  (2,145,682)
Net carrying amount REFE 11,850,000 435,807 165,773 12,451,580
At 1 January 2008, net of MZ-ZZENF—H—H -
accumulated depreciation  H1fr 2 E 11,850,000 435,807 165,773 12,451,580
Additions INE - 47,622 - 47,622
Depreciation provided FRFTERE
during the year (300,000) (213,511) (82,886) (596,397)
At 31 December 2008, R-ZTN\F
net of accumulated +=—A=+—81"
depreciation ks REHE 11,550,000 269,918 82,887 11,902,805
At 31 December 2008: RZEE)\F
+-A=+—8:
Cost (DN 12,750,000 1,563,337 331,547 14,644,884
Accumulated depreciation ZFEITE (1,200,000) (1,293,419) (248,660) (2,742,079)
Net carrying amount BREFE 11,550,000 269,918 82,887 11,902,805
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15. W¥ - BMEN®RE (&)
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company (continued)

RATE (&)
Furniture,
Land and  fixtures and Motor
building equipment vehicles Total
R KE
T RETF By RE BET
HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HKS$
BT BT BT BT
31 December 2007 —EELF
+-A=+—8
At 1 January 2007: RZZZLF-—H—H:
Cost (DN 12,750,000 1,484,899 331,547 14,566,446
Accumulated depreciation ZFEITE (600,000) (840,708) (82,887)  (1,523,595)
Net carrying amount BRERE 12,150,000 644,191 248,660 13,042,851
At 1 January 2007, netof R-ZE+F—F—H
accumulated depreciation 1k 2FEE 12,150,000 644,191 248,660 13,042,851
Additions INE - 30,816 - 30,816
Depreciation provided FRFTERER
during the year (300,000) (239,200) (82,887) (622,087)
At 31 December 2007, R-ZBELF
net of accumulated +=—A=+—8"
depreciation kR RERTE 11,850,000 435,807 165,773 12,451,580
At 31 December 2007: RZEELF
+=—A=+—8:
Cost DN 12,750,000 1,515,715 331,547 14,597,262
Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (900,000)  (1,079,908) (165,774)  (2,145,682)
Net carrying amount REFE 11,850,000 435,807 165,773 12,451,580
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

15. 9% - BENRE (&)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (continued)

An analysis of the lease terms of the Group’s and the
Company’s land and buildings is as follows:

ARERARTZ L RETHEY
AT -

Group Company
AEH PN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —EZTTLF ZBENFE —ZTTHF
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At cost, located in: B AL
Hong Kong, held under BB EPEEY
a medium term lease b=y 12,750,000 12,750,000 12,750,000 12,750,000
Mainland China, held REAH - iR
under a medium iRy
term lease 83,921,331 78,966,499 - -
96,671,331 91,716,499 12,750,000 12,750,000

At 31 December 2008, the Group’s generation plant
and related structure was revalued at HK$129,297,774
(2007: HK$113,554,603) by BMI Appraisals Limited on
the open market value and existing use basis, resulting
in a revaluation surplus of HK$6,811,875 (2007:
HK$6,106,926), of which a surplus of HK$3,111,208
(2007: HK$3,134,520) was credited to the property,
plant and equipment revaluation reserve whereas
the remaining surplus of HK$3,700,667 (2007:
HK$2,972,406) was credited to the consolidated income
statement.

Had these generation plant and related structure been
carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, their carrying amounts would
have been HK$107,922,564 (2007: HK$97,979,639).
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REEBEERE KRB MK HELH
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

As at 31 December 2008, certain of the Group’s land

15. ¥% - BENRE (&

R-ZEENE+-_A=+—80 " &
EF(EX)27,446,2958 70 (Z 2T+
F :30,817,213%87L) 2 AEEBET
THREFLEEER  EALAEE
—RRRITEE 2 &R (HaE34(a)0) °

and buildings with a net book value of approximately
HK$27,446,295 (2007: HK$30,817,213) were pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 34(a)(i)).

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. FE{F T HFHE

Group
AEE
2008 2007
—EENE —ZTTLF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HZEEE 28,921,381 29,539,219
Exchange realignment b H B 1,680,409 2,043,230
Addition & - 955,613
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HEH B QA
(Ht5£39) - (2,656,691)
Recognised during the year (note 6) FERNER (HiF6) (777,903) (959,990)
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt+t=-—A=+—H
ZBRE{E 29,823,887 28,921,381
Current portion included in prepayments, RENERD » BIEETES
deposits and other receivables PIE -~ Re KEAM
& (725,235) (705,465)
Non-current portion FEmENEB 1D 29,098,652 28,215,916

ZMEE L IEF HRNB AL
R BE AL -

The leasehold land is held under a medium term lease
and is situated in Mainland China.

R-ZZEZENE+_A=+—8 " &
EF(E%29,091,9288 7T (—Z T+
% :4,852,1188L) c NEEET
HETHEEER  (ERAEE—
WMERITEE 2R (BraE34(a)i))

As at 31 December 2008, certain of the Group’'s
leasehold land with a net book value of approximately
HK$29,091,928 (2007: HK$4,852,118) was pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 34(a)(ii)).
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

17. GOODWILL 17. &8
Group
AEE
HK$
BT
Cost and carrying amount at 1 January 2007, RZZEZE+F—H—H
31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 —FF —A=+—HK
—ZEZEN\F—HA—H
ZRRA N REE 38,116,502
Partial disposal of equity interest i & B /B A R 3R AR AN R A
in a subsidiary (7,623,301)
Cost and carrying amount at 31 December 2008 R-ZEZEN\F+-_A=+—H
ZRRA R EREE 30,493,201

As further detailed in note 2.5 to the financial
statements, the Group applied the transitional provisions
of HKFRS 3 that permitted goodwill in respect of business
combinations which occurred prior to 2001, to remain
eliminated against consolidated retained profits.

The amounts of goodwill remaining in consolidated
retained profits, arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries prior to the adoption of SSAP 30 in 2001,
were HK$162,134 as at 31 December 2007 and
2008. The amount of goodwill is stated at its cost of
HK$162,134 which arose in years prior to 1 January
2005.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of Zhejiang Sealand
Thermoelectric Share-Holding Co. (“Zhejiang Sealand”)
(formerly known as Hangzhou Sealand Electric Power
Company Limited) has been allocated to the electric
and steam power supply cash-generating unit, one of
the reporting segments of the Group, for impairment
testing.
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The recoverable amount of the electric and steam
power supply cash-generating unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
senior management covering a five-year period. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 8%
(2007: 8%) and cash flows beyond the first five-year
period are extrapolated using a zero growth rate.

Key assumptions used in its cash flow projections
to undertake impairment testing of goodwill are as
follows:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins
is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budgeted year, increased for
expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent
with external information sources.

17.

%ﬁ (/‘,g

BmEZRENR (&)
BOARFAREBZReELE LY
e HENIEEGEABETE
ZEABERREEREENESR
MeELBARRBEEEEERES
R FHMBEEMmMME ATE
A2 RR A% (ZTT L F:
8%) - MEAFHHNRERERT
R -

ETHBRENAZESRERR
FrEMz TERRWT ¢

BEEZHFE -BEEFNR2HET
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EFERFE  THEAEERREE RS
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

18.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 18. MIE A RER
Company
VNN
2008 2007
—22N\F kS
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LMD - KA 8,864 7,911
Due from subsidiaries Loy =PNCISEN 682,856,674 389,389,687
Due to subsidiaries YNGR ] (67,911,562) (11,824,138)
614,953,976 377,573,460
Impairment of amounts due from i NGRS

subsidiaries NERED (78,171,415) (78,171,415)
536,782,561 299,402,045

An impairment loss was recognised for amounts due from
subsidiaries with carrying amounts of HK$265,183,000
(before deducting the impairment loss) (2007:
HK$207,211,000) because these subsidiaries had been
loss-making for some time. There was no movement in
impairment of amounts due from subsidiaries during
the current year.

The balances with the subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and are not expected to be repaid within
one year. In the opinion of the directors, the amounts
due from the subsidiaries are considered as quasi-equity
loans to the subsidiaries.
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the balance
sheet date are as follows:

Nominal value of

TE2MBARR

31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

18. B A AR (&)

RERZFBWT :

Place of issued and fully Percentage
incorporation/ paid-up ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable to
Name and operations share capital the Company Principal activities
ERITRAR
SRR, EERK ERREERE
B Bl ES BRAZEE EREAL TEEK
Direct Indirect
EE CEES
Zhejiang Sealand** PRC/Mainland RMB70,000,000 - 56  Generation and
SR China (2007: RMB68,000,000) (2007 70) sale of electric
@ /B 70,000,000 AR 56 and steam power
(ZZ2%+F: (ZZTLF:  4ERPESHR
68,000,000TEA KR 8) 0 xs
CATIC Helicopter PRC/Mainland HK$42,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Development (Shenzhen) China 42,000,000/7C HERR
Limited ("CATIC Helicopter e[ /Bt
(Shenzhen)")**#
PR E TR
(YN FRAF
(PRBETHH ORIIN)) **+
Billirich Investment Ltd. British Virgin UsS$1,000 100 - Investment holding
("Billirich")? Islands/ 1,000% 7T by gl
Hong Kong
RBERUES/
CATIC General Aviation British Virgin Us$2 100 - Investment holding
Holdings Limited* Islands/ 2% B
Hong Kong
RERUES/
BE
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
* Zhejiang Sealand is registered as a co-operative joint

venture under the PRC law. During the year, the Group
disposed of 14% equity interest in Zhejiang Sealand
to an independent third party at a consideration
of RMB12,270,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$13,137,000) and resulted in a loss on partial disposal
of equity interest in a subsidiary of HK$7,604,122.

* CATIC Helicopter (Shenzhen) is registered as a wholly-
foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law.

W All the statutory financial statements of these subsidiaries
were not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements B 75 3R 3R Kf 5

INTEREST IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED
ENTITY

31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

19. HEEZERQFER

Group
rEH
2008
= s u%: —BBLE
HK$
BT

Share of net assets
Goodwill on acquisition

MMEBEEFE
WBMEE 2 HE

34,863,931 =
7,968,846 =

42,832,777 =

Note:

As detailed in note 20 to the financial statements,
during the year, the Group's rights derived from an
independent third party’s 40% equity interest in CATIC
Siwei Co., Ltd. (“CATIC Siwei") acquired in the prior year
were reclassified from interest in associate to interest in
jointly-controlled entity.

During the year, upon the completion of the acquisition
of 29.4% equity interest in CATIC Siwei (note 24),
the Group entered into a series of arrangement with
an independent third party to dispose of that 29.4%
equity interest in CATIC Siwei at its then carrying
amount and no gain or loss was generated from the
said disposal. Subsequent to such disposal, the Group
is no longer the shareholder of CATIC Siwei. Pursuant
to another agreement, the Group acquired from the
above party certain rights derived from the interest so

disposed of as mentioned above for a consideration of
HK$16,167,451.

IE 40 8% 7 3 K B 5E20FT R 4t - 5F
N AKREEZAFRER BB
FZEBAZOEMZERBRA
Al ([THAEERL ) 40% A& AR
TSR E A REREN DR
EHFEE AR ER °

F A FE 8K RS Y 4 E R%29.4%
B 2N B 25 (KT it24) 18 A £ E
BB IE=FETEER
B LEREREELENEERY
294%R AR - ZHEWB/EE
ERAEKEE - HER - AN&EEH
THEMEERNRKRE - RES—
iz ARERZE=EBA—
NEEESARARKEE  REAR
16,167,451/ 7T °
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19.

Notes to Financial

INTEREST IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED
ENTITY (continued)

Notes:

In the opinion of the directors, notwithstanding that
the Group’s had obtained the rights to enjoy certain
benefits from the 69.4% equity interest disposed of by
the Group, with the amendments made to the articles
and associaton of CATIC Siwei during the year, none of
the shareholders of CATIC Siwei has unilateral control
over the economic activity of CATIC Siwei. With the
Group does not have any power to control the financial
and operating activities of CATIC Siwei, the directors
consider it is appropriate to account for such rights using
the equity method of accounting and therefore included
in this account as at 31 December 2008.

The above entity was not audited by Ernst & Young
Hong Kong or other member firm of Ernst & Young
global network.
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

19. INTEREST IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED 19.
ENTITY (continued)

HEZEEQSRER (&

TRIMASEE LR ZEERRZH

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

information of the Group'’s jointly-controlled entity:

BERE

2008 2007
—EEN\E —ERF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Share of the jointly-controlled entity’s DA FE R A ]
assets and liabilities: ZEERBE:
Current assets MENEE 17,913 =
Non-current assets EMBNE E 24,311 =
Current liabilities mEaE (7,360) =
Net assets BEFE 34,864 =
Share of the jointly-controlled Dih L EEZEELE
entity's results: TEELE
Revenue Wz 1,246 =
Gross profit EF 1,259 -
Other income E g A 3,559 =
4,818 -
Total expenses EIZ (2,653) =
Profit before and after tax B AT R Bt 1% Jia A 2,165 =
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20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. B&E QRIS
Group
TEE
2008 2007
—BEN\F —EELF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Share of net assets DMEEEFEE 92,316,457 18,268,976
Goodwill on acquisition WP EE 2 PR 31,363,982 2,936,264
123,680,439 21,205,240
Market value of listed shares R 2 T E 216,882,603 N/AT 3 A

The loan to an associate included in the Group’s and the
Company’s current assets amounting to HK$9,048,000
(2007: nil) is unsecured, bears interest at 3.65% per
annum and is repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group’'s interests in
associates included certain rights derived from an
independent third party’s equity interest in CATIC Siwei.
During the year, the articles of association of CATIC Siwei
was amended pursuant that none of the shareholders
of CATIC Siwei has unilateral control over its economic
activity. As a result, the aforesaid rights were reclassified
to interest in jointly-controlled entity during the year
ended 31 December 2008 (note 19).
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M 5 & R 7 1R it 2 B 509,048,000
BT (ZZTZLF : &) BEELSE
BRANRRBEEAN - HAEE
. RERRKRI65ETERAR
FREE -

R-BELF+_HA=+—HB ' &
SERBERRZEaBE 2B
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. BERNFER (&)
(continued)
Particulars of the principal associate are as follows: FEBERAZFRAT
Percentage
of ownership
Particulars Place of interest
of issued incorporation/ attributable
Name shares held registration to the Group Principal activities
FEFEEE 8T M AEEELES
£ IR 13 1 T {1t 2 EEZEI L FEEK
Sino Gas Group Ordinary shares Hong Kong 24.59  Operation of petroleum,
Limited of HK$0.2 each &H compressed natural
("Sino Gas”)* F0.2B T2 gas and liquefied
R EE =Rl petroleum gas
BRAA refueling stations,
([FmReE]) * and trading of gas
related products
KgeERl  BRERAARK
RAC BB EAIELE LA
& B B RAEREE M
3 During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group's e RBE-_TZNE+_A=1+—
interest in Sino Gas was increased to 24.59% through HIEFE  ANEBKEEBHER
additional acquisition of ordinary shares of Sino Gas by SHARAR ([ERAT]) K4
the Group on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited K 1818,369,976/%5 7T 3 i H Ul 2
(the “Stock Exchange”) at an aggregate consideration Be 2 HimAR - AREE A HREE
of HK$18,369,976. Having considered by the directors I INE2459% c EEE
that the Group is able to exercise significant influence REIZ B B b AT AR EETT
over Sino Gas since then, the Group discontinued to FERTE  FNEEFAKIE
account for the Group’s equity interest in Sino Gas as 15 A = B OB R B 2 IR AR 2
available-for-sale investments and equity investment FTARIHHERNRE KB RIER
at fair value through profit or loss (notes 22(a) and RAFEINENRNKE (K77
29) during the year and applied the equity method to 22(a)f29) - B LKA A
account for the Group's interest in Sino Gas as interest AR ERFRREE ZIREFTA
in an associate since then. e NG ol
The above table lists the associate of the Group which, FRINHEERAEEFEARAFE
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the FEIENAEEEEFEEXES
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of MZARRIEE AT - EFRAIM
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other SEOIE B A B E R A M TUK o

associates would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.
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20.

21.

ZNFE+-RA=1+—H

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(continued)

BENTER (B)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRINHAEREE QA 2P BE
information of the Group’s associates: BHEZ :
2008 2007
—sE/NF —ETt
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Assets BE 635,909 86,249
Liabilities = (245,412) (28,598)
Revenues W25 220,627 184,950
Profit i Al 10,062 60,306
FINANCIAL ASSET UNDER PROJECT 21. EC120 BB 2 BI I EE
EC120
The balance represents the carrying value of the Group’s EREASEER_ZEZFRAEAR

interest in 80% of interest of AVIC International Holding
Corporation (“AVIC Int’l) (formerly known as China
National Aero-Technology Import & Export Corporation),
an intermediate holding company of the Company,
in the net income in relation to Project EC120 which
was acquired from AVIC Int'l in 2002. Project EC120
is a jointly-controlled operation established in October
1992 by AVIC Int'l in co-operation with Eurocopter S.A.
and Singapore Aerospace Ltd., both independent third
parties, to develop, manufacture and globally distribute
the multi-purpose EC120 helicopters.

AVIC Int’l’s net income derived from Project EC120
is limited to AVIC Int'l's share of income, net of all
expenses, to be derived from its interest in Project EC120
in relation to (i) the sale and production of parts and
spares of helicopters and profits accrued to AVIC Int'l
from the sale of helicopters globally; (ii) the recovery of
non-recurring costs accrued to AVIC Int’l; (iii) commission
income accrued to AVIC Int’l from the sale of helicopters
by AVIC Int’l; and (iv) administrative income accrued to
AVIC Int’l from the operations of Project EC120.
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ZEC120IE H %aJrZ/?HﬁU\ZSO%
Em 2 ERREEECI120E8 =&
—HER—ANZF T ABaFmEE
fi% B2 38 37 55 = FEurocopter S.A. &
Singapore Aerospace Ltd. X3z 2 3k
FIEHIIER - ZFARIFEBILIAR
BERE - BBER 2 IREIHEC1208)
S ZREEA -

EPﬁnm f% 2k BEC1203E B 2 F WK
C R i B R IR EEC 12078 B
T mATEAZEMUTEER ZKA
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EEAHE 2 EEEA ()Y E A M
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FINANCIAL ASSET UNDER PROJECT
EC120 (continued)

As the investment represents a contractual right to
receive cash in the future from another enterprise,
the investment has been classified as a non-current
available-for-sale financial asset and stated at cost less
any impairment losses. The allowance for impairment
have been estimated using discounted cash flow analysis
which requires the directors to make estimates about the
expected future cash flows, which are discounted at the
current rate of 8% (2007: 8%).

During the year, having considered the future cash flows
and profit forecasts of Project EC120, the directors
made a provision for impairment of HK$2,500,000
(2007: HK$14,000,000) which was recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the current year.

The cost less accumulated impairment losses of the
financial asset is analysed as follows:

21.

ECI20EHE 2 (I EE
(&

BRZEREREBRRS —RE%E
WEIER S 26 8QEF - Bt ZEE
BENEAERDAIHEENMKE
B N B 3% B AN R 1 R (E B 1R B
R RBERBEERATRESRE
DITEEr - WiR8% (BT ¢
8%) HIRBILL RITIR - Z AT EK
EFEHAEBRERARRREEREZ
fHET °

FER - RKEBECI208E 2 RKE
SRERMERNER  EFEEED
BB B #52,500,0008 T (ZZTZ +
 : 14,000,000/ 7T) © RREARER
G AERER o

PBEEZHRARERRESEZ
DITEAT

Group
AEE
HK$
BT
Cost: D% NE
At 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2008 RZEZNF-—HA—HK
—EENF+A=+—H 39,759,462
Accumulated impairment: ZAERE ¢
At 1 January 2008 RZEZTN\F—HF—H 27,800,000
Impairment during the year FRRIE 2,500,000
At 31 December 2008 RZZZENF+-_A=+—H 30,300,000
Carrying amount: AREE :
At 31 December 2008 R=-ZZ)/\F+=-A=+—H 9,459,462
At 31 December 2007 R-ZEZELF+_-_A=+—H 11,959,462
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22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 22, A#{HEMNKRE
Group
AEE
2008 2007
—EBEN\F —ETLF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Non-current: JERE
Listed equity investment in Hong Kong, R&EHB 2 FHRA
at fair value (note (a)) "E AT E
(Htat(a) - 45,753,750
Unlisted investments, at cost (note (b))  3E ETHI&E » LA
(K1zE (b)) 45,236,030 53,065,716
Unlisted investments, at fair value: ELETRE &
NS
Convertible bond (note (c)) AR &S
(K15t(c)) - 14,854,405
Club debentures gFES 2,162,896 2,047,109
47,398,926 115,720,980
Current: TEE) -
Unlisted investment, at fair value: JFEFEHIEE %
NEE
Convertible bond (note (c)) AR E S
(K17 () 15,364,807 _

Notes:

The fair value of the listed equity investment was based
on quoted market value. During the year, the fair value
loss of HK$10,458,000 (2007: HK$34,133,750) of such
investment was recognised directly in equity.

This investment represented an equity interest in Sino
Gas which was designated as an available-for-sale
investment as at 31 December 2007. During the year,
the Group’s aggregate equity interest in Sino Gas
was increased to 24.59% and, in the opinion of the
directors, the Group is able to exercise significant
influence over Sino Gas. Accordingly, the investment
was reclassified from available-for-sale investments to
interests in associates (note 20) during the year.
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22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

These unlisted investments consist of investments in
equity securities which were designated as available-
for-sale investments and have no fixed maturity date
or coupon rate. These investments were stated at cost
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
so significant that the directors are of the opinion that
their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

On 25 January 2007, Billirich entered into an agreement
with Sino Gas to purchase a convertible bond issued by
Sino Gas with a principal amount of HK$15,600,000.
The convertible bond bears interest at 2% per annum, is
convertible into ordinary shares of Sino Gas at HK$0.65
per share (subject to adjustment upon the change in
capital structure of Sino Gas) and will mature in two
years after the issue of the convertible bond. Sino Gas
may request Billirich to convert when the market price
of Sino Gas reaches certain predetermined prices.
Assuming a full conversion is made by Billirich, the
convertible bond can be converted into 24,000,000
ordinary shares of Sino Gas. On 25 May 2007, the
conversion price of HK$0.65 per share was adjusted to
HK$0.633 per share as a result of the issuance of the
share capital of Sino Gas pursuant to a share placement
during that year.

The convertible bond is a hybrid instrument that
includes a non-derivative host contract and an
embedded derivative. The non-derivative host contract,
representing the bond component (the “Sino Gas
Bond”), has been designated as an available-for-sale
investment. The embedded derivative, being a derivative
financial instrument, represents the conversion option
(the “Embedded Derivative Asset”), which allows
Billirich to convert the convertible bond into ordinary
shares of Sino Gas at an established conversion rate
(i.e., HK$0.633 per share) before the maturity date of
the convertible bond.

31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HF=+—H

22. AHHENKRE (&)

Hiat - (&)

(b)

IEFIF EMREBREEE /A H
HEMKENEBRTEEHALE
RZBRAFBSERE - ILFREN
RAZNE  RESAERFERS
FFZBEAKN  EFRREER
FEABRTE -

R=ZTET+LF—ARA=_+HH"
Billirich£#2 /R i /R BE 5T 3 1k + BA
BABRPRRERTZIASER
15,600,000/ 7T 2 A] % & 5 o
AR B IR F A F2%EF 8
A LA 5 f%0.65% 7T (#% & FE
BEE 2 IRALEE S M T A
) B RESFER AR HZR

LR - ERBITIRRE
FEMERE - RmReE K E
SKBillirich7E AR 2 88 2 T B IE B
= THEEERER - BEBIlirich
ETEEER - R ESFATT
i 524,000,0000% 7 HZEE 2
L@ R LFRA=T
AHE - ARFHZERIBRAR
EBITRA - BitER0.65%8 7T
ZEHBEHAEEFR0.633E
=

AMRESABRIEFITETAE
BHRBMARTETAZEAT
B FTAETATANRRES
o ([FHREES]) EWiE
EAAHEENRE - RANIT
ATHEfTAESmMIA) X
AR ([RARSTEBE])
E #t #FBillirichi? 7] #2 i% & % &
BE MR IR T E (A e
0.633%7T) KA MRESFEBIRR
FURRRE 2 EIEAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 =ZZN\FFH

147



Notes to Financial

Statements B &R KR M =E

31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HF=+—H

22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

(continued)

22. AHHENKRE (&)

Notes: (continued)

As at 19 March 2007 (the issue date of the convertible
bond), the fair values of the Sino Gas Bond and
the Embedded Derivative Asset were stated at
HK$14,286,395 and HK$1,313,605, respectively, based
on valuation performed by independent professionally
qualified valuers.

As at 31 December 2008, the fair value of the Sino
Gas Bond was stated at HK$15,364,807 (2007:
HK$14,854,405) based on valuation performed by
independent professionally qualified valuers. During
the year, a fair value gain of HK$510,402 (2007:
HK$568,010) related to the Sino Gas Bond was
recognised directly in equity.

The Sino Gas Bond was classified as a current asset
in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2008 as the convertible bond will mature on 18 March
2009.

During the year, the gross loss of the Group’s available-
for-sale investments recognised directly in equity
amounted to HK$9,947,598 (2007: HK$32,480,741).
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23. DEFERRED TAX 23. EERIE
The movements in the Group’s deferred tax assets and AEBREFHEEELEGERFAN
liabilities during the year are as follows: ZEHMT

Deferred tax assets

BEREEE
Group
KEE
Losses available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profit
A K 8 R R
ERBRR 2 B8
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2007 RZZZTtLF—H—H 3,700,000
Deferred tax credited to the income statement FRIEMBEREFT A ZIELER B>
during the year* 2,462,000
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HERBAR (K:£39) (6,162,000)

Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December R=-ZZ2+tH&+=HA=+—8
2007, 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2008 —ZZEN\E—HF—HK
—EENF+ZA=+—H
ZELEBIREELTHE =
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23. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities
EEHIEEE
Group

23, EERE (&

Revaluation of
property, plant
and equipment

BEHYE -
= R
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2007 RZZEE+F—H—H 4,511,909
Deferred tax credited to the income statement FREMBERT A ZIELEFIE*
during the year* (790,791)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2007 A-_ZZ+F+_-_A=+—HK
and 1 January 2008 —EENF—-H—H
ZIRER BB EAAEE 3,721,118
Deferred tax charged to the income statement F RN BRI 2 EET IR
during the year (note 10) (Hiat10) 3,076,938
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December R=—TFEENE+=-HB=+—8
2008 ZIELER I E EHAE 6,798,056
ki Total deferred tax credited to the income statement * BE-_EZLF+-_A=+—H

during the year ended 31 December 2007 was
HK$3,252,791 (note 10).

At 31 December 2008, the Group had aggregate tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$15,456,000
(2007: HK$15,456,000) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.
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DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the Mainland China. The requirement has
become effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in the Mainland China in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2008, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is
not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such
earnings in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its

shareholders.

31 December 2008 —EZEN\E+=-A=+—H

23, EERE (&

EERERE (B)

REFECEMERE  EPEX
42%£¢%ﬁ%l&§%5&2

R BABUI0%IEN o AR ER
:ggﬂﬁ—ﬂ—ﬁiﬂ’@ﬁ%
—ERLF+ A=t —HEZK
@ P B EIINEIREE 2 FARE
BAIAREIHE  HARBREZ
BHRE HAKEMS - EAKR
E/10% > AEBRAMBRES H
RIZzHBRARRE —TENF—
A—BREELZWSEMDIR BB
APETEINR -

R-FENF+=-_RA=+—H8B %
BRAKEEFEKLZHERA
ZARME WS A 2 BB RER
BIEBIR - EEZRA 2EHEBL
AR RAS KD IR%E Wk o

XA A 1A % BRI B AR B 4 B A AT
AIFEHER -
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24.

25.

DEPOSIT FOR ACQUISITION OF AN 24.

INVESTMENT

Group and Company

During the year, the Group entered into an agreement
with a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sino Gas and an
independent third party to set up a company in the PRC
and a deposit had been paid as at 31 December 2008.
As at 31 December 2008, the directors were still in the
process of obtaining relevant approvals from the relevant
authorities which, in the opinion of the directors, will be
obtained in due course. In the opinion of the directors,
the investment is intended to be held for a long term
purpose. Accordingly, the said deposit was classified
as a non-current asset in the balance sheets as at 31
December 2008.

In the prior year, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with AVIC Int'l, to acquire 29.4% equity
interest in CATIC Siwei and a deposit had been paid as
at 31 December 2007. As at 31 December 2007, the
directors were still in the process of obtaining relevant
approvals from the relevant authorities. During the
year, the aforesaid transaction was completed. Further
details of the transaction were set out in note 19 to the
financial statements.

WiERENEE

AEERAAT

Ty AEE RS IR 2
AMBARR—£BIE=ETY
B WERERT AT - R
—FEN\E+-A=t+—-REXN
THEe RZBEAETZA=T
—B - EFDHERBBBIHESSE
WX (EERAKREEBRE
) - EERA  BREREREN
Fh - Bl RZBENAFTA
=t-B BEGBRSEAAER
ERZ —ERDEAE -

RZEFE  AEEESFRIER
FINM B in B R M a8 - AME A&
RZ2294% B A tEm - R_FTF L
FT+_A=t—HREXNTRE -
RZZEZ+tF+_A=+—8 &
SNERAABIESHEBRLULX
FR LARFEEK - R P2
—FRHRER M B HRRME19 -

DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. RERHMEWERR
RECEIVABLES
Group Company
rEE AAH
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZBENE C—TTAF ZBENF C"TTALF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Deposits and other e RAEMEKERR
receivables 20,466,063 92,536 16,281,979 -

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there is no recent history
of default.
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31 December 2008 —EZENF+-HA=+—H

26. INVENTORIES 26. &
Group
rEE
2008 2007
—EENF —ETELF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Raw materials Ex 31,359,134 17,399,830

27.

At 31 December 2008, no inventories were pledged as
security for the Group’s bank borrowings (2007: nil).

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

RZZEZENF+ZA=+—H &
BEIMFEAAKEERITERER
(T LFE)-

BWE ZRAREE

Group
TEE
2008 2007
—EENE —ZTTLF
HKS$ HK$
E T BT
Trade and bills receivables EWE SESR R ERE 47,742,317 22,857,957
Impairment JRE (970,303) (20,377)
46,772,014 22,837,580

The Group’s trade receivables mainly represent the
receivable from the sale of electric and steam power.
The Group’'s trading terms with these customers are
mainly on credit, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required. The credit
period is generally 60 days, extending up to 90 days
for major customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. The
carrying amounts of the trade receivables approximate
to their fair values.

AEEZRBEZERETBEEHE
BN MEAZ WA - NEEHE
RUEBEPZEERREIZRHEEK -
M EPERIN GhEP —RFBELREA
50 - FEH—RAB60K - HRE
EXFPRZILEHIOR - BUEFH
REBZKREERE - AEBBKKRY
RBEZ BB ERFEBEE - I
BRE-—FEEEHNM EEEAR
FERE - ERSECHRIAH
REER - BN LT R ANEE 2 '
WESERTIREAESHZEP
MEE AR TEEREEETE
e BUESERRLEFENE -
EWEZERZEEELZE QA FE
HE e
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Notes to Financial Statements Bf ¥R R MisE

27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 27. ERESRARARRKEE

(continued)

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the balance sheet date, based on the invoice date and

net of provisions, is as follows:

(&)

REER BURBEZRRILERA
HIR R Bt 2 AR D ATIA T

Group

rEE
2008 2007
—EBEN\F —TETLF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current RIER 38,742,906 20,085,923
31-60 days 31-60H 4,786,512 2,259,450
61-90 days 61-90H 2,388,590 464,476
Over 90 days 90H A E 854,006 27,731
46,772,014 22,837,580

The movements in provision for impairment of the trade

P Lk B2 55 B 2K R U A O

and bills receivables are as follows: AT
Group
REE
2008 2007
—EENF —EETLF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 January n—A—H 20,377 16,945,111
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) JR{EETIETER /(#E)

(note 6) (Kizte6) 922,680 (426,965)
Amount written off as uncollectible L] U B3 3E 2 78 - (5,830,620)
Disposal of subsidiaries & B A A - (10,669,016)
Exchange realignment ME 5, e B 27,246 1,867
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—H 970,303 20,377
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27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 27. ERESRARARRKEE

(continued)

Included in the above provision for impairment of
trade and bills receivables is a provision for individually
impaired trade and bills receivables of HK$970,303 (2007:
HK$20,377) with a carrying amount of HK$970,303
(2007: HK$20,377). The individually impaired trade
and bills receivables relate to customers that were in
financial difficulties and only a portion of the receivables
is expected to be recovered. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that
are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

(&)

SATALMEWE ZERREERZR
BERE 2 BERRE 2 ERE S K
KB 2 B #970,3038 L (=ZF
T H4:203778FL) FAEMEA
970,303/t (ZZEZT 4 : 20,377
BIT) o [ERIEE 2 EKRE SRR K
ERERRVBRECELPEBER
E—o EUKRERTBEEHA] T U E o
REBEWRRZEESR 2 EREE
AERSEMEERA

RKEEARECEKEIEREE
BZBRERDHTIT ¢

Group

rEH
2008 2007
—EENE —ZETLF
HK$ HK$
E T BT
Neither past due nor impaired RiBHE N AR E 43,529,418 22,345,373
Less than 1 month past due BEIOR—1E A 2,388,590 464,476
1 to 3 months past due BE—=={E A 854,006 27,731
46,772,014 22,837,580

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate
to a large number of diversified customers for which
there is no recent history of default.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired relate to
a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances.

R 38 B TR AR (B 2 B W B 5k B AR
ETLEFPER ZBEFPER
ERESE -

%
iT

B 38 HA M 1 RO 2 B MR BR SR B R
ZHEAEERBRFBERRE
VEFER REBEER AR
RAESRR MEAZLEERIE
HEMBRERE REELEEWE
EREHREHRBADERAT 2
Ym e REBI RRZLLEHRZ E
REEAERREMERRTT
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28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 28. AR HERHME
OTHER RECEIVABLES W AR X
Group Company
iy P NG|
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF ZZTTtF ZEBENF CZETtH
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Prepayments N FIE 4,216,707 20,884,378 692,478 695,346
Deposits and other Be R E A REKER
receivables 34,770,208 41,577,069 1,718,287 640,579
38,986,915 62,461,447 2,410,765 1,335,925

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there is no recent history
of default.
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EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HF=+—H

29. ERB/HRB I FEIEN

BRAKRE

Group

rEE
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$ HK$
B BT

Listed equity investment in Hong Kong, MR&B <z FHARAR

at fair value ®E  BATE - 54,189,450

As at 31 December 2007, this investment represented
an equity interest in Sino Gas. Upon initial recognition,
the investment had been designated as a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss as it was managed
and its performance was evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with a documented investment strategy
of the Group. Such designation was in line with the
Group's strategy and increased its flexibility on resources
allocation. Any fair value gains or losses on these
investments were recognised in the income statement.

During the year, the Group’s interest in Sino Gas was
increased to 24.59% and, in the opinion of the directors,
the Group is able to exercise significant influence over
Sino Gas. Accordingly, the investment was reclassified
from equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss to interests in associates (note 20) during the year.

N-ZEZT+FE+-_A=+—80 itk
BERPRREZRAEZ - RIE
REERERE 2 EXNER X -
ZRENATFENERETERMN
B ARG EREEEEE
ERBBRBEZRAFENENT B
BE WoBEAEE K —
B WEREEMERSEMNER
Mo FRFRENQFEFBR
BEEIRFERER

FR- AEERPHREE 2 L
£2459% F EERE - AEEEH
FORRREITFEERTZE N - Bt
FRZKEEHBBIEZKRAFET
BENRAKRESHOBEEH A QA
s (K220) °
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30. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL TTEE€m I A
INSTRUMENTS
Group
rEH
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLEF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Asset: BE
Embedded Derivative Asset RARPTEBE - 638,365
Liability: afE:
Derivative liability THEBRRE - 2,209,425

The Group’s derivative financial instruments were
managed and their performance were evaluated on a fair
value basis. Any fair value gains or losses are recognised
in the income statement.

The Embedded Derivative Asset represents the derivative
embedded in the convertible bond acquired by the
Group on 19 March 2007 as detailed in note 22(c) to the
financial statements. As at 31 December 2008, the fair
value of the Embedded Derivative Asset was valued at nil
(2007: HK$638,365) based on the valuation performed
by independent professionally qualified valuers. During
the year, a fair value loss of HK$638,365 (2007:
HK$675,240) related to the Embedded Derivative Asset
was recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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HEEENE - TR FENE
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+tF=A+NABEEABRRESZ
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The derivative liability as at 31 December 2007, being a
financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, was
measured at fair value with gain or loss being recognised
through the income statement. It represented a call
option issued to a company beneficially owned by a
director of Sino Gas for the acquisition of 45,000,000
ordinary shares of Sino Gas from the Group at an
exercise price of HK$0.5 per share on or before 14 March
2009. As at 31 December 2007, the fair value of the
derivative liability was valued at HK$2,209,425 based on
the valuation performed by independent professionally
qualified valuers. On 20 March 2008, the call option
was cancelled pursuant to an agreement entered into
between the Group and the aforesaid company. During
the year, a fair value gain of HK$2,209,425 (2007:
HK$3,143,449) was credited to the consolidated income
statement.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments have
been estimated using valuation techniques based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The valuation requires the directors to
make estimates, including expected cash flows and
volatility of the underlying securities. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from
the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated balance sheet, and the related changes
in fair values, which are recorded in the consolidated
income statement, are reasonable, and that they are the
most appropriate values at the balance sheet date.

30.

fTESRMTIA (&)
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31. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 31 HERBEEEHEEEHR
AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS T
Group Company
rEH RAF
2008 2007 2008 2007
“EENE —TTLF CZEENFE —TTLF
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT

Time deposits EHFR 360,183,792 492,283,203 147,366,917 443,107,614

Less: Pledged short W BEREBTEEER

term time deposits (BtzE34(a) i)
(note 34(a)(iii)) (53,671,663) (36,327,623) - -
306,512,129 455,955,580 147,366,917 443,107,614
Cash and bank balances He NRITEF 44,222,389 52,119,022 10,282,035 12,799,844

Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEE 350,734,518 508,074,602 157,648,952 455,907,458

At the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances REER AEEBUARKEE

and the time deposits of the Group denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB") amounted to HK$86,982,675 (2007:
HK$88,045,113). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.
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33.
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TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 32. ENEZRIRKRREE
An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at REER  BERNESERRRERR
the balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as BEABZERRSTAOT :
follows:
Group
AEE
2008 2007
—2BNE S
HK$ HK$
B T
Current BN EA 112,427,624 78,753,628
31-60 days 31-60H 3,099,989 608,672
61-90 days 61-90H 332,709 -
Over 90 days 90H M 1,764,537 1,395,895
117,624,859 80,758,195
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are ZEERNBSER DT ER—R
normally settled on 90-day terms. %90 A BRI & ©
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 33. HtERRIEREFTEH

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an

average term of three months.

Hib B FKET At B R FEHR
R=EA -
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34. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 34. GTEHRITEXR
BORROWINGS
2008 2007
—EEN\E —TTLF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$ rate (%) Maturity HK$
BERE(%) F8A B BEFE%) L= BT
Group
£E
Bank loans - secured 8.22 2009 29,411,765 HIBOR + 1.75 2008 96,017,131
RITEH - FER “EThE 10673 “EEN\F
BBHRITEE
FE+1.75%2
6.73
Company
NS
Bank loans - secured N/A N/A - HIBOR + 1.75 2008 20,000,000
BITER - HHEA TEH TEA BBERTAE ZTENE
B +1.75
Notes: Hiat -
(a) As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s banking (a) RZZBEZENF+_A=+—H"
facilities were secured by: REE 2 BITEENUTIISIEE
RER
(i) pledges of certain of the Group’s land and (i) IR & B AR FE LT

buildings with an aggregate net book value
of approximately HK$27,446,295 (2007:
HK$30,817,213) (note 15);

(i) pledges of certain of the Group’s leasehold
land with an aggregate net book value
of approximately HK$29,091,928 (2007:
HK$4,852,118) (note 16);
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK

BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(iii) pledges of certain of the Group’s short term
time deposits amounting to HK$53,671,663
(2007: HK$36,327,623) (note 31); and

As at 31 December 2008, the Group's short term bank
loans of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,312,217) (2007: RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$53,533,191)) were guaranteed by
independent third parties.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s banking facilities
had also been secured by a pledge of the Group’s and
the Company’s investment property with carrying value
of HK$24,200,000 (note 14).

All bank borrowings are denominated in RMB as at 31
December 2008. As at 31 December 2007, except for
secured bank loans of RMB71,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$76,017,131) which were denominated in RMB, all
other bank borrowings were in Hong Kong dollars.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s

34. FFRBITER (&

Hiat - (&)

(a)

(iii) ' HAXEERRB H
53,671,663 (ZZTZ
+ 4 : 36,327,623/ JT)
& TR EE BRER (A
#31) Rk

5

RZZBEENF+=ZA=+—

RSB CZEBRTE
710,000,000 A B # (#0485
R11,3122178 ) (Z T T £
£ : 50,000,000 A R ¥ (#4940
£ 5053,533,191/8 L)) B E
= EREER -

R_ZEE+F+-_A=+—8"
AEBEZRITEBETASNEERR
N R R) B8R H {8 424,200,000 7T
ZIREMEERER (HF14) °

R-_ZEENF+-_A=+—8"
FTARTEEHUARBLEZ -
RZZEZLF+-_A=+—8H"
BT HEKIFER{TE 71,000,000
T AR (HE1K76,017,1317%
TL) AARBEEIN - EBRER
HABTEE -

REBRARRNBEEZREE
current borrowings approximate to their fair values. BEENTEEE -
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35. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 35.

In prior year, the Group leased one of its motor vehicles
under a hire purchase arrangement which was repayable
by instalments of over 60 months and was classified as
a finance lease.

At 31 December 2007, the total future minimum lease
payments under the finance lease and their present
values were as follows:

BMEHERMNE

RZEFE  ARERBEAEALD
ZEHMEEHEP —#)7E - AR60(E
AR EDHMEE - YIIERERE -

R-ZEE+E+-_A=+—8H "
BERMEMEZ R RRERERLETE
RHEBEHMAT :

Group
55
Present value of
Minimum minimum lease
lease payments payments
HEMAEK
=EBEERK ZRE
2007 2007
—TTLF —ETLF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Amounts payable within one year —FRERFRIA 58,452 57,841
Future finance charges RIREF 5 =2 611)
Total net finance lease payables JEN AR ST 57,841
Portion classified as current liabilities FIERBIAEZ 381D (57,841)
Non-current portion IEMENEB (D =

At 31 December 2007, the Group’s hire purchase
arrangement bore interest at a fixed rate and its carrying
amount approximated to its fair value.
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36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. IRA&
Company
KATE
2008 2007
—EBEN\F —ETTLF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Authorised: JETE
10,000,000,000 (2007: 6,000,000,000) 10,000,000,0000%
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each —ETF
6,000,000,0008% )
BREEC.108 T
Z BB 1,000,000,000 600,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAE :
4,754,397,000 (2007: 4,785,303,000) 4,754,397,000/%
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each —EEF
4,785,303,000%)
BREEC.108TT
Z BB 475,439,700 478,530,300
During the year, the movements in share capital were FA - BRAZZEHOT
as follows
(@)  Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 22 (@ BERZZZENFRA=T
May 2008, the authorised share capital of the “HBEBZERAZE K
Company was increased from HK$600,000,000 A A A 3 5%4,000,000,000
to HK$1,000,000,000 by the creation of fx & ik B E0.10%8 T 2
4,000,000,000 additional shares of HK$0.10 BN B EE RAK
each, ranking pari passu in all respects with the 600,000,000/ T #E =
existing share capital of the Company. 1,000,000,0007% 7t * 58 JM A%

MRETEHEARFRE
BARZERFHAL -
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36. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

During the year, the Company repurchased a total
of 30,906,000 shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange at prices ranged from HK$0.101
to HK$0.120 per share for an aggregate
consideration of HK$3,564,913. All the relevant
share certificates in respect of the repurchased
shares have been duly cancelled. Accordingly,
the issued share capital of the Company was
reduced by the nominal value of these shares
of HK$3,090,600 and the preminum paid of
HK$474,313 on the repurchase was charged
against the share premium account.

A summary of the transactions during the year with

36. R (&2

(b)  FA- ARAAERK0.101E8
TLZE0.1208 It 2 (B A& 4E B 22
Fir 88 [ #£30,906,000/% & A
AR 421K(E /&R3,564,913
BT o BT A B E KRG 8 G
FEBWTHE Ak AR
RAZBEBITRAEZERD
2 T 1{&3,090,6005% 7T Bl & -
BB X 2 5 B474,3137%8
TC AR AR s B BRI o

ER - ERAARBBEIRAZ S

reference to the above movements in the Company’s B XSHMBMT
issued share capital is as follows:
Share Share
Number of Issued premium option
shares in issue capital account reserve Total
BE G BRfTRE R EER BRERRE Ghl
HKS HKS HKS HKS
A AT AT A
At 1 January 2007 H=3T+5-A-R 3985,303,000 398,530,300 4,916,879 - 403,447,179
Issue of shares and share options &4 kf RERE 720,000,000 72,000,000 155,060,084 17,739,916 244,800,000
Share issue expenses BB - - (2,472,400) - (2,472,400)
Issue of shares upon exercise BT ERER R
of share options 80,000,000 8,000,000 19,200,000 - 27,200,000
Transfer of reserve upon EORERESERE
exercise of share options - - 17,739,916 (17,739,916) -
At 31 December 2007 RZELE+-A=1-H
and 1 January 2008 k=2%)\$-A-A 4,785,303,000 478,530,300 194,444,479 - 672,974,779
Repurchase of shares (b) BEIRA(0) (30,906,000) (3,090,600) (474313) - (3,564,913)
At 31 December 2008 R-ZENE+=B=1-A 4,754,397,000 475,439,700 193,970,166 - 669,409,866
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

At the annual general meeting held on 14 May 2001,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2001
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations.

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2001 Scheme on 14
May 2001, the Stock Exchange introduced a number
of changes to Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) on share option schemes. These new rules came
into effect on 1 September 2001. In compliance with the
amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, a new share
option scheme (the “Existing Scheme”) was adopted by
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 13
May 2003 and at the same time the 2001 Scheme was
terminated. Since the adoption of the Existing Scheme,
no options have been granted thereunder.

Major terms of the Existing Scheme include:

1. The purpose of the Existing Scheme is to provide
incentives to the participants.

2. The participants
are individuals

of the Existing Scheme
being employees, officers
or consultants of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries including any executive or non-

executive directors thereof.

37.
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(continued)

3.

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Existing Scheme and the 2001 Scheme
(collectively the “Schemes”) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company
in issue as at the date of approval of the Existing
Scheme. The Company may refresh this 10%
limit at any time subject to prior approval by its
shareholders in a general meeting. The overall
limit on the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
and yet to be exercised under the Schemes must
not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company at any time. No options may be granted
if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options (whether exercised,
cancelled or outstanding) granted under the
Schemes in any 12-month period immediately
preceding any proposed date of grant of option
to each participant must not exceed 1% of the
share capital of the Company in issue as at the
proposed grant date.

Options may be exercised at any time during
a period of 10 years commencing on the date
falling three to six months after the date of
grant.

A grant of an option must be accepted within
28 days from the date of grant together with a
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00.
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. lBRREE (2)

(continued)

7. The exercise price of an option to subscribe for 7. BIER B S TR A RER
shares granted pursuant to the Existing Scheme DeEREZITEEART
shall be the highest of: lld-3=
(@)  the closing price of the shares as stated (a) B ERLBEH (EA

in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation EHER) B ARERAT
sheet on the date of grant, which must be BRKRERZHHE :

a business day;

(b)  the average of the closing prices of the by BOHEERLABER
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s EEXBRBRME
daily quotation sheets for the five business HiREXR 2 FH KT
days immediately proceeding the date of B R
grant; and

(©  the nominal value of the shares of the (0 ARERGEAE -
Company.

8. The Existing Scheme shall be valid and effective 8. REFEB_ZEZE=FA A
for a period of 10 years commencing on 13 T=HRBFTFABR M
May 2003 and thereafter for as long as there REd+FHRAIERER
are outstanding options granted and accepted Bz ARITEERED
pursuant thereto prior to the expiration of the 138 -

said 10-year period and in order to give effect to
the exercise of any such options.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BRETERTRHEAZERESK
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. RIREARE LIRE 2 HEF -
Notwithstanding the termination of the 2001 Scheme, BEN20015TEI B WAR L BERE#A
the relevant provisions thereof remain in full force =T 21 & AT B 5% T R AT 2 B
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to R B BRI BT &8l < R E1T
the exercise of any outstanding share options granted i -

thereunder prior to its respective expiry.
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the

ERETE (F)

FR20015H &1 1 R1TE 2 fE B

2001 Scheme during the year: LU
2008 2007
—EENE —TELF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price  of options price of options
hn#E Jiit3
FHTEE BREHE FHOEE  EREHE
HK$ HK$
per share per share
ZRET BB T
At 1 January n—A—H 0.13 42,000,000 0.13 42,000,000
Expired during the year FAREE - (42,000,000) - -
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H - - 0.13 42,000,000
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share R—_EEZE+F+-_HF=+—8"

options outstanding under the 2001 Scheme as at 31
December 2007 are as follows:

Number of options Exercise price (i)

20015t 81 1R 75 (2 BB AR HE 2 17
BEBATEEMT

Exercise period (ii)

RN SR FTEME (i) FTEER (i)
HKS$
per share
&/E T

25/8/2003 to 24/8/2008

—FEE=FNA-_+HHAE

42,000,000 0.13 —EEN\FNAZ+HEAE

(i) The exercise price of the share options is subject (i) AR 2 T EE AR AR sk
to adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, K 25 AL AR 3 AR R B AR AR 25 A
or other similar changes in the Company’s share H ARV B (L S EE o
capital.

(i) Share options must be held for a minimum of (iy HERFEELANEAFZAMT
six months before exercise. Exercise period shall 15 B i i o 1T {50 HA | s AR
not exceed a period of five years commencing on BN E B w7 @ AR
the expiry of a period of not less than six months BB RLE
after the date the option is accepted.

At the balance sheet date and the date of approval of REEBRRAYM B @K ESEE

these financial statements, there were no outstanding H - WERARITEZEARRE

share options.
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38. RESERVES
(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior
years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 44 to 47 of this
annual report.

Pursuant to the articles of association of a
subsidiary operating as a co-operative joint
venture in Mainland China and the relevant
PRC Company Law, the subsidiary shall make an
allocation from its profit after tax at the rate of
10% to the statutory surplus reserve fund, until
such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital
of the subsidiary. Part of the statutory surplus
reserve may be capitalised as the subsidiary’s
registered capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than
25% of the registered capital of the subsidiary.
The statutory reserve is non-distributable other
than in the event of liquidation.

Certain amounts of goodwill arising on the
acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years remain
against
profits, as explained in note 17 to the financial

eliminated consolidated retained

statements.

38. f#fE

(a)

M

AEEBAFERUNEFEZ
EHEERBEEEDIENAF
WPAMBATBE IR E
BERNA o

BREBE-FKRPBEKRENSE
EEAAEEZHMBRARZ
RAIERRARET B QRN
RGN Y Sy
BEMZI0%EEETENIE
T BEERBREGBEEZM
JB B EME AR Z50% ° &
MAEAERBEEAIRTERS
MBABIRAN  HEREER
L& 2 R T EESR D DR &M
BRREMEARNLZ25% ° K
BRI EERTEETED
I °

o0 4R B s R AR P RE 1 7R
EBREFEWBHEQRM
EEMNETERZABRDA
KA B RN A -
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38. RESERVES (continued) 38. f#fE (&
(b) Company (b) ZE&AF
Retained
Share Share profits/
premium option  Contributed  (accumulated
account reserve surplus losses) Total
BaER/
hiaBEk - EBRERE aABE  (RHFB) aif
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT AT AT AT AT
At 1 January 2007 R=2Z+5-A-R 4,916,879 - 5,243,300 (1,745,140) 8,415,039
Issue of shares and share options #7757 k& kg 155,060,084 17,739,916 - - 172,800,000
Share issue expenses BRER (2,472,400) - - - (2,472,400)
Issue of shares upon exercise ROEERE
of share options IR 19,200,000 - - - 19,200,000
Transfer of reserve upon exercise  &{7(EEERE
of share options EREE 17,739,916 (17,739,916) - - -
Profit for the year RESF = - - 92,771,529 92,771,529
At 31 December 2007 and RIFELETA=T-R
1 January 2008 RZZE\5-A-H 194,444,479 - 5,243,300 91,026,389 290,714,168
Repurchase of shares (note 36(b) BRI (#:236(b) (474,313) - - - (474,313)
Loss for the year TEBR - - - (15243.420) (15,243,420)
At 31 December 2008 R=ZBENE+=B=t-0 193,970,166 - 5,243,300 75,782,969 274,996,435
The contributed surplus of the Company RRAZHABRERBARR AR
represents the difference between the BEBEHAZHER —LL—
consolidated net asset value of Far East F+— A=+ HEE AFar East
Aluminium (B.V.I.) Limited on 20 November Aluminium (B.V.l.) Limited
1991 when its entire issued share capital 2 E B2 BITIRAR - Far East
was acquired by the Company pursuant to Aluminium (B.V.1.) LimitedZ
a group reorganisation, and the nominal HREEEFEAARFERK
amount of the Company's shares issued BREMBEITZRMEERZE
in consideration for such acquisition, net ZERB WEHRRBEFE
of accumulated losses of the Company set HIH 2 N R F RETEE - BB
off in the prior years. Under the Companies BRE-NAN—FRFE B
Act of 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), AIARN) KRB ZBABBRES
the contributed surplus of the Company is TERTFAIHS IR TR

distributable to shareholders under certain
circumstances.

172 CATIC International Holdings Limited FEIfZEMERRIZERGRA R



38.

39.

RESERVES (continued)
(b) Company (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements B 75 3R 3R Kf 5

31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

38. f#tl (&

(b)

The Company’s share premium account of
HK$193,970,166 (2007: HK$194,444,479) as
at 31 December 2008 may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

AKAT (&)
ARAR-BBENEFEF =
A=+—BzZBRHEEE
193,970,166 L (Z 2 T +
1 194,444,479 JT) ] LA
BRABRFTADIK

39. HEMHBLQE

2008 2007
—EENE —EE+F
Notes HK$ HK$
Kz BT BT

Net assets disposed of: BHECEEFE
Property, plant and equipment YE - WE RRE 15 - 54,515,949
Prepaid land lease payments B A E R 16 - 2,656,691
Available-for-sale investments AEHENIRE - 11,526,000
Deferred tax assets ERERIBEE 23 - 6,162,000
Rental and utility deposits AR AREERS - 2,213,183
Pledged time deposits BEMTEHTR - 48,329,400
Cash and bank balances We MRITER - 90,138,232
Inventories 7E - 502,471
Trade and retention receivables EWEZERRRES - 227,688,107
Prepayments, deposits and HBNFE - e RHEM - 14,148,878

other receivables JE AR 3R
Amounts due to contract RENBEFEFIBFEE - (64,283,360)
customers, net
Trade and bills payables ERESERRER - (81,764,746)
Tax payable ARE ! - (1,167,477)
Warranty provision IREBEBHE - (11,473,330)
Other payables and accruals H S R K ERT B A - (58,757,852)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SPRIRTER - (43,089,601)
- 197,344,545
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENMBARZAIE 12 - 5,579,462
- 202,924,007
Satisfied by: SRR

Cash BHe - 205,000,000
Less: Transaction expenses W XHEH - (2,075,993)
- 202,924,007

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 =ZZN\FFH 173



Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& ;& Mf 5+
31 December 2008 —ZENE+=A=+—H

39.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEMBLAR (&)
(continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

HEMBRARZRERREEFER

in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: NFEDTAOT :
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ZETLF
HK$ HK$
ET =
Cash consideration RENRE - 202,924,007
Cash and bank balances disposed of B HE RS RIRITLET - (90,138,232)
Net inflow of cash and cash HERBARZ
equivalents in respect of the ReRREFERANFE
disposal of subsidiaries - 112,785,775
40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED . REBREREXRWE
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(a) Major non-cash transactions BEAKBEERE

(i) During the year, the Group’s available-for-
sale investments of HK$35,295,750 and
equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$57,785,400 were
reclassified to interests in associates.
Further details are set out in notes 22(a)
and 29 to the financial statements,
respectively.

(ii) During the year, the Group's deposit
for acquisition of an investment of
HK$20,029,325 and interests in associates
with carrying amount of HK$19,501,317
were reclassified to interest in jointly-
controlled entity, respectively. Further
details are set out in notes 24 and 20 to
the financial statements, respectively.
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

During the year, the Group’s other
receivable from a company beneficially
owned by a director of Sino Gas amounted
to HK$5,673,000 was reclassified to equity
investment at fair value through profit or
loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2007,
the Group capitalised depreciation charges
amounting to HK$3,714,342 (note 6) and
interest expense of HK$1,663,970 (note 7)
in long term construction contracts.

During the year ended 31 December
2007, the Group’s interests in associates
with carrying amount of HK$67,454,590
were reclassified to available-for-sale
investments.

Restricted cash and cash equivalent
balances

Certain of the Group’s time deposits are pledged

to banks to secure banking facilities granted to

the Group, as further explained in note 34(a)

(iii).

Certain of the Group’s cash and cash equivalent
balances are not freely convertible into Hong

Kong dollars (note 31).

31 December 2008 —EZENF+_-HA=+—H

0. FERETRERHE

(#&)

(a)

(b)

EXFRERS (#)

iy FRAEEEK—
HHRRREEEE &
R AN e~
I B 3k5,673,0007 7T
WEFOEEEBIE
@R N TFEIEHR
IRE o

(ivy REE=_ZZtF+
—A=+—HIt#&E
B AEEEITE
B 3,714,342 Tt
(K7 at6) K F B X%
1,663,970 7t (47 i+
7) BARHBEESL
PR o

67,454,590/ JT
SEZEE R A s
WEHOEEHH
EMRE -

BERFRERBAEEEEER

AEBEZETEHERDE
BYRIT NERAKEE
BReRTEE E—FTHBRE
R EE34(a) (i) ©

AEEZETREREAEF

BEBKTABALBKET
(BfaE31) -
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41. OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS

(a) As lessor

The Group and the Company leases their
investment property (note 14) under an operating
lease arrangement with a lease negotiated for
terms ranging from one to two years.

At 31 December 2008, the Group and the
Company had total future minimum lease
receivables under a non-cancellable operating
lease with its tenant falling due as follows:

4

=

X

(a)

EHNORH

EREAA

AEBRARBREHEEZ
ER—EMEZIREROR
PR MREME (Hit14) -

R-BBENET_A=1T—
B AKERARBRESR
BRI F AT F B S| H
ZAAIHEEEEOEAHA
BREOSKERKES AEE
FIaa

Group and Company

AEERARDT
2008 2007
—BEN\F ZTTLF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within one year — &R 133,780 802,680
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41. OPERATING LEASE 41. REHORH (&)

ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

(b)  As lessee (b) fEREBAA
The Group and the Company leases its office AEBEAQBEEFITY
premises under non-cancellable operating lease AR EEMOTH - H
arrangements with terms ranging from one to BT —EmFEsM -
two years.
At 31 December 2008, the Group and the RZZBENFE+_A=+—
Company had total future minimum lease B RENFUATEEHREH
payments under non-cancellable operating leases LA EHRLY  AE
falling due as follows: BERARRREBEBEOR

EEMHESEBEHIINAT

Group and Company

AEERADF
2008 2007
—EENE —ZTTLF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within one year —F R 564,000 768,000
In the second to fifth years, F_FEEFRAFA -
inclusive BIEERME 12,000 208,000
576,000 976,000
42. COMMITMENTS 42, EIE
In addition to the operating lease commitments in note B £ SCHT 5E41(b) 2 48 & T8 4 &
41(b) above, the Group had the following commitments N REBREE BB TRIE :
at the balance sheet date:
Group
KEH
2008 2007
—BEN\F ZETLF
HK$ HK$
ET BT
Contracted, but not provided for: EHENEIGE ST
Acquisition of plant and machinery Ui B o 2 M i 23 4,676,600 2,063,176
Establishment of a joint venture (note) R &% R A (H1:E) 45,248,869 42,826,552
49,925,469 44,889,728
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42.

43.

COMMITMENTS (continued)

Note:

On 4 January 2006, Sino-Aviation Investments Limited (”Sino-
Aviation Investments”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a joint venture agreement (the “JV
Agreement”) with AVIC Int’l, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and Chengdu Aircraft Industry (Group) Corporation
Ltd. (“Chengdu Aircraft”), for the establishment of a joint
venture to engage in the research and development, design
and manufacture of parts and components for commercial
aircrafts, and provision of related technical services. According
to the JV Agreement, the total registered capital of the joint
venture will be RMB100 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$113 million), of which 40%, 15% and 45% respectively,
will be contributed by Sino-Aviation Investments, AVIC Int'l
and Chengdu Aircraft. The JV Agreement is conditional upon
(i) the internal approval obtained by each of the three parties;
and (ii) the approvals from the relevant PRC authorities. As at
31 December 2008, the JV Agreement has not become effective
as the conditions stated above have not been fulfilled.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had contingent
liabilities in respect of guarantees given to banks by the
Group for banking facilities granted to major supplies of
HK$39,592,760 (2007: HK$169,164,882) which were
utilised to the extent of approximately HK$31,364,819
(2007: HK$140,499,465) as at that date.
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Hat

RZZEEAF—ANA: AREIZE
& [ff B 2 \]Sino-Aviation Investments
Limited ([Sino-Aviation Investments])
LR R A 2 3 B AR R A B AR K K B
RETE (5E) ARETAF ([KEBAR
) FIuaEmE (Ta&mE]) - AKX
V—REEQT  EEEARBEEM
LR BRET R B A RIBEAEREK
MRS - MBS SR 62 A2
& A 45 £100,000,0007C A R (48
% 7 #9113,000,0007% 7T) © H FSino-
Aviation Investments + A 4% B & K
AR AE D BIFE E40% ~ 15% &k45% °
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BREETREKE 2 HE - BEZZTT
NETZRA=+—8 ' R EagHEm
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)
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44, BBEALTRS

BRUMBRESAERALZRS
S AEBERFERBETN

In addition to the transactions described elsewhere (a)
in the financial statements, the Group had the

following material transactions with related TEARBAEALRS
parties during the year:
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
Notes HKS$ HK$
Kt BT BT
Rental income received WERAR R &
from a shareholder PN 0] 802,680 587,760
Net income from Project EC120 ZREEC12018H 2
PN (i) 4,221,752 2,424,484
Interest income from REBERRZ
an associate 24 A (ifi) 156,000 —
Notes: Hiat -

The Company entered into a tenancy agreement
with CATIC (H.K.) Limited (“CATIC (H.K.)"),
a deemed shareholder of the Company, on
31 December 2007, to lease the Company's
investment property to CATIC (H.K.) at a
monthly rental of HK$66,890 (exclusive of
rates, management fees and air-conditioning
charges) for a term of one year commencing
on 1 January 2008. The rental was determined
with reference to open market rentals.

A supplemental agreement was entered into
between the Company and CATIC (H.K.) on 10
December 2008 to extend the above tenancy
agreement to 28 February 2009.

(0) R=FTLF+=H=+
—B - ARARERRFR
1 B 3R 2 AR B i 22 e Al
EHA(FE) AR A A
(T (FB) D /I
HEWH  EARBZE
EMEHATHME (B
) HEm-ZEZNF
—A— R RE—
F - 5 H M % %6689
AL (TREEZMm 1
BERERE) kES
2EARTEESE
= o

R-FEN\F+=A+
B AARERM (B
) SIS HE GBS - L
NAEGEERE-FF
AEZA=TNR -
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a)

Notes: (continued)

(ii) Balance represented net cash proceeds received
or receivable from AVIC Int’l generated from
Project EC120. Further details are set out in
note 21 to the financial statements.

(iii) The interest income from an associate
represented interest income on a convertible
bond issued by Sino Gas. Further details of the
convertible bond are set out in note 22(c) to the
financial statements.

Other transactions with related parties:

On 19 June 2008, Helicopter Shenzhen,
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement with Jiangxi
Hongdu Aviation Industry Co., Ltd. (“Hongdu”),
an indirectly-owned subsidiary of Aviation
Industry Corporation of China, the ultimate
holding company of the Company, and AVIC
Int’l, an intermediate holding company of the
Company, to purchase from Hongdu 40% equity
interest of Eaglet Aero-Technology Inc. (“Eaglet”),
a company registered in the PRC with registered
share capital of RMB10,000,000 and principally
engaged in the trading of aviation products,
for a cash consideration of RMB3,056,600
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,457,692) (the
“Acquisition”). Prior to the Acquisition, Eaglet
was owned as to 40% by Hongdu and 60% by
AVIC Int’l. Upon completion of the Acquisition on
11 September 2008, Eaglet was accounted for as
an associate of the Group.
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THHR R AL 31T 2 AT R
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B2 BHR B RE
fEE22(c) °
HEEALTZHEMR S
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RABZEE2ENBE QR
FINE AR R T 2 H AL
TRARIFEMETESEE
ARElzEENBARIA
HEMETEROBRA
Al ([HE]) RARQA ZH
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 44, BBEALTXR S (&)
(continued)
(0 Outstanding balances with related parties: () HpEm A T 7 REBES
(i) Details of the Group’s loans to an associate (i) REFBREE B M
as at the balance sheet date are disclosed BANFIBENEZZ
in note 20 to the financial statements. IS B IS R E M
20 FE -
(ii) Details of the terms of convertible bond (ii) RN S A
issued by an associate are disclosed in IR 1E 2 EHREFEBER
note 22(c) to the financial statements. B %5 R 3% MT 5E22(0) 1%
EE o
(i) Asat 31 December 2007, the amount due iy MZZEZ=LF+=A
to a minority shareholder was unsecured, =+—H8 ERNI#H
interest-free and had no fixed terms of % R BR R A A
repayment. % B R EEE B FKE
MR o
(d)  Compensation of key management personnel of (d) AEBEBEREEAS ZHRH
the Group:
2008 2007
—EENF —EETLF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Short term employee benefits EHIES = 6,553,382 11,831,204
Post-employment benefits BIE1E BT 334,827 512,643
Total compensation paid to SRR EEAR
key management personnel -l Fek 6,888,209 12,343,847
Further details of directors’ emoluments are EHREEMe 2 E&E— T
included in note 8 to the financial statements. BB TS TR T EES o
The related party transactions in respect of items (a)(i) and 18 B (a)(i) R (a) (i) 2 B A TR 5 Th
(a)(ii) also constitute continuing connected transactions BRHERER S (ERR LKA
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. F14AE) o
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45. TRITEDHE
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of NEEH SR ITAEERED
financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are T
as follows:
2008
—EENE
Financial assets
BMEEE Group
rEE
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables assets Total
704 A HER
i€ BREE &&t
HK$ HK$ HK$
Financial asset under EC120BE 2
Project EC120 MBEE - 9,459,462 9,459,462
Available-for-sale investments A HERRE - 62,763,733 62,763,733
Deposit for acquisition of W ENZE
an investment 61,165,927 - 61,165,927
Financial assets included in FTARS READ
deposits and other receivables JFE U5 BR R A B 7
BE 20,466,063 - 20,466,063
Trade and bills receivables WS FERA R Z & 46,772,014 - 46,772,014
Loan to an associate B A RIHR A
g% 9,048,000 - 9,048,000
Financial assets included in STAEMFIE - Re
prepayments, deposits and T At s BR FR Y
other receivables MBEE 34,770,208 - 34,770,208
Pledged time deposits BT HEN 53,671,663 - 53,671,663
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBELEE 350,734,518 - 350,734,518
576,628,393 72,223,195 648,851,588
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45. ERITEHYHE (&)
CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of REFER SHEeRmITAEEREEN
financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are T (&)
as follows: (continued)
Financial liabilities
Bk aE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R SR A BIE
WA E
HKS$
E
Trade and bills payables ERESERRER 117,624,859
Financial liabilities included in other payables STAHMEMZEREAER
and accruals ME B ERE 4,841,979
Interest-bearing bank borrowings S ERITER 29,411,765
151,878,603
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45,

CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are
as follows: (continued)

—

ERMIADE (&

p=|

2007
i 3
Financial assets
NBEE
Group
AEE
Financial assets
at fair value
through Available-
profit or for-sale
loss - held Loans and financial
for trading receivables assets Total
BBERIE
ATETIER
NBEE - Exk A &)
FEEE FEYHIE NBEE ch
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$
BT BT BT BT
Financial asset under EC120%EE 2
Project EC120 NBEE - - 11,959,462 11,959,462
Deposit for acquisition WERENES
of an investment - 20,029,325 - 20,029,325
Available-for-sale investments EEENRE - - 115,720,980 115,720,980
Trade and bills receivables TEWE SR - 22,837,580 - 22,837,580
Financial assets included in FTATEAFR -
prepayments, deposits and "e REMEK
other receivables RRMBBEE - 41,577,069 - 41,577,069
Equity investment at fair value BREREATE
through profit or loss FIERRATA 54,189,450 = - 54,189,450
Derivative financial instrument PTESRTA 638,365 - - 638,365
Pledged time deposits EEATE RS - 36,327,623 - 36,327,623
Cash and cash equivalents RBeLBEE2ZE - 508,074,602 - 508,074,602
54,827,815 628,846,199 127,680,442 811,354,456
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are

as follows: (continued)

Financial liabilities

HHEaR

Financial
liabilities at
fair value
through profit

ﬁﬂlz\ﬁﬁ (/"/é.%s_)
REEH SHEERTAKREELD
ERG -2

Financial
liabilities

or loss — held at amortised
for trading cost Total
RNEEFIER TRE A
BBas— 5I1E
HIEER HFBEE &5t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Due to a minority shareholder FEfT D ER R K IB - 5,740,106 5,740,106
Trade and bills payables BB SRR R
=5 - 80,758,195 80,758,195
Financial liabilities included STAEMER A
in other payables and RIEFTERD
accruals MBaRE - 11,213,551 11,213,551
Derivative financial instrument {744 BT E 2,209,425 - 2,209,425
Interest-bearing bank borrowings #HE3ETER - 96,017,131 96,017,131
Finance lease payables BMEMRSEMNFIE - 57,841 57,841
2,209,425 193,786,824 195,996,249
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Notes to Financial Statements 81 7% R & it 5%

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45. ST ESE (&)

CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are

as follows: (continued)

Financial assets

B EE
Company
VNN
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
BRE BER Rk
P 1R FE W IR
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Deposit for acquisition of an investment IR &KL E 16,281,979 -
Loan to an associate MBS D RRENER 9,048,000 =
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AFEZIE - 24
deposits and other receivables I A e L BR SR A
MBEE 1,718,287 640,579
Cash and cash equivalents BHERESEE 157,648,952 455,907,458
184,697,218 456,548,037
Financial liabilities
=R
2008 2007
—EENF —ZETLF
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
RHE SR bivg: £i=]D9N
SIER HIEHY
BKaE MBEERE
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Due to subsidiaries FETH B A RIRRIE 67,911,562 11,824,138
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERITER - 20,000,000
67,911,562 31,824,138
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise bank loans and cash and short term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group

46.

BHEREEBREREE

AEENEZSRTA (MIETE)
BERTEXRB REHFR -
t%@ﬂlﬁﬁ’qiiﬁﬁz‘f%%$%
Be2ERHIIR  AKETER

has various other financial assets and liabilities, such as BNEMMEEERAE  HluifE
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly WESERNMENESER  HE

from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board
of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings
from banks with a floating interest rate. As at 31
December 2008, all the Group's borrowings from banks
were with fixed interest rate.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all

ey B -

REBNCRIAMELANTER
2N R R - ﬁl\ﬁzﬂﬁ’* =&
b mEBMRRERERR £%5
SEER ]Utt/ﬁaﬁlttvﬂmﬁ’ﬂﬂl
R B o

FREER

AEEEETSNEEDEAREE
g R [ LUT B R R A 2 RTE
BEEM- R-TEAF+-A=+
— B AEEFERGTERAER
Rl .

TREFEEMAERZTENIT
SN - AR B R AR A A M (B

other variables held constant, of the Group’s and the BEEFEBENTEIRAEERA
Company’s profit before tax (through the impact on NS LA RS IR F E ) BURIE -
floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s and the
Company’s equity.
Group and Company
AEERANF
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in basis points before tax in equity*
B, 5t B4 A Ea*igm,/
ORA) g, CRid) OB )
% HK$ HK$
BIT BT
2007 —ETLF
Hong Kong dollar BIT 1 (200,004) =
Hong Kong dollar BT (1) 200,004 =
* Excluding retained earnings & TEEB TR
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46.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s foreign currency exposures primarily arise
from certain sales or purchases by operating units in
currencies other than the unit’s functional currency. In
view of the fact that the Group tries to match its assets
and liabilities with the same currency, the Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, pledged
time deposits, equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets, deposits
and other receivables, a derivative financial instrument,
and loans to related parties arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments. The Group is also
exposed to credit risk through the granting of financial
guarantees, further details of which are disclosed in note
43 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk within the Group as the customer bases
of the Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in
different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’'s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills
receivables are disclosed in note 27 to the financial
statements.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial

assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank loans and finance leases. The Group's policy is to
minimise borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the balance sheet date, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

46.

P EEEEBRERBE
(&)

TE R

AEENBEREERDRE TAS
2ETRREAR R TEAGESH
TARUBEE (WERKE S EN)
MEMERRREEEELENRS
e
AEENBREDEEBMNARTE
AEBMEEEUARTBRENTE ML
MERMENFE - AEBHNERRE
EEERERE -

REER AEEEREATHNER
BRI M BEEZBBERAT ¢

Group
rEE
2008
“EENE
Less than 3 to less than
On demand 3 months 12 months Total
ZEANLER
RERE PYR=@EA PRT=MEA &t
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
B BT BT B
Trade and bills payables BB SEARER - 115,860,322 1,764,537 117,624,859
Other payables Hit AR - 4,841,979 - 4,841,979
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ~ FERITEE - 11,312,217 18,099,548 29,411,765
- 132,014,518 19,864,085 151,878,603
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. HEEKREEBERBUER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#&)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REMRRE (&)
Group
rEHE
2007
e 3
Less than 3 to less than
On demand 3 months 12 months Total
ZEANER
REKE PR=EA  PRT=EA )
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Due to a minority shareholder A CEL N 5,740,106 - - 5,740,106
Trade and bills payables ERESERRER = 79,362,300 1,395,895 80,758,195
Other payables HiERRIE - 11,213,551 - 11,213,551
Derivative financial instruments fTESRTA 2,209,425 - - 2,209,425
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ~ zt BRITEE = 20,000,000 76,017,131 96,017,131
Finance lease payables BMAREEMNTE = 57,841 = 57,841
7,949,531 110,633,692 77,413,026 195,996,249
Company
PN
2008
“EENE
Less than 3 to less than
On demand 3 months 12 months Total
ZEANER
RERE SYR=@EA PRT=MA &t
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
B BT BT B
Due to subsidiaries ERMBAR 67,911,562 - - 67,911,562
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

46.

P EEEEBRERBE
(&)

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REMRRE (&)
Company
NG
2007
“TTLF
Less than 3 to less than
On demand 3 months 12 months Total
ZEARER
REKE PR=@EA IR+=ER CH)
HKS HKS HKS HK$
BT BT BT BT
Due to subsidiaries KA 11,824,138 - - 11,824,138
Interest-bearing bank borrowings st BRITEE = 20,000,000 = 20,000,000
11,824,138 20,000,000 - 31,824,138
Equity price risk B 1 R B

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of financial
instruments decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities.
The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising from
individual financial instruments included in available-for-
sale investments (note 22), equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss (note 29), and derivative
financial instruments (note 30) as at 31 December 2007.
As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s listed investments
were listed on the Stock Exchange and were valued at
quoted market prices. With the Group was only exposed
to equity price risk arising from Embedded Derivative
Asset (note 30) as at 31 December 2008 and the fair
value of the Embedded Derivative Asset is stated at nil,
in the opinion of the directors, the Group’s exposure
to equity price risk arising from its derivative financial
instrument is minimal as at 31 December 2008.

B 12 2\ B B R B% 32 #5 SUK T K (@ Bl
BHEEEEHMFESHIAATE
BREMER - R-_ZET+LE+ -4
=+—8 AEEAZRERAH
HENREZSRMT A (Hi7F22) -
BRBHERAFENEZBRAEE
(K71a£29) RETHESMI A (K:£30)
FTEAZRERR R-_ZZTTLF
+ZA=+—R8 A&EELEWEE
BB YRR L™ - WikATHR™
BHRE RZZEZENF+A=1+
—B AEEEAZIBRARNTLEER
E (M1:£30) FTEAZRERR -
BRARTEBEEZATFEINARET -
WMEBERR AEER-_TTNF
+-A=+—BRHEfTESMITA
FTEAZBRERBMTRE -
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

The market equity indices for the Stock Exchange, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year

B mEkEE B RERBE
(&)

MRERE (F)

FAREKAOIEERZR S A BME
BRAmERERBAIERFARAZ

to the balance sheet date, and their respective highest Bm REEEEAT
and lowest points during the year were as follows:
31 December High/low 31 December High/low
2008 &/ 2007 &/
s 2 2082 2008 —TTLHF 2007
+=A=t+-H Z2BN\F t-A=t-H “ETHEF
Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index &8 — B415E 14,387 27,616/11,016 27,812 31,638/18,664

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
1% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at 31
December 2007. For the purpose of this analysis, for
the available-for-sale equity investments the impact
is deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors
such as impairment which might impact on the income
statement.
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46. BIEREMEEEEREE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#)
(continued)
Equity price risk (continued) RERR (&)
Carrying Increase/
amount decrease Increase/
of equity in profit decrease
investments before tax in equity*
BRARE 75 A 4 A o
REE #m,/ md #m,/ md
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
2007 —TTLF
Investments listed in: ®E TR
Hong Kong — Available-for sale B —AftHE 45,753,750 - 457,538
— Equity investment —EREa
at fair value b N
through profit B5(E
or loss HI R
®E 54,189,450 541,895 =
* Excluding retained earnings * TEERERT
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. BB EBREEBZERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#2)
(continued)
Equity price risk (continued) RER (&)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every TREINR_ZEZLF+_A=1T
1% change in the fair values of the underlying equity —B EFEHMUEZERZERFT
investments for the derivative financial instruments, BEHNHMBEENGRET  ER
with all other variables held constant and before any eI AZEREE  EAYE
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at 31 HEE1 %HPKE °
December 2007.
Increase/
(decrease)
in percentage Carrying
of fair value amount Increase/
of underlying of derivative (decrease)
equity financial in profit
investment instruments before tax
HERARE
REBEEDLE TESMTA 754 Al Al
#m,/ ORd) REE =,/ Ofd)
% HK$ HK$
% BT BT
2007 —EELE
Unlisted investments at fair value: IELEMIEEHR
NI
— Derivative financial asset —TEUBEE 1 638,365 16,896
(1) (41,788)
— Derivative financial liability — LA 1 2,209,425 (40,625)
(M 40,556
Capital management EAEE

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2008 and
31 December 2007.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is bank borrowings divided by the equity attributable
to equity holders of the parent. Management considers
a gearing ratio of not more than 40% as reasonable.
The gearing ratios as at the balance sheet dates were

46.

Bris b E I B R R BUR
(&)

BEAXEE (F)

AEERBEEBRANES B2
HERAGBYELRE - RETH
HAEERGRE  AKETEEAK
RRE RS BRI D& AL %
TR » NEE A& X B R E A 5
MEMZERT R - BE_FZEN
FR_BTELF+T_A=+—HL
FEAN - BXRERBZER  BEH
TP B o

AEBUAERBEL X (RITEE
BRARRIERIT A ARGER) - %
HEEEANBR - EEERST
HBBA0RLLPIMEARBLETES
B #FERERBFELEEMT

as follows:
Group
rEE
2008 2007
—EENE ZETLF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRIBTEER 29,411,765 96,017,131
Equity attributable to equity holders NAE=FEEA
of the parent FE(L = 919,058,277 922,917,597
Gearing ratio BEARBELX 3% 10%
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48.

Notes to Financial

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on 3 March 2009,
Billirich, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an agreement with Sino Gas, pursuant to
which convertible bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$27,500,000 were issued by Sino Gas to
Billirich. The convertible bonds bear interest at 2% per
annum and will mature in two years after the issue of
the convertible bonds. Billirich has the right to convert
the convertible bonds into ordinary shares of Sino Gas
at HK$0.2 per share (subject to adjustment upon the
change in the capital structure of Sino Gas). Assuming a
full conversion is made by Billirich, the convertible bonds
can be converted into 137,500,000 ordinary shares of
Sino Gas.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 23 April 2009.
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47.

48.

HEBH®BREE
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Five Year Financial Summary A B EH#E

The table set out below summarises the results and the assets,
liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the Group’s published
consolidated financial statements of the respective years and
restated/reclassified as appropriate. This summary is not part of
the audited financial statements.

TREIIAEENEERAMRFE XS
REE AERVBBRRESME - TR
BAKEABEE 2B AMERAMB®RE
WEES,EFfHE (MER) - AEEL
FEERM MK LB

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1+—-HLEE

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
—BEN\E —TELEFE —TTRFE —TTHE —ZTINF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
RESULTS ES
CONTINUING BEREER
OPERATIONS
Revenue Uz 260,292 195,088 172,045 157,714 121,560
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRIATSF 18,673 57,754 35,176 19,645 5,193
Tax BiE (8,415) (4,594) (2,452) (3,680) (430)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FIBC RIS 7 NE i 7
FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS 10,258 53,160 32,724 15,965 4,763
DISCONTINUED ERIEREEE
OPERATION
Profit for the year froma B FEE %K
discontinued operation N S F) - 30,342 18,379 14,023 13,141
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR INEHF 10,258 83,502 51,103 29,988 17,904
Attributable to: FE(R = A :
Equity holders of NAEEEA A
the parent 1,852 77,996 47,950 26,054 13,564
Minority interests DB R 8,406 5,506 3,153 3,934 4,340
10,258 83,502 51,103 29,988 17,904
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND ¥E » 8ERVH
MINORITY INTERESTS RERER
Total assets BEMME 1,152,306 1,164,204 1,108,772 948,227 831,458
Total liabilities aERE (164,243)  (208,241)  (483,975)  (442,305)  (358,658)
Minority interests DERREER (69,005) (33,046) (33,073) (34,071) (30,465)
919,058 922,917 591,724 471,851 442,335
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Particulars of an Investment Property &Y% ¥ 15

Lot number/

Percentage of
interest directly

registration attributable to Existing
Address number the Company Tenure use
HEREH RAREMESE
31k BiC iR ERBE DL HARR RERAR
Office B2 on the 15th Floor, 8469 100 Medium Office
United Centre, term lease WA
95 Queensway, PEEE

Hong Kong
B

S EEEIS
F—H D
151882 =
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DIRECTORS
Fu Shula (Chairman)

Ji Guirong (Deputy Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer)

Ma Zhiping

Pan Linwu

Liu Rongchun

Zhang Chuanjun

Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond*
Chu Yu Lin, David**

Li Ka Fai, David**

Li Zhaoxi**
* Non-executive Director
> Independent Non-executive Directors

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chu Yu Lin, David
Li Ka Fai, David
Li Zhaoxi

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Fu Shula
Chu Yu Lin, David
Li Ka Fai, David

COMPANY SECRETARY

Leung Yuen Chee, Sara

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited

Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young

SOLICITORS
Baker & McKenzie
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Corporate Information 2 7 & #!

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton, HM12, Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS

Unit B, 15th Floor,
United Centre,

95 Queensway,
Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRARS

Principal registrars

Butterfield Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

Hong Kong registrars

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,

Hong Kong
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Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton, HM12, Bermuda
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